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indie, one of the fastest-growing technology innovators, is dedicated to developing 
advanced silicon, photonics, and sensor system solutions demanded by the 
automotive, industrial mobility and adjacent applications. We take immense pride 
in engineering solutions that are not only high-performance but also address the 
power, area, and total cost-of-ownership challenges our customers face.

We offer solutions that support distributed sensor processing for the visible spectrum and infrared vision 
systems, short-range and long-range radar, light detection and ranging (LiDAR) and ultrasonic sensors.

Complete Sensor Modality Portfolio

Automotive Megatrends

Driver Safety and Automation In-cabin User Experience Electrification

The adoption of advanced driver 
assistance system (“ADAS”) and driving 

automation functionality to improve 
road safety and strive towards higher 

levels of vehicle automation.

Consumer demands for engaging, 
connected and convenient in-cabin 

user experience (UX). 

The increasing electrification 
of vehicle drivetrains to the 

rapid proliferation of electric 
vehicles (EVs).

www.indie.inc

LiDAR
•  Traffic jam pilot
•  Highway pilot
•  Automated driving
•  Emergency brake system
•  Adaptive cruise control

Ultrasonic Sensors
•  Parking assist
•  Parking systems

Front/Rear Cameras
•  Adaptive cruise control
•  Lane keeping assist
•  Urban pilot
•  Automated

Radar
•  Automatic Parking
•  Blind spot management
•  Cross traffic alert
•  Reverse info
•  Driver and occupant 

monitoring systems

Long Range Radar
•  Obstacle detection
•  Adaptive cruise control

Side/Interior Cameras
•  Blind spot/rear view 

assist
•  Lane change assist
•  Driver monitoring
•  Occupant monitoring
•  Rear camera



April 21, 2025

Dear Stockholders,

2024 was a year of strong design-win momentum, innovative new product introductions and resilient business performance 
for indie in the face of a challenging global macroeconomic environment and automotive industry headwinds. 

With an automotive semiconductor portfolio that targets the most compelling and challenging applications, indie’s unique 
combination of mixed-signal system-on-chip (SoC) design, image and signal processing, system-centric design philosophy 
and turnkey photonics integration capability uniquely position us as a compelling supplier to the leading global Tier 1 system 
integrators and OEMs. Our ability to consistently meet the demanding supplier requirements of our automotive customers 
was evidenced by the cumulative shipment by the end of 2024 of over 400 million units since our inception - a strong 
testament to the robust supply chain partnership that we have established, and our incredible in-house operational and 
technical capabilities. 

Our product portfolio was significantly enhanced during 2024 with the introduction of multiple new products, including indie’s 
latest generation and award-winning vision processor (iND880), a highly integrated wireless charging solution (iND87204), 
and our new range of high-speed data and video transport solutions. We also achieved the significant milestones of customer 
functional verification of our flagship 77 GHz radar solution, automotive functional safety certification to the highest level 
(ASIL-D) of our powertrain solution, and the commencement of a turnkey optical component integration capability for mobility 
applications. 

Despite the automotive industry weakness and global macroeconomic challenges, we achieved near flat year-on-year 
revenues of over $216 million in 2024, reiterating the resilience of our business model and the depth of our strong customer 
partnerships. Crucially, during the year, we maintained strong commercial momentum securing multiple major design-wins 
and product ramps with leading customers across ADAS, in-cabin UX, and vehicle electrification applications. Notable design-
win successes in 2024 included Tier 1 and OEM customers across APAC, China, Europe and North America for our solutions 
spanning vision sensing (including driver and occupant monitoring (DMS, OMS)), advanced lighting, wireless and wired 
charging, and high-performance networking. 

The long-term outlook for automotive semiconductors remains extremely positive: vehicle semiconductor content growth 
will continue to outpace vehicle production, accelerated by demanding new car acceptance programs, global road safety and 
emissions regulation, and unabated Consumer demand for engaging in-cabin experiences. In this context, indie is incredibly 
well positioned to leverage our class-leading, innovative and evolving product portfolio, the depth and breadth of our top-tier 
customer, supplier and ecosystem partnerships, and the incredible creativity and dedication of our global workforce. As the 
global macroeconomic and industry fundamentals normalize, we are strongly positioned to return to outsized growth, gross 
margin expansion, and the path to sustained profitability.

The opportunity for indie remains incredible and exciting. By maintaining a relentless focus on delivering technical and 
commercial innovation for our customers, and ensuring indie continues to be rewarding workplace for our employees, we are 
confident in our ability to drive long term value for our shareholders.

Donald McClymont

Co-founder and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains “forward-looking statements” (within the meaning of Section 21E of the United States Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended). Such statements include, but are not 
limited to, statements regarding the Company’s future business and financial performance and prospects, and other statements 
identified by words such as “will likely result,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” 
“outlook,” “should,” “could,” “may” or words of similar meaning. Such forward-looking statements are based upon the 
current beliefs and expectations of the Company’s management and are inherently subject to significant business, economic 
and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are difficult to predict and generally beyond our control. 
Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in or 
implied by such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including among others, the following: 
macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, rising interest rates and volatility in the credit and financial markets; the 
Company’s reliance on contract manufacturing and outsourced supply chain and the availability of semiconductors and 
manufacturing capacity; competitive products and pricing pressures; the Company’s ability to win competitive bid selection 
processes and achieve additional design wins; the impact of any acquisitions the Company has made or may make, including its 
ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses and risks that the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions may not be fully 
realized or take longer to realize than expected; management’s ability to develop, market and gain acceptance for new and 
enhanced products and expand into new technologies and markets; current and potential trade restrictions and trade tensions; 
including the recent trade and tariff actions taken or proposed by the U.S. government affecting the countries where we 
operate; armed conflict and political or economic instability in the Company’s target markets and additional factors disclosed 
under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A herein, as such risk factors may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to 
time in the Company’s other public reports filed with the SEC. indie cautions that the foregoing list of factors is not exclusive.

All information set forth herein speaks only as of the date hereof, and the Company disclaims any intention or obligation to 
update any forward-looking statements made in this report or in its other public filings, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “indie,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to indie 
Semiconductor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, or (in the case of references prior to the 
consummation of the business combination (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd. (“TB2”) in June 
2021) to our predecessor Ay Dee Kay, LLC, a California limited liability company (“ADK LLC”). All references to U.S. dollar 
amounts are in thousands, other than share amounts, per share amount or the context otherwise requires.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

indie offers highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems 
(“ADAS”), driver automation, in-cabin, user experience and electrification applications. The Company focuses on edge sensors 
across multiple modalities spanning light detection and ranging (“LiDAR”), radar, ultrasound and computer vision. These 
functions represent the core underpinnings of both electric and automated vehicles, while the advanced user interfaces are 
transforming the in-cabin experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile platforms people rely on every day. indie 
is an approved vendor to Tier 1 automotive suppliers and its platforms can be found in marquee automotive manufacturers 
around the world.

Through innovative analog, digital and mixed-signal integrated circuits (“ICs”) with software running on the embedded 
processors, we are developing a differentiated, market-leading portfolio of automotive products. Our technological expertise, 
including cutting-edge design capabilities and packaging skillsets, together with our deep applications knowledge and strong 
customer relationships, have enabled us to cumulatively ship over 400 million semiconductor devices since our inception.

Our go-to-market strategy focuses on collaborating with key customers and partnering with Tier 1s via aligned product 
development, in pursuit of solutions addressing the automotive industry’s highest growth applications. We leverage our core 
capabilities in system-level hardware and software integration to develop highly integrated, ultra-compact and power efficient 
solutions. Further, our products meet or exceed the quality standards set by the multitude of global automotive manufacturers 
who utilize our devices today. 

With a global footprint, we support leading customers from our design and application centers located in North and South 
America, Middle East, Asia and Europe, where our local teams work closely on their unique design requirements.

Recent Acquisitions and Transactions

Kinetic Technologies

On January 25, 2024 (the “Deal Closing Date”), indie and ADK LLC completed its acquisition of Kinetic Technologies, LLC 
(“Kinetic”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) to acquire certain 
research and development personnel, intellectual property and business properties from Kinetic, in support of a custom product 
development for a North American electric vehicle original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”). The closing consideration 
consisted of (i) $3.2 million in cash as the initial cash consideration, net of an adjustment holdback amount of $0.5 million and 
an indemnity holdback amount of $0.8 million, payable after the 18-month anniversary of the Deal Closing Date in shares of 
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 (the “Class A common stock”), (ii) $2.3 million of contingent consideration, payable 
in cash or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of certain production based milestones 24 months after the Deal 
Closing Date, and (iii) $2.3 million of contingent consideration, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to 
achievement of a revenue based milestone 12 months after the Deal Closing Date. The purchase price is subject to working 
capital and other adjustments as provided in the APA.

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, we entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to shares of our 
Class A common stock. In accordance with the terms of the ATM Agreement, we may offer and sell shares of our Class A 
common stock and having an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 million from time to time through the Sales Agents, 
acting as our agent or principal. We implemented this program for the flexible access it provides to the capital markets. As of 
December 31, 2024, and since the inception of the program, indie raised gross proceeds of $90.2 million and issued 11,138,984 
shares of Class A common stock at an average per-share sales price of $8.10, incurred issuance costs of $1.9 million, and had 
approximately $59.8 million available for future issuances under the ATM Agreement. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, indie raised gross proceeds of $53.1 million and issued 5,219,500 shares of Class A 
common stock at an average per-share sales price of $10.18. For the year ended December 31, 2024, indie incurred total 
issuance costs of $1.1 million. 
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Reverse Recapitalization with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II

On June 10, 2021, we completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd (“TB2”) 
pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement dated December 14, 2020, as amended on May 3, 2021 (the “MTA”). In 
connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware corporation (“Surviving Pubco”), was 
formed to be the successor public company to TB2, TB2 was domesticated into a Delaware corporation and merged with and 
into a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco. Additionally, we consummated a Private Investment in Public Equity (“PIPE”) 
financing, pursuant to which Surviving Pubco issued 15 million Class A common shares, generating net proceeds of $150 
million as a result of the Transaction. Also, on June 10, 2021, Surviving Pubco changed its name to indie Semiconductor, Inc., 
and listed our shares of Class A common stock on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “INDI.”

Industry Overview

At the highest level, semiconductors can be classified either as discrete devices, such as individual transistors, or integrated 
circuits (“ICs”), where a number of transistors and other components are combined to form a more complicated electronic 
subsystem. ICs can be divided into three primary categories: digital, analog, and mixed-signal. Digital ICs, such as memory 
devices and microprocessors, can store or perform arithmetic functions with data. Analog ICs, by contrast, handle real-world 
signals such as temperature, pressure, light, sound or speed, and also perform power management functions such as regulating 
or converting voltages for electronic devices. Mixed-signal ICs combine digital and analog functions onto a single chip and 
play an important role in bridging real-world inputs into the digital domain.

Historically, growth in the semiconductor industry has been driven by content expansion in computing, mobile and consumer 
electronics. However, research analysts anticipate that as each of these markets approaches saturation, the automotive sector 
will become one of the fastest growing opportunities. Specifically, according to S&P Global Mobility, the global automotive 
semiconductor market, which was valued at $80 billion in 2023, is projected to reach $149 billion by 2030.

indie’s Market Opportunity

In today’s automobiles, semiconductors perform a variety of functions across multiple electronic components and systems, 
including sensing, processing data, storing information and converting or controlling signals. Semiconductor architectures vary 
significantly depending upon the specific function or application of the end product. They also differ based on a number of 
technical characteristics, including the degree of integration, level of customization, programmability and the underlying 
process technology utilized in manufacturing and assembly.

While semiconductors have always comprised the core building blocks of automotive electronic systems and equipment, recent 
technological advances have substantially increased their features, functionality and performance. Today, they support 
enhanced user interfaces and in-cabin experiences, enable driver and road safety sensing, and support powertrain electrification 
— all with reduced footprints, lower cost, and cognizant of power consumption. These innovations have resulted in significant 
growth opportunities spanning diverse end markets and applications.

The three megatrends driving the automotive semiconductor market are catalyzed by: (i) the increasing electrification of vehicle 
drivetrains leading to the rapid proliferation of electric vehicles (“EVs”); (ii) the adoption of advanced driver assistance systems 
(“ADAS”) and driving automation functionality to improve road safety and strive towards higher levels of vehicle automation; 
and (iii) consumer demands for engaging, connected and convenient in-cabin user experience (UX).

Regarding electrification, S&P Global Mobility forecasts a 20% EV compounded annual growth rate (“CAGR”), with total 
annual EV production growing from 12 million in 2023, to 41 million in 2030, representing greater than 40% of all new light 
vehicle production. These forecast volumes are driven in part by increasing global governmental mandates to decarbonize road 
transportation which contributes over 15% of total greenhouse gases (“GHG”) according to the International Energy Agency, 
but also by improved consumer awareness and preference for low carbon vehicle options. While the state of California has been 
a global leader in this through its Low-Emission Vehicle (“LEV”), GHG and Zero-Emission Vehicle (“ZEV”) regulations and 
criteria, there is accelerating international momentum to address the climate change impact of vehicles through global forums 
such as the United Nations Conference of the Parties (“COP”). At the most recent COP29 in November 2024, the Zero 
Emissions Transition Council reported the latest progress and areas for redoubling global efforts. These collective initiatives, 
commitments and regulations – enabled by semiconductor technologies — will drive global EV uptake, reduce harmful 
emissions and benefit society as a whole. According to S&P Global Mobility, the semiconductor value to support this global 
drivetrain electrification is expected to grow at a 13% CAGR, from $11 billion in 2023, to $27 billion in 2030.
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In parallel to the rapid electrification of vehicles, global ADAS system deployments are expected to increase substantially, 
driven in part by mandates for increased vehicle safety features by governmental bodies such as the European Commission and 
the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) in the United States. Better consumer safety awareness and 
demand created by safety assessment initiatives such as the European and U.S. New Car Assessment Programs (“NCAP”) have 
also directly influenced vehicle OEMs to incorporate minimum levels of crash safety and mitigation into new vehicles since 
1979. These safety technology initiatives have evolved over time to include sophisticated semiconductor-enabled ADAS and 
automation capabilities such as Automatic Electronic Braking (“AEB”), Lane Keeping Assist (“LKA”), speed assistance and 
forward collision warning and, most recently, driver and occupant monitoring (“DMS”, “OMS”), in order for a vehicle to be 
awarded a 5-star rating. With these global safety rating programs and governmental regulation, auto manufacturers are 
delivering more safety features to customers, and the ADAS ECU market size is expected to grow from $19 billion in 2023 to 
reach $41 billion by 2030, with corresponding semiconductor content of $13 billion to $26 billion, respectively, or a 10% 
CAGR, according to S&P Global.

In addition to electrified vehicle drivetrains and new safety features driving semiconductor content value in vehicles is the 
demand for improved in-cabin UX. In-cabin UX used to be synonymous with the in-vehicle infotainment (“IVI”) system, but 
today UX is defined by much more than IVI; consumers want intuitive, informative, connected and engaging interactions with 
their vehicle as they have become accustomed to with their portable consumer devices, but they also want enhanced 
convenience, utility, comfort and customizability of the cabin to their personal preferences, the nature of the journey or even the 
driver’s mood. Interior lighting, device power delivery, wireless charging, device-to-IVI interfacing, display and connected car 
networking and a multitude of utility and comfort functions enabled by small motors (such as electric seats, seat ventilation, air-
conditioning vents, etc.) contribute to the wider in-cabin UX, and all require semiconductor-enabled electronics. S&P Global 
forecasts that the semiconductor content value for in-cabin UX, which includes IVI, connectivity and body and convenience 
functions, will reach $53 billion in 2030, representing a 7% CAGR from $33 billion in 2023.

indie’s growth opportunity is not dependent upon global automotive vehicle production volumes, but rather on the increased 
levels of semiconductor content that are required in vehicles to support the growing deployment of safety and automation 
systems, enhanced user experiences and electrification applications as introduced above.

Competitive Strengths

indie focuses on delivering leading-edge semiconductor hardware with embedded software solutions. Over the past 10 years, 
we have built trusted relationships with Tier 1 automotive suppliers. Through focused R&D, leading intellectual property and a 
curated strategic partner network, we are on multiple Tier 1 Approved Vendor Lists (“AVLs”). Our competitive strengths 
include the following:

• Positioned in the highest growth areas. Our products serve three types of automotive applications: safety systems,
user experience (including connected car) and electrification. According to S&P Global, these key applications are
projected to grow the total automotive semiconductor opportunity from $80 billion in 2023 to $149 billion by 2030,
substantially outpacing the total global semiconductor market growth, and representing a significant addressable
market for indie.

• Differentiated solutions with high barriers to entry. Due to the high degree of regulatory scrutiny and safety
requirements in the automotive industry, the semiconductor market is characterized by stringent qualification
processes, zero defect quality requirements and functionally safe design architectures. As a result, products must meet
high-reliability standards and have extensive design-in timeframes. Further, the automotive environment is harsh,
exposing vehicles to fluctuations in temperature and humidity and solutions require specific expertise. Given our
extensive industry experience, indie has overcome these high barriers to entry and is well positioned to solve some of
the most demanding Autotech design challenges.

• Partner/Customer relationships. We focus on engaging with leading global customers by developing technically
differentiated, compelling and sustainable architectures. To win with customers and programs, we bring unique
designs that allow major cost savings through higher levels of product integration, reducing the total number of chips
needed to support multiple requirements. Toward that end, today indie is approved on multiple Tier 1 AVLs.

• Proven management team. indie’s executive management team brings extensive semiconductor experience, with past
successes in delivering leading-edge technologies and creating stockholder value.
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Company Strategy

We are dedicated to offering our customers a comprehensive portfolio of automotive technology solutions. We focus on 
designing and delivering the technologies that enable three key automotive dynamics: safety systems, enhanced in-cabin user 
experience and electrification. Core tenets of our strategy include:

• Enabling diverse, high growth applications. Our system-on-chip solutions are at the epicenter of a diverse set of
emerging applications including radar, LiDAR, vision, wireless charging, wired power delivery, interior and exterior
lighting, device-to-IVI interfacing, high-speed video and data transport, augmented reality head-up-displays (“HUD”),
power management and small motor control.

• Delivering on existing wins and extending product reach. Our products currently support multiple Tier 1 automotive
supplier platforms. In the medium term, we plan to deliver expanded radar, LiDAR and vision solutions and bring
Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) and Machine Learning (“ML”) processor acceleration capabilities into these applications.

• Leveraging our global supply chain. We have built a nimble global network of foundry, test and assembly partners
that provide us with the ability to deliver superior supply chain operations. As a fabless semiconductor supplier, this
approach has allowed us to maximize scalability while minimizing capital expenditures. To meet demand as the
business scales, we are continuing to enhance our successful strategic supply chain partnerships.

• Driving margin expansion through innovative designs and development. We intend to expand our margins through
the design and development of new, more highly integrated solutions. Our engineering teams develop architectures to
improve performance and efficiency while reducing the size and cost of the chip as well as the need for multiple
discrete devices. We take a system-centric approach to developing products that solve integration, power and footprint
challenges for our customers.

• Pursuing selective acquisitions. Since our IPO, we have completed multiple acquisitions. We continually assess and
plan to selectively pursue inorganic opportunities that are complementary to our existing technologies and portfolio of
products and/or accelerate our growth initiatives.

Company Products and Solutions

Our current products include devices for a multitude of automotive applications spanning vision and radar processors, in-cabin 
wireless charging and USB power delivery, device interfacing through Apple CarPlay and Android Auto, high-speed video and 
data connectivity, and LED lighting and small motor controllers for interior and exterior comfort and utility applications. New 
products under evaluation or development include LiDAR, cybersecurity-enabled microcontrollers and sensor fusion processors 
leveraging our broad multi-sensor processing expertise supporting the diverse range of applications shown below.
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We have deep design experience and capabilities in core technologies, allowing us to deliver leading-edge automotive 
architectures. Our capabilities include, but are not limited to:

• system engineering, optimization and partitioning;
• mixed-signal and RF design;
• analog and power management;
• digital design;
• Digital Signal Processors (“DSP”) and Arm®-based Microcontrollers (“MCU”); and
• optical component and photonics technology

In addition, embedded software is a cornerstone of virtually all of indie’s products. We utilize automotive grade software 
solutions and Arm 32-bit processors. Through our proprietary design flow, we also enable algorithm development and co-
development with hardware.

Photonics Products and Solutions

Our Photonics division designs, manufactures and integrates innovative photonic components and sub-systems on various 
technology platforms, including fiber Bragg gratings (“FBG”), low-noise lasers, athermal and tunable packaging, leveraging 
low-noise and high-speed electronics. These components are ideal for integration into solutions for high-performance laser 
systems, optical sensing (including automotive LiDAR, HUD and gyroscopes) and adjacent mobility markets. 

Manufacturing

Other than specific FBG and semiconductor laser-based products offered by our Photonics division, indie continues to utilize a 
fabless business model, working with a network of third parties to manufacture, assemble and test our products. This approach 
allows us to focus our engineering and design resources on our core competencies and to control and reduce our fixed costs and 
capital expenditures.

Wafers, which are the fundamental components of our devices, are manufactured by multiple third-party foundries. Our 
primary foundry partners are X-FAB, HHGrace, TSMC and Global Foundries. We contract with X-FAB for mixed signal and 
high voltage foundry. HHGrace provides us deeper sub-micron capabilities with embedded Flash Memory. We use TSMC and 
Global Foundries as our foundry partners for several process technologies, including advanced nodes. We dual source 
packaging at ASE, ATX and Hana Semiconductor. We use test services from Sigurd and Terepower. Having several sources 
and partners provides us with enhanced security of supply. On a case by case basis, we may also work with alternative suppliers 
to maximize cost, schedule or customer supply chain preferences.
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Manufacturing lead time is typically 26 weeks. The lead time for wafers is typically 16 weeks. The backend processing 
including probe, assembly, and test is about 8 weeks. The finished product is then warehoused and drop-shipped to a specific 
location. We currently ship products to Greater China (including Hong Kong and Taiwan), the United States, Portugal, Korea, 
Mexico, and Germany.

In connection with our acquisition of TeraXion in October 2021, we added limited manufacturing capabilities in Quebec City, 
Canada to assemble and test FBG based products and semiconductor laser-based products.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

Our go-to-market strategy provides comprehensive customer coverage. We are partner and standard agnostic, allowing our 
solutions to be used globally and across multiple platforms and customers. We target innovative Tier 1 automotive suppliers 
and focus on the semiconductors and software that enable the key systems which underpin the highest growth automotive 
technology market opportunities.

We often work with customers that have a leading market share in a given application, and we deliver unique, tailor-made 
software and hardware solutions. Given automotive product cycles, we are typically in production with customers for more than 
seven years with a single design. Through our customer collaboration at the research and development level, our team members 
are often integrated into a customer’s technology selection and design processes, a key aspect in indie’s winning track record of 
repeat business.

Since our inception, we have shipped over 400 million devices to customers and our products are powering solutions in 
multiple automotive suppliers. By establishing a trusted relationship with the industry’s leading suppliers, indie is well 
positioned to gain a growing share of new automotive solutions.

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 include sales to Aptiv, a leading Tier 1 automotive supplier, 
which represented approximately 9%, 15%, and 37% of total revenue, respectively. The loss of this customer would have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial results. 

Research and Development Strategy

We have invested a significant amount of time and expense into the design and development of our products and the associated 
software. Our engineering teams deliver innovative mixed-signal solutions with a focus on meeting our customers’ performance 
requirements.

As an automotive-focused company, we believe that our future success depends on our ability to rapidly develop and introduce 
differentiated products. Our goal is to continually improve both our existing portfolio, while simultaneously introducing new 
solutions in order to create value for our customers. To outpace market growth, we seek to invest in opportunities that will help 
extend our product reach, with an emphasis on the industry’s fastest growing segments. Our attention to meeting or exceeding 
the stringent automotive safety and reliability requirements is fundamental to our research and development process.

To that end, we regularly review our investments to ensure alignment with our growth and profitability goals and make 
necessary changes in the allocation of resources as needed. In 2024, we spent approximately 81% of our revenues on research 
and development as we expand product development activities in support of pent-up customer demand.

Our research activities are principally conducted at our headquarters in Aliso Viejo, California and we have design centers and 
sales offices in Austin, TX; Detroit, MI; San Jose, CA; Córdoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der 
Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Edinburgh, Scotland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa and Tel Aviv, Israel; Quebec City and 
Toronto, Canada; Tokyo, Japan; Seoul, South Korea; Schlieren, Switzerland and several locations throughout China.

Process and Packaging Technology

Packaging is becoming increasingly crucial to the performance and reliability of automotive ICs, especially given the 
challenging operating environment of vehicles. indie’s technology development engineers have long-established expertise in 
delivering leading-edge capabilities, such as system-in-package (“SiP”) technology. Further, we leverage our packaging 
capabilities to integrate multiple chips into a single package solution.
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Automotive Quality and Safety

We employ wafer and package technologies that meet or exceed the rigorous quality and safety requirements set by industry 
standards and our customers. Our robust development processes and company guidelines have resulted in indie devices that are 
capable of exceeding the requirements of AEC Q100 Automotive Grade.

Our dedication to our customers begins with a commitment to design, produce and deliver the highest quality products that 
meet or exceed the performance levels required for each application. We encourage our customers to frequently visit both our 
design centers and our manufacturing partners to ensure that the processes and quality meet the standards they have come to 
expect. We are ISO9001 and ISO26262 certified (including achieving ASIL-D, the highest automotive safety integrity level), 
compliant to IATF16949 and intend to pursue further relevant certifications.

Intellectual Property

The core strengths of our business are our intellectual property portfolio and engineering experience, both of which guide 
product development activities and our approach to patent filings.

Our future success and competitive position depend in part upon our ability to obtain and maintain protection of our proprietary 
technologies. In general, we have elected to pursue patent protection for aspects of our circuit and device designs that we 
believe are patentable. We have over 350 issued patents protecting a number of core technologies, and over 200 pending patent 
applications, but we do not rely on any particular patent or patents for our success and have instead relied on our know-how and 
trade secrets. We also rely on a combination of non-disclosure agreements and other contractual provisions, as well as our 
employees’ commitment to confidentiality and loyalty, to protect our technology and processes. Our issued patents will expire 
between 2025 and 2043.

The semiconductor industry in general is characterized by frequent claims of infringement and litigation regarding patent and 
other intellectual property rights. Patent infringement is an ongoing risk, in part because other companies in our industry could 
have patent rights that may not be identifiable when we initiate development efforts. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our 
intellectual property rights, and we may have to defend ourselves against infringement claims.

Competition

The market for high-performance analog, digital and mixed-signal semiconductors for automotive applications, is competitive 
although recent consolidation across the semiconductor industry has reduced the number of viable competitors and created 
design opportunities for us. Our primary competitors are other automotive-focused semiconductor companies, including 
Infineon, Monolithic Power Systems, NXP, Renesas and ST Microelectronics.

Some competitors have more financial resources than we do, while others have a more diversified set of products and end 
markets. Accordingly, such competitors may be able to respond more quickly to customer requests and market developments, 
and to better withstand external economic or market factors.

However, we believe that our technical and design experience, our existing approved vendor list position across multiple Tier 1 
automotive suppliers, and a growing demand for software-embedded solutions with proprietary manufacturing and packaging 
capabilities, position us to outpace our addressable market.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

We believe responsible and sustainable business practices support our long-term success. As a company, we are committed to 
protecting and supporting our people, our environment, and our communities. This commitment is reflected through our day-to-
day activities, including the adoption of socially responsible policies and procedures, our focus on fostering an inclusive 
workplace, our constant drive toward more efficient use of materials and energy, our careful management of our supply chain, 
our products which help enhance road safety, and our ethics and compliance program. Our on-going commitment and progress 
in this area is documented in our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report, published annually and available on our 
website.

• We seek to protect the human rights and civil liberties of our employees through policies, procedures, and programs
that avoid risks of compulsory and child labor, both within our company and throughout our supply chain.

• We foster a workplace of dignity, respect, diversity, and inclusion through our recruiting and advancement practices,
internal communications, and employee resource groups.
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• We educate our employees annually on relevant ethics and compliance topics, publish accessible guidance on ethical
issues and related company resources in our global Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and encourage reporting of
ethical concerns through any of several global and local reporting channels.

• We innovate to reduce the energy used by our products, the energy used to manufacture them, and the amount of new
materials required to manufacture them.

Employees 

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 920 full time employees. None of our employees or contract workers are 
represented by a labor union. 

Information about Our Executive Officers

Names, titles, biographies, as well as ages as of January 31, 2025 of our executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position
Donald McClymont 56 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ichiro Aoki 60 President and Director
Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal 49 Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
Michael Wittmann 54 Chief Operating Officer

Donald McClymont serves as indie’s Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for formulating its strategic vision, ensuring 
the execution of business plans and creating shareholder value. Mr. McClymont also serves on indie’s Board of Directors. Prior 
to co-founding indie in 2007, he was Vice President of Marketing at Axiom Microdevices, tasked with driving company 
strategy, developing sales engagements and building key industry partnerships. Prior to Axiom, he was a Product Line Director 
at Skyworks Solutions and Conexant, and a Marketing Manager at Fujitsu. Previously, he was with Thesys (now X-FAB 
Melexis), and Wolfson (now Cirrus Logic), as a design engineer. Mr. McClymont holds five patents worldwide and earned a 
Master in Engineering Electronics and Electrical from the University of Glasgow.

Ichiro Aoki serves as indie’s President and as a member of the Board of Directors. He works closely with indie’s executive 
team and Board to create, update and manage execution of indie’s strategies and technical roadmaps. Prior to co-founding indie 
in 2007, Dr. Aoki was a co-founder, Board Member and Chief Architect of Axiom Microdevices, which was subsequently sold 
to Skyworks Solutions. Previously, Dr. Aoki founded and served as co-CEO of PST Eletronica Ltd. in Brazil, which was later 
sold to Stoneridge, Inc. Dr. Aoki has developed 35 patents worldwide and has authored numerous IEEE papers, two of them 
having over 400 citations. He is fluent in Japanese, Portuguese and English. Dr. Aoki holds a Ph.D. and Masters in Electrical 
Engineering from the California Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Campinas, Sao Paulo, Brazil. He serves as a California Institute of Technology Electrical Engineering Advisory 
Council Member and is also a Scientific Advisory Board Member with the California Institute of Technology Space-based 
Solar Power Project.

Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal, serves as indie's Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer 
since November 2024. In this role, Mr. Bal leads indie’s accounting and finance operations, and oversees financial reporting, 
tax, global treasury and internal control activities. From June 2024 to November 2024, Mr. Bal served as indie's acting Chief 
Financial Officer. From December 2022 to June 2024, Mr. Bal served as indie's Chief Accounting Officer leading the 
Company's accounting and finance operations. From January 2020 to December 2022, Mr. Bal served as indie's Senior Vice 
President - Finance and Controller. Prior to joining indie in January 2020, Mr. Bal served as Operating Partner and Chief 
Financial Officer for True North Venture Partners and its wholly-owned portfolio companies from October 2017 to December 
2019 and as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for GT Advanced Technologies between January 2014 and October 
2017. Prior to this, Mr. Bal served as Corporate Controller and Treasurer for Skyworks Solutions, where he held finance roles 
with increasing responsibility. He previously held finance positions with Lucent Technologies and Ernst & Young. Mr. Bal 
holds a CPA accounting designation, a Master of Management Analytics from Queen’s University’s Smith School of Business, 
and a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Ottawa's Telfer School of Management. 

Michael Wittmann serves as indie’s Chief Operating Officer. In this role, Mr. Wittmann is responsible for expanding and 
optimizing our global supply chain, managing manufacturing engineering functions and information technology functions, and 
overseeing day-to-day operations. From June 2022 until January 2024 when he was appointed as Chief Operating Officer, Mr. 
Wittmann served as Senior Vice President and General Manager, Power Business Unit. From March 2021 to June 2022, Mr. 
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Wittmann served as indie’s Vice President, Marketing. Prior to joining indie, from May 2012 to March 2021, Mr. Wittmann 
served in various senior marketing roles of increasing responsibility at Intel Corporation, serving most recently as Senior 
Director of 5G Solutions and General Manager of Wireless and Connectivity Sales from October 2016 to March 2021. He 
previously held product marketing positions with International Rectifier, which was acquired by Infineon Technologies AG in 
January 2015. Mr. Wittmann holds a Diploma in Electrical Engineering from RWTH Aachen University, Germany.

Our executive officers are appointed annually by and serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Available Information

Our primary Internet address is www.indiesemi.com. We make our U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
periodic reports (Forms 10-Q and Forms 10-K) and current reports (Forms 8-K) available free of charge through our website as 
soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed electronically with the SEC. Within the Investor Relations section of our 
website, we provide information concerning corporate governance, including our Audit and Compensation Committee charters, 
Nominating and Corporate Governance information, Board committee composition and chairs, Code of Ethics for Principal 
Financial Officers, and other information. The content of our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K or into any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be 
inactive textual references only.

The SEC also maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and 
other information that we file electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In evaluating our company and our business, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, 
together with the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and 
the related notes and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.” The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in these risk factors, alone or in 
combination with other events or circumstances, may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, revenue, 
financial condition, results of operations or future prospects, in which case the market price of our common stock could 
decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Unless otherwise indicated, reference in this section and elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to our business being adversely affected, negatively impacted or harmed will include an 
adverse effect on, or a negative impact or harm to, our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue 
or our future prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not intended to be exhaustive and are not the only ones 
we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our 
business. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our 
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of 
factors, including the risks described below. See the section titled “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements.”

Summary of Risks

An investment in shares of our Class A common stock and warrants involves substantial risks and uncertainties that may 
adversely affect the value of your investment. Some of the more significant challenges and risks relating to an investment in our 
company include, among other things, the following:

Risks Related to Our Operations and Industry

• The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry may limit our net sales and profitability.
• If we fail to compete effectively in the highly competitive semiconductor industry, our business could be adversely

affected.
• Declining average selling prices and price erosion may adversely impact our revenue and profitability.
• Failure to win competitive bid selection processes could adversely affect our business.
• Decline in demand for our customers’ end products could adversely impact our revenue and profitability.
• A downturn in the automotive market could significantly harm our financial results.
• If significant tariffs or other trade restrictions are placed on our products or third-party suppliers, our revenue and results of

operations may be materially harmed.
• We are a global company, which subjects us to additional business risks including logistical and financial complexity,

supply disruption, political instability and currency fluctuations.
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• We depend on third parties to manufacture, assemble, test and/or package our products.
• We rely on the timely supply of materials that may only be available from a limited number of suppliers.
• We must develop new products with acceptable profit margins.
• “Strategic backlog” and “design win pipeline” estimations may not result in revenue or profits.
• Mergers, acquisitions, investments and joint ventures could adversely affect our results of operations.
• Future growth could strain our resources, management, information and telecommunication systems and operating and

financial controls.
• We may seek additional capital, which may result in dilution to our stockholders.
• We may rely on strategic partnerships, joint ventures and alliances, which may fail for reasons outside of our control.
• We may not be successful in exiting certain programs or businesses or in restructuring our operations, which could

adversely impact our business.
• Disruptions in our relationships with any one of our key customers could adversely affect our business.
• Loss of key management or other highly skilled personnel, or an inability to attract such management and other personnel,

could adversely affect our business.
• We may experience disruptions in our operations resulting from our enterprise resource planning system initiative.
• We have historically incurred losses and may continue to incur losses.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

• Geopolitical uncertainty could impact end customer demand and disrupt our supply chain.
• Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions could harm our business.
• Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
• Our worldwide operations are subject to political, economic and health risks and natural disasters, which could have a

material adverse effect on our business operations.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters

• If we or our customers fail to comply with a large body of laws and regulations, our business and reputation could be
adversely affected.

• We may be adversely affected by product defects and product liability or warranty claims.
• Significant litigation and stockholder activism could impair our reputation and adversely affect our business.
• We are subject to export restrictions and laws affecting trade and investments which could materially and adversely affect

our business and results of operations.
• Changes in tax rates or laws or additional tax liabilities could adversely affect our business.
• Failure to comply with anti-corruption laws or our ethics policies could adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

• Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect our China business.
• China’s economic, political and social conditions may change rapidly with little advance notice, which could adversely

affect our business.
• Our China subsidiary may be limited in its ability to make distributions to us.
• Government control of currency conversion may affect the value of our securities.
• Failure to comply with certain regulations may subject us or our PRC employees to fines or sanctions.
• Failure to comply with PRC laws and other obligations regarding data protection could have a material adverse effect on

our business.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property, Technology and Cybersecurity.

• Improper use of our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

• Intellectual property claims or litigation could significantly harm our business.
• We license certain third-party software that may not be available to us in the future which may delay product development

and production or cause us to incur additional expense.
• Interruptions in information technology systems could adversely affect our business.
• Security breaches and other cybersecurity incidents could adversely impact our business.

Risks Related to Financial Reporting, Internal Controls and Being a Public Company
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• We may not be able to timely and effectively implement and maintain controls and procedures required by Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that is applicable to us, which could result in materially misstated financial reporting.

• Significant expenses and administrative burdens as a public company could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

• Our existing and future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.
• We may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase Convertible Notes or make cash payments

upon conversions thereof.
• Provisions in the indentures for the Convertible Notes may deter or prevent a business combination that stockholders may

consider favorable.
• The accounting method for reflecting the Convertible Notes may adversely affect our reported earnings and financial

condition.
• The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and

operating results.
• The capped call transactions relating to the 2029 Notes may affect the value of the 2029 Notes and our common stock.
• We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions related to the 2029 Notes.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

• We are dependent upon distributions made by our subsidiaries to make certain payments, and such distributions may be
delayed or restricted for reasons outside of our control.

• We are party to a Tax Receivable Agreement, which requires us to make certain payments, and such payment may exceed
our actual tax benefits or may be accelerated.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock and Organizational Documents

• We must comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq for our Class A common stock.
• An investment in our Class A common stock may be diluted by future issuances of our Class A common stock or ADK

LLC units.
• There may be sales of a substantial amount of Class A common stock by our stockholders, which could cause the price of

our securities to fall.
• Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could

delay or discourage takeover attempts.
• Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum

for certain types of actions and proceedings, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum.

Please see below for a discussion of these and other factors you should consider before making an investment in our securities.

Risks Related to Our Operations and Industry

The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry may limit our ability to maintain or improve our net sales and 
profitability.

The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and is prone to significant downturns from time to time. Cyclical downturns can 
result, and have in the past resulted (including as a result of global and geopolitical events) in substantial declines in 
semiconductor demand, production overcapacity, high inventory levels and accelerated erosion of average selling prices. Such 
downturns result from a variety of market forces including constant and rapid technological change, shifting domestic and 
international regulations and policies, quick product obsolescence, price erosion, evolving standards, short product life cycles 
and wide fluctuations in product supply and demand. We believe the semiconductor industry recently suffered a downturn due 
in large part to adverse macroeconomic conditions. This downturn has negatively affected, and may continue to have an adverse 
effect on, our business and operating results. Conversely, significant upturns could render us unable to satisfy demand in a 
timely and cost-efficient manner, if at all, and could result in increased competition for access to third-party foundry, assembly 
and testing capacity. In the event of such an upturn, we may not be able to expand our workforce and operations in a 
sufficiently timely manner, procure adequate resources and raw materials, or locate suitable suppliers or other subcontractors to 
respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing products or to the demand for new products. Accordingly, our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 
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The semiconductor industry is highly competitive. If we fail to introduce new or enhanced technologies and products that 
meet evolving standards for quality in a timely manner, or otherwise compete effectively with our competitors, it could 
adversely affect business.

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive and characterized by constant and rapid technological change, short product 
lifecycles, significant price erosion, and evolving standards for quality. Accordingly, the success of our business depends, to a 
large extent, on our ability to meet evolving industry requirements, introduce new products and technologies designed to satisfy 
those evolving requirements, and see our products and technologies accepted in the marketplace, both in a timely manner and at 
prices that are acceptable to customers.

Moreover, the costs related to the research and development necessary to develop new technologies and products are significant 
and some of our competitors may have greater resources than us. If they significantly increase the resources that they devote to 
developing and marketing their products, we may not be able to compete effectively. Our competitors’ products, services and 
technologies may be less costly or may offer superior functionality or better features than ours, which may result in lower than 
expected selling prices for our products. Additionally, some of our competitors operate and maintain their own fabrication 
facilities, have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, more comprehensive intellectual property portfolios and 
greater financial resources. 

Further, the semiconductor industry has experienced, and may continue to experience, significant consolidation among 
companies and vertical integration among customers. Larger competitors resulting from consolidations may have certain 
advantages over us, including, but not limited to: more efficient cost structures; substantially greater financial and other 
resources with which to withstand adverse economic or market conditions and pursue development, engineering, 
manufacturing, marketing and distribution of their products; longer independent operating histories; presence in key markets; 
intellectual property protection; large purchase quantities; and greater name recognition. In addition, we may be at a 
competitive disadvantage to our peers if we fail to identify or are unable to finance attractive opportunities to acquire companies 
to expand our business. Consolidation among our competitors and integration among our customers could erode our market 
share, negatively impact our capacity to compete and require us to restructure our operations, any of which would have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

As a result of these competitive pressures, we may face declining sales volumes or lower prices for our products, and may not 
be able to reduce total costs in line with declining revenue. If any of these risks materialize, they could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The average selling prices of products in our markets have historically decreased over time and could do so in the future, 
which could adversely impact our revenue and profitability.

Average selling prices of semiconductor products in the markets we serve have historically decreased over time. Profit margins 
and financial results may suffer if we are unable to offset any reductions in average selling prices by reducing costs, developing 
new or enhanced products on a timely basis with higher selling prices or profit margins, or increasing sales volumes. Although 
in some cases, we have contractual agreements with customers, there is no assurance that those price agreements will be 
honored. As a result, our average selling prices may decline faster than forecasted. Additionally, increases in the industry 
semiconductor manufacturing capacity could lead to declines in average selling prices and a decrease in short-term or long-term 
demand, resulting in industry oversupply, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, or 
financial condition.

Much of our business depends on winning competitive bid selection processes, and the failure to be selected could adversely 
affect business in those market segments.

The competitive selection processes often require an investment of significant time and capital resources, with no guarantee of 
winning the contract and generating revenue. In the automotive semiconductor market in which we compete, due to the longer 
design cycles involved, failure to win a design-in could prevent access to a customer for several years. Our failure to win a 
significant number of these bids could result in reduced revenues, and hurt our competitive position for future selection 
processes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The demand for our products depends on the demand for our customers’ end products.

The vast majority of our revenue is derived from sales to manufacturers in the automotive industry. Demand in this market 
fluctuates significantly, driven by consumer spending, consumer preferences, seasonality within the automotive industry, the 
development of new technologies and prevailing economic conditions. Many of the factors that create and affect quarterly 
demands with our customers are beyond our control. In addition, the end products in which our semiconductors are 
incorporated may not be successful, or may experience price erosion or other competitive factors that could affect the price 
manufacturers are willing to pay. Such customers have in the past, and may in the future, vary order levels significantly from 
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period to period, including order cancellations, request postponements of scheduled delivery dates, modify their orders or 
reduce lead times. This is particularly common during periods of low demand. This can make managing business difficult, as it 
limits the predictability of future revenue. It can also affect the accuracy of our financial forecasts.

Furthermore, because we do not manufacture the semiconductors used for our products, we are dependent on third parties to 
manufacture and assemble our products. Our manufacturing lead times require us to make estimates of customers’ future 
demand. If our estimates of customer demand are ultimately inaccurate, these conditions could lead to a significant mismatch 
between supply and demand. This mismatch may result in both product shortages and excess inventory and could significantly 
harm our financial results. In periods of shortages impacting the semiconductor industry or limited supply or capacity in our 
supply chain, as we have experienced in the past, the lead time on our orders for certain supply could become extended, 
heightening these risks.

Furthermore, developing industry trends, including customers’ use of outsourcing and new and revised supply chain models, 
may affect our revenue, costs and working capital requirements.

Our sales are made primarily to Tier 1 suppliers. A downturn in the automotive market could significantly harm our 
financial results.

This automotive concentration of sales exposes us to the risks associated with the automotive market. For example, our 
anticipated future growth is highly dependent on the adoption of ADAS, user interface, connectivity and electrification 
technologies, which are expected to have increased sensor and power product content. A downturn in the automotive market 
could delay or cancel automakers’ plans to introduce new vehicles with these features, which previously has, and could in the 
future, negatively impact the demand for products and our ability to grow our business.

The automotive industry continues to undergo consolidation and reorganization and, in some cases, suppliers to the automotive 
industry have entered bankruptcy. Consolidation or closures of automobile dealers could reduce the aggregate demand for our 
services in the future and limit the amounts we earn from our products. Such changes in the automotive market could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If significant tariffs or other trade restrictions are placed on our products or third-party suppliers, our revenue and results 
of operations may be materially harmed.

Most of our revenue has been generated from sales of products to a location outside of the U.S. Additionally, we rely on third-
party manufacturers located outside of the U.S. with a majority located in Asia. Moreover, we have material operations and 
relationships in China, including an interest in Wuxi indie Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi”), a partially-owned 
Chinese subsidiary. Since the beginning of 2018, there have been several instances of U.S. tariffs on Chinese goods, some of 
which prompted retaliatory Chinese tariffs on U.S. goods. Recently, in February 2025, the U.S. government announced a 10% 
tariff on product imports from China. If enacted, these tariffs could lead to further potential retaliatory tariffs on U.S. goods and 
escalate trade disputes in China.

Additional and threatened changes in U.S. trade measures may also affect trade involving other countries as well, including 
Mexico, Canada, Taiwan, and member countries of the European Union. For example, in February 2025, the U.S. government 
announced a 10% tariff on imports from China and a 25% tariff on imports from Mexico and Canada with immediate effect and 
a 10% tariff on steel and aluminum imports effective March 2025. Although the tariffs on Mexico and Canada have been 
temporarily delayed pending further negotiations between these countries, U.S. and Mexico or the U.S and Canada may be 
unable to reach long-term agreements. The U.S. government has also threatened tariffs against Taiwan that could specifically 
target imports of semiconductor products, which, if imposed, could seriously and negatively affect our business and the U.S. 
economy overall. In the event that future tariffs are imposed on imports of our products or on our third-party manufacturers, or 
that China or other countries take retaliatory trade measures in response to existing or future tariffs or other trade restrictions, or 
that the U.S. imposes further restrictions on trade with China, our business may be impacted, and we may face increased costs 
in our supply chain, and may not be able to sell our products to customers in China or other countries where we do business, 
any of which could materially harm our revenue or operating results. See also “Risks Related to Doing Business in China” 
below. 

We are a global company, which subjects us to additional business risks including logistical and financial complexity and 
political instability.

We have established international subsidiaries to support our activities globally, including in Greater China. During fiscal 2024, 
the percentage of our revenues derived from products shipped outside of the U.S. was approximately 82% (and the revenue 
associated with products shipped to Greater China was 45%). We may not be able to maintain or increase global market 
demand for our products. Our international operations are subject to a number of risks, including:
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• complexity and costs of managing international operations and related tax obligations;
• geopolitical uncertainty or governmental actions, including trade restrictions, tariffs, export controls, quotas and other

trade barriers between the U.S. and Greater China, along with other countries; and
• difficulties related to the protection of our intellectual property rights in some countries.

We depend on third parties and their technology to manufacture, assemble, test and/or package our products, which exposes 
us to risks that may harm our business.

We do not have our own wafer fab manufacturing facilities. Therefore, we rely on third-party subcontractors to manufacture the 
products we design. We also currently rely on third-party assembly subcontractors to assemble and package the chips provided 
by the wafers for use in final products. Additionally, we rely on these subcontractors for a substantial portion of the testing 
requirements of our products prior to shipping. We expect utilization of third-party subcontractors to continue in the foreseeable 
future. The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry drives wide fluctuations in available capacity at third-party 
subcontractors. We may be unable to obtain adequate foundry, assembly or test capacity from our third-party subcontractors to 
meet our customers’ delivery requirements even if we adequately forecast customer demand. 

The manufacture of our products, including the fabrication of semiconductor wafers, and the assembly and testing of our 
products, involve highly complex processes. For example, minute levels of contaminants in the manufacturing environment, 
difficulties in the wafer fabrication process or other factors can cause a substantial portion of the components on a wafer to be 
nonfunctional. These problems may be difficult to detect at an early stage of the manufacturing process and often are time-
consuming and expensive to correct.

From time to time, we have experienced problems achieving acceptable yields at our third-party wafer fabrication partners, 
resulting in delays in the availability of components. Moreover, an increase in the rejection rate of products during the quality 
control process before, during or after manufacture and/or shipping of such products, results in lower yields and margins.

In addition, changes in manufacturing processes required as a result of changes in product specifications, changing customer 
needs and the introduction of new product lines have the potential to significantly reduce manufacturing yields, resulting in low 
or negative margins on those products. Poor manufacturing yields over a prolonged period of time could adversely affect our 
ability to deliver products on a timely basis and harm relationships with our customers, which could materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on the timely supply of materials and our business could be adversely affected if suppliers fail to meet their delivery 
obligations or raise prices. Certain materials needed in our manufacturing operations are only available from a limited 
number of suppliers.

We have a fabless business model, which outsources our manufacturing operations to third-party foundries. The manufacturing 
operations depend on deliveries of materials in a timely manner and, in some cases, on a just-in-time basis. From time to time, 
suppliers may extend lead times, limit the amounts supplied or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other factors. 
Supply disruptions may also occur due to shortages in critical materials or components. Because our products are complex, it is 
frequently difficult or impossible to substitute one type of material with another. A failure by suppliers to deliver requirements 
could result in disruptions to our third-party manufacturing operations. Our business, financial condition and results of 
operations could be harmed if we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of materials in a timely manner or if there are 
significant increases in the costs of materials.

The semiconductor industry is characterized by continued price erosion, especially after a product has been on the market 
for a period of time, and we may be unsuccessful in advancing our product technologies, improving efficiencies or 
developing and selling new products with product margins similar or better than what we have experienced in the past.

One of the results of the rapid innovation in the semiconductor industry is that pricing pressure, especially on products 
containing older technology, can be intense. Product life cycles are relatively short, and as a result, products tend to be replaced 
by more technologically advanced substitutes on a regular basis. In turn, demand for older technology falls, causing the price at 
which such products can be sold to drop, in some cases precipitously. 

In order to continue profitably supplying these products, continuous development of new technology, processes and product 
innovations is necessary. If we cannot advance our process technologies or improve our efficiencies to a degree sufficient to 
maintain required margins, we will no longer be able to make a profit from the sale of these products. Moreover, we may not be 
able to cease production of such products, either due to contractual obligations or for customer relationship reasons, and as a 
result we may be required to bear a loss on such products. We cannot guarantee that competition in our core product markets 
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will not lead to price erosion, lower revenue or lower margins in the future. Should reductions in our manufacturing costs fail to 
keep pace with reductions in market prices for the products we sell, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. Further, we have invested and will continue to invest significant resources in our 
product and technology development efforts. Our development efforts carry inherent risk due to the challenges of foreseeing 
changes or developments in technology, predicting changes in customer requirements or preferences or anticipating the 
adoption of new industry standards, and we may be unable to meet our customers’ requirements or gain market acceptance. 
Should we fail to develop and introduce sufficiently unique products with profit margins similar to or better than what we have 
experienced in the past or should our product development fail to keep pace with the changing needs of our customers and 
industry, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our strategic backlog and design win pipeline are subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and may not be a 
reliable indicator of future revenues or earnings.

There can be no assurance that the revenues projected in our strategic backlog or design win pipeline will be realized or, if 
realized, will result in profits. Our strategic backlog estimates represent the revenue we expect to recognize from product orders 
within the next ten years. The estimate of our strategic backlog requires substantial judgment and is based on a number of 
assumptions, including management’s current assessment of customer and third-party contracts that exist as of the date the 
estimate is made, as well as revenues from expected contract renewals and/or expected design wins, to the extent that we 
believe that recognition of the related revenue will be realizable within the next ten years. Although we believe the assumptions 
underlying our strategic backlog estimate are reasonable, they are not guarantees and we can give no assurance that we will 
recognize the revenues reflected in the strategic backlog estimate. A number of factors could result in actual revenues being less 
than the amounts reflected in strategic backlog. Our customers or third-party partners may attempt to renegotiate or terminate 
their contracts for a number of reasons, including competitor offerings, mergers, changes in their financial condition, or general 
changes in economic conditions within their industries or geographic locations. In addition, even where a contract proceeds as 
scheduled, it is possible that contracted parties may default and fail to pay amounts owed to us or poor contract performance 
could increase the cost associated with a contract. Delays, suspensions, cancellations, payment defaults, scope changes and poor 
contract execution could materially reduce or eliminate the revenues and profits that we actually realize from our strategic 
backlog. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that contracts, renewals or expected design wins included in strategic backlog 
will actually generate the predicted revenues or profits. Additionally, because strategic backlog estimates are operating metrics, 
the estimates are not required to be subject to the same level of internal review or controls as a U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) financial measures and actual results may prove to be materially different than estimated.

We may pursue mergers, acquisitions, investments and joint ventures, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring or investing in businesses that offer complementary products, services and technologies, 
or enhance our market coverage or technological capabilities. We expect to engage in future acquisitions; however, there can be 
no assurance that we will successfully identify appropriate opportunities, that we will be able to negotiate or finance such 
activities or that such activities, if undertaken, will be successful. Any acquisitions or strategic ventures we undertake involve 
risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to:

• Difficulties and expense associated with integrating the operations, employees, technologies or products of acquired
businesses or working with third parties with which we may partner on joint development or collaboration
relationships;

• Inaccuracies in our estimates and assumptions used to assess a transaction may result in us not realizing, or taking
longer to realize, the expected financial or strategic benefits of any such transaction;

• Disruption of our ongoing business and diversion of our management’s attention;
• Our inability to retain key personnel of acquired businesses;
• Claims or liabilities that we assume from an acquired company or technology or that are otherwise related to an

acquisition;
• Dilution of the ownership of our existing stockholders in connection with any equity or debt securities issued in

connection with financing any such transaction; and
• U.S. and foreign regulatory approvals required in connection with an acquisition or investment may take longer than

anticipated to obtain, may not be forthcoming or may contain burdensome conditions, which may jeopardize, delay or
reduce the anticipated benefits to us of the transaction.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial 
condition. 

We may seek additional capital to take advantage of business opportunities and support the further expansion of our 
business, which capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, or may result in dilution to our stockholders.
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We may seek additional equity or debt financing to pursue strategic opportunities, acquire complementary businesses, products 
or technologies or to fund the further expansion of our business. Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, when 
needed or at all. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or debt securities, our existing stockholders could 
suffer meaningful dilution, and such securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of our 
Class A common stock. If we raise additional funds by issuing debt, we may be subject to further limitations on our operations 
and ability to pay dividends due to restrictive covenants.

We rely on strategic partnerships, joint ventures and alliances for some of our manufacturing and research and 
development. However, we do not control these partnerships and joint ventures, and actions taken by any of our partners or 
the termination of these partnerships or joint ventures could adversely affect our business.

As part of our strategy, we have entered into, and may in the future enter into, a number of long-term strategic partnerships and 
alliances, including through mergers and acquisitions. There can be no assurances that they will be successful. If any of our 
current strategic partners or alliances we may engage with in the future were to encounter financial difficulties or change their 
business strategies, they may no longer be able or willing to participate in these groups or alliances, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, our resources, systems and controls may be strained, and our results of 
operations may suffer.

Future growth could strain our resources, management, information and telecommunication systems and operating and financial 
controls. To manage future growth effectively, we must be able to improve and expand our systems and controls, which we 
may not be able to do in a timely or cost-effective manner. A failure to manage any growth we may experience, including in our 
global operations, or improve or expand our existing systems and controls, or unexpected difficulties in doing so, could harm 
our business and results of operations.

We may from time-to-time desire to exit certain programs or businesses, or to restructure our operations, but may not be 
successful in doing so.

From time to time, we may decide to divest certain businesses or restructure our operations, including through the contribution 
of assets to joint ventures. However, our ability to successfully exit businesses, or to close or consolidate operations, depends 
on a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control. For example, if we are seeking a buyer for a particular 
business, none may be available, or we may not be successful in negotiating satisfactory terms with prospective buyers. In some 
cases, particularly with respect to our European operations, there may be laws or other legal impediments affecting our ability 
to carry out such sales or restructuring.

If we are unable to exit a business in a timely manner, or to restructure our operations in a manner we deem to be advantageous, 
this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if a divestment is 
successful, we may face indemnity and other liability claims by the acquirer or other parties.

Disruptions in our relationships with any one of our key customers could adversely affect our business.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from top customers. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate 
similar levels of revenue from our largest customers in the future. If one or more of these customers substantially reduces their 
purchases from us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. For 
example, sales to Aptiv, a leading Tier 1 automotive supplier, represented approximately 9%, 15% and 37% of our total 
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The loss of this customer would have a material 
adverse impact on our consolidated financial results. However, as we continue to grow our customer base organically and 
through business combinations, the revenue concentration with Aptiv has decreased over time. 

Loss of key management or other highly skilled personnel, or an inability to attract such management and other personnel, 
could adversely affect our business.

We depend on key management to run our business and on development engineers to develop new products and technologies. 
The loss of any key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, the market for qualified 
employees, including skilled engineers and other individuals with the required technical expertise to succeed in our business, is 
highly competitive and an inability to attract, retain and motivate the employees required for the operation of our business could 
hinder our ability to successfully conduct research activities or develop marketable products.

Our employees are not bound by obligations that require them to continue to work for any specified period and, therefore, they 
could terminate their employment at any time. Moreover, our employees are generally not subject to non-competition 
agreements.
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In addition, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel, including certain foreign nationals who are not U.S. citizens 
or permanent residents, many of whom are highly skilled and constitute an important part of our U.S. workforce, particularly in 
the areas of engineering and product development. Our ability to hire and retain these employees and their ability to remain and 
work in the U.S. are impacted by laws and regulations, as well as by procedures and enforcement practices of various 
government agencies. Changes in immigration laws, regulations or procedures, including those that may be enacted by the 
current U.S. presidential administration, may adversely affect our ability to hire or retain such workers, increase operating 
expenses and negatively impact our ability to deliver products and services, any of which would adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of one or more of our executive officers or key personnel or our inability to locate suitable or qualified replacements 
could be significantly detrimental to product development efforts and could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

We may experience disruptions in our operations resulting from our enterprise resource planning system initiative.

In order to enhance management of our global operations and financial reporting, we have initiated the phased implementation 
of an enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system across our global operating locations. We have incurred, and expect to incur, 
additional expenses as we continue to implement, enhance and develop our ERP system. Difficulties that may occur in 
connection with implementing and operating our new upgraded ERP system include disruptions to business continuity, 
administrative or technical problems, difficulty in maintaining effective internal controls, and interruptions or delays to our 
sales processes. Any of these events could adversely impact our business, financial condition or operating results.

We have historically incurred losses and may continue to incur losses.

We have incurred a net loss since our inception. Our ability to achieve profitability will depend on increased revenue growth 
from, among other things, increased demand for our product offerings. We may not be successful in these pursuits, and we may 
never achieve profitability or sustain profitability if achieved.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Our net sales and profitability depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for the end products in the 
markets in which our customers compete. A decline in end-user demand can affect the need that customers have for our 
products, as well as the ability of customers to obtain credit or meet their payment obligations to us, and may increase the 
likelihood of customers canceling or deferring existing orders. Current and continued inflationary conditions have led, and may 
continue to lead to rising prices or elevated or rising interest rates, which has had, and could continue to have a dampening 
effect on overall economic activity and consumer demand for automotive products and could result in reduced demand for our 
products. Other adverse changes in economic conditions, including any recession, economic slowdown or disruption of credit 
markets, may also lead to lower demand for our products. Volatile and uncertain economic conditions can make it difficult to 
accurately forecast and plan future business activities. This could result in an oversupply of products relative to customer 
demand. Uncertain general economic conditions, geopolitical factors, such as ongoing or new trade disputes between the United 
States and China and other countries in which we do business, armed conflict, such as the ongoing conflicts in the Middle East 
and Ukraine, and public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may also cause weakness in demand and pricing for 
semiconductors across applications, and excess inventory resulting in downturns in the semiconductor industry. 

In recent years, unfavorable economic conditions have also adversely impacted several financial institutions, and some banks 
have recently failed and gone into receivership. If banks and other financial institutions with whom we have banking 
relationships enter receivership or become insolvent in the future, we may be unable to access, and we may lose, some or all of 
our existing cash and cash equivalents to the extent those funds are not insured or otherwise protected by the FDIC.

In addition, any disruption in the credit markets, including as a result of geopolitical events, volatile macroeconomic conditions, 
or public health crises, could impede our access to additional capital. If there is limited access to additional financing sources, 
we may be required to defer capital expenditures or seek other sources of liquidity, which may not be available on acceptable 
terms or at all. Similarly, if our suppliers face challenges in obtaining credit or other financial difficulties, they may be unable to 
provide the necessary materials or services to us.

All of these factors related to global economic conditions, which are beyond our control, could adversely impact our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

21



We operate in various worldwide locations and our consolidated financial results are reported in U.S. dollars. However, some of 
the revenue and expenses of our foreign subsidiaries are denominated in local currencies. Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
against the U.S. dollar could result in changes in reported revenues and operating results due to the foreign exchange impact of 
translating these transactions into U.S. dollars. Currency fluctuations could decrease revenue and increase our operating costs. 
Though we have exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, historically, the impact has generally not been material to 
our consolidated results of operations or financial position.

Our worldwide operations are subject to political, economic and health risks and natural disasters which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business operations.

Our business may be impacted by natural disasters, labor strikes, terrorism, war, intensified political unrest, or public health 
crises, which could disrupt our operations, or those of our suppliers or contract manufacturing facilities, disrupt our distribution 
channels or supply chains, delay new production and shipments of existing products or result in costly repairs, replacements or 
other costs, all of which would negatively impact our business. For example, the recent conflict in the Middle East created 
global political and economic uncertainty, which may impact to our business, customers, suppliers, employees and operations in 
Israel, the Middle East and elsewhere. Such events may also result in significant increases in the prices of raw materials used 
for manufacturing processes. Furthermore, any disaster affecting our customers (or their respective customers) may 
significantly negatively impact the demand for our products and therefore our revenue. Our offices in California, the production 
facilities of third-party wafer suppliers, integrated circuit testing and manufacturing facilities, a portion of our assembly and 
research and development activities, and certain other critical business operations are located in or near seismically active 
regions and are subject to periodic earthquakes. We do not maintain earthquake insurance and could be materially and adversely 
affected in the event of a major earthquake. In addition, we rely heavily on internal information and communications systems 
and on systems or support services from third parties to manage our operations efficiently and effectively. Any of these are 
subject to failure due to a natural disaster or other disruptions. System-wide or local failures that affect our information 
processing could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. There 
is also increasing concern that climate change may cause a rising number of these natural disasters with potentially dramatic 
effects on human activity.

In addition, public health crises and the efforts to control such crises, have impacted, and could in the future impact our 
workforce and operations, and those of our customers, suppliers and logistics providers. We experienced disruption to parts of 
our global semiconductor supply chain and disruptions in commercial transportation infrastructure that resulted in increased 
customer order lead times as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and future public heath crises could have a similar impact on 
our operations. The degree to which future public health crises ultimately impacts our business and results of operations depend 
on many factors beyond our control and cannot be predicted.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters

Our failure, or the failure of our customers or suppliers, to comply with the large body of laws and regulations to which we 
are subject could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.

We are subject to regulation by various governmental agencies in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. 
These include traditional automotive quality standards and regulations as well as international trade regulations, such as trade 
barriers, tax regulations, import and export regulations and sanctions. Our failure to comply with any applicable regulations or 
requirements could subject us to investigations, sanctions, enforcement actions, fines, damages, penalties, or injunctions. If any 
governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, responding to any action will likely 
result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and financial resources. Furthermore, if our customers fail to comply 
with these regulations, we may be required to suspend sales to these customers, which could damage our reputation and 
negatively impact our results of operations.

Our business may be adversely affected by costs relating to product defects, and we could be faced with product liability 
claims.

There is a risk that defects may occur in our products. We make highly complex integrated circuits and our customers typically 
integrate the semiconductors we sell into numerous automotive products, which are then sold into the marketplace. A defect in 
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any of our products could give rise to significant costs, including expenses relating to recalling the products, replacing defective 
items and writing down defective inventory as well as lead to the loss of potential sales.

In addition, the occurrence of such defects may give rise to product liability claims, including liability for damages caused by 
such defects if our semiconductors or the consumer products based on them malfunction and result in personal injury or death. 
Such claims could result in significant costs and expenses relating to damages and attorneys’ fees. Moreover, since the cost of 
replacing defective semiconductor devices is often much higher than the value of the devices themselves, we may at times face 
damage claims from customers that are in excess of the amounts paid to us for products, including consequential damages. We 
may even be named in product liability claims where there is no evidence that our products caused the damage in question.

Additionally, customers may recall their end products if they prove to be defective or they may make compensatory payments 
in accordance with industry or business practice or in order to maintain good customer relationships. If such a recall or payment 
is caused by a defect in one of our products, customers may seek to recover all or a portion of their losses from us. If any of 
these risks materialize, our reputation would be harmed and there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We may face significant warranty claims.

Our semiconductor devices are sold with warranties. The warranty for our products requires us to repair or replace products that 
are deficient. As a result, we bear the risk of warranty claims on all products we supply, including those manufactured by third 
parties. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in claiming under any warranty or indemnity provided to us by our 
suppliers or vendors in the event of a successful warranty claim against us by a customer, or that any recovery from such 
vendor or supplier would be adequate. Although we haven’t historically experienced deficient warranty reserves, there is a risk 
that warranty claims made against us will exceed our warranty reserve and could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations, business and/or prospects.

Significant litigation could impair our reputation and cause us to incur substantial costs.

We may be party to various lawsuits and claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims relating to 
intellectual property, customer contracts, employment matters, third-party manufacturers or subcontractors, or other aspects of 
our business. Litigation, regardless of outcome, could result in substantial costs, reputational harm and a diversion of 
management’s attention and resources. The outcome of litigation is often difficult to predict, and any litigation may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business and operations could be negatively affected if it becomes subject to any securities litigation or stockholder 
activism, which could cause us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of our business and growth strategy and 
impact our stock price.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has 
often been brought against that company. Stockholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, 
has been increasing recently. Volatility in the stock price of our Class A common stock, allegations arising in connection with 
the Transaction or other reasons may in the future cause us to become the target of securities litigation or stockholder activism. 
Securities litigation and stockholder activism, including potential proxy contests, could result in substantial costs and divert 
management’s and our Board of Directors’ attention and resources from our business. Additionally, such securities litigation 
and stockholder activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our future, adversely affect our relationships with 
service providers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel. Also, we may be required to incur 
significant legal fees and other expenses related to any securities litigation and activist stockholder matters. Further, our stock 
price could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by the events, risks and uncertainties of any 
securities litigation and stockholder activism.

We, and our customers or suppliers, are subject to export restrictions and laws affecting trade and investments that could 
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are subject to U.S. laws and regulations that could limit and restrict the export of some products and services and may 
restrict transactions with certain customers, suppliers, business partners and other persons, including, in certain cases, dealings 
with or between our employees and subsidiaries. In certain circumstances, export control and economic sanctions regulations 
may prohibit the export of certain products, services and technologies and in other circumstances we may be required to obtain 
an export license before exporting the controlled item. Where export license requirements are imposed, there can be no 
assurance that the U.S. government will grant licenses to permit the continuation of business with these customers. Compliance 
with these laws and regulations could materially limit operations or sales, which would materially and adversely affect our 
business and results of operations. 
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Our customers or suppliers could also become subject to additional U.S. regulatory scrutiny or export restrictions. For example, 
in May 2019, the U.S. president issued an executive order that invoked national emergency economic powers to implement a 
framework to regulate the acquisition or transfer of information communications technology in transactions that imposed undue 
national security risks. Additionally, the U.S. government continues to expand controls enacted in October 2022 restricting the 
ability to send certain products and technology related to semiconductors, semiconductor manufacturing to certain countries, 
Other foreign governments may in turn impose similar or more restrictive controls. These controls or any additional restrictions 
may impact our ability to export certain products to China or other countries, prohibit us from selling our products to certain of 
our customers, or impact our suppliers who may utilize facilities or equipment described in these controls. 

In addition, U.S. laws and regulations and sanctions, or threat of sanctions, that could limit and restrict the export of some of 
our products and services to customers, may also encourage customers to develop their own solutions to replace our products, 
or seek to obtain a greater supply of similar or substitute products from competitors that are not subject to these restrictions, 
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Changes in domestic or international changes in tax rates, the adoption of new tax laws or other exposure to additional tax 
liabilities could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to income and other taxes in both the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. Changes to sustained yield 
or regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate, or in the interpretation of such laws or regulations, could significantly 
increase our effective tax rate and reduce cash flow from operating activities, and otherwise have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition. In addition, other factors or events, including business combinations and investment transactions, 
changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, adjustments to taxes upon finalization of various tax returns or as 
a result of deficiencies asserted by taxing authorities, increases in expenses not deductible for tax purposes, changes in available 
tax credits, changes in transfer pricing methodologies, other changes in the apportionment of income and other activities among 
tax jurisdictions, and changes in tax rates, could also increase our effective tax rate.

Our tax filings are subject to review or audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and state, local and foreign 
taxing authorities. We exercise significant judgment in determining our worldwide provision for taxes and, in the ordinary 
course of business, there may be transactions and calculations where the proper tax treatment is uncertain. Our determinations 
are not binding on the IRS or any other taxing authorities, and accordingly the final determination in an audit or other 
proceeding may be materially different than the treatment reflected in our tax provisions, accruals and returns. An assessment of 
additional taxes because of an audit could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

Failure to comply with anti-corruption laws or violations of our internal policies designed to ensure ethical business 
practices could cause damage to our reputation, adversely affect our business and could result in substantial fines, 
sanctions, and criminal or civil penalties.

We operate in a number of countries throughout the world, including in countries that do not have as strong a commitment to 
anti-corruption and ethical behavior as is required by U.S. laws or by corporate policies. We are subject to the risk that us, our 
U.S. employees or our employees located in other jurisdictions or any third parties that we engage to do work on our behalf in 
foreign countries may take action determined to be in violation of anti-corruption laws in any jurisdiction in which we conduct 
business, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the “FCPA”). In addition, we operate in certain countries in 
which the government may take an ownership stake in an enterprise and such government ownership may not be readily 
apparent (thereby increasing potential FCPA violations). Any violation of the FCPA or any similar anti-corruption law or 
regulation could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil and/or criminal penalties and curtailment of operations in certain 
jurisdictions and might adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, we have internal 
ethics policies that we require our employees to comply with in order to ensure that our business is conducted in a manner that 
our management deems appropriate. If these anti-corruption laws or internal policies were to be violated, our reputation and 
operations could also be substantially harmed.

In order to comply with environmental laws, occupational health and safety laws and regulations, and conflict minerals 
regulations, we may need to modify our activities or incur substantial costs, liabilities, obligations and fines, or require us to 
have suppliers alter their processes.

The semiconductor industry is subject to a variety of international, federal, state, local and non-U.S. laws and regulations 
governing materials used in products and the manufacturing process, pollution, environmental protection and occupational 
health and safety. Compliance with current or future product manufacturing, environmental and occupational health and safety 
laws and regulations could restrict our ability to expand our business or require us to modify processes or incur other substantial 
expenses which could harm business. Product manufacturing, environmental and occupational health and safety laws and 
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regulations have tended to become more stringent over time, causing a need to redesign technologies, imposing greater 
compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with violations, which could seriously harm business. 

The U.S. Congress has enacted laws, and the SEC has adopted rules regarding enhanced disclosure requirements for companies 
that use specified minerals known as “conflict minerals” in their products. Some of these metals are commonly used in 
semiconductor devices, including our products. These SEC rules require companies to investigate, disclose and report whether 
or not such metals originated from the Democratic Republic of Congo or adjoining countries. We have numerous foreign 
suppliers, many of whom are not obligated by law to investigate their own supply chains. As a result, we incur costs to comply 
with the diligence and disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the relevant metals 
used in our products. In addition, because our supply chain is with third parties, we may not be able to sufficiently verify the 
origin of all the relevant metals used in our products through the due diligence procedures we implement. We may also face 
difficulties in satisfying our customers if they require that we prove or certify that our products are “conflict-free.” Key 
components and parts that can be shown to be “conflict-free” may not be available to us in sufficient quantity, or at all, or may 
only be available at significantly higher cost to us. If we are not able to meet customer requirements, customers may 
discontinue purchasing from us. Any of these outcomes could adversely impact our business, financial condition or operating 
results.

Additionally, companies across many industries are facing expanding mandatory and voluntary reporting, diligence, and 
disclosure on environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) topics such as climate change, carbon emissions, water usage, 
waste management, human capital, forced labor, and risk oversight, may expand the nature, scope, and complexity of matters 
that we are required to control, assess, and report. We expect these rapidly changing laws, regulations, policies, interpretations, 
and expectations, as well as increased enforcement actions by various governmental and regulatory agencies, will continue to 
increase the cost of our compliance and risk management programs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations, and financial condition. If our ESG practices and disclosures do not meet the expectations and standards 
of our stockholders, customers, and other industry stakeholders, our reputation and business activities also may be negatively 
impacted. 

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

A majority of our consolidated revenue is generated from product sales with a final shipping destination in China, and a portion 
of our operations are conducted in China through Wuxi, our Chinese subsidiary that we control, and therefore, we face 
additional risks and uncertainties related to doing business in China in general, including but not limited to the following:

Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect our China business.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike the common law system, prior court decisions 
under the civil law system may be cited for reference but have limited precedential value.

In 1979, the PRC government began to promulgate a comprehensive system of laws and regulations governing economic 
matters in general. The overall effect of legislation over the past four decades has significantly enhanced the protection afforded 
to various forms of foreign investments in China. However, China has not developed a fully integrated legal system, and 
recently enacted laws and regulations may not sufficiently cover all aspects of economic activities in China. In particular, the 
interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations involve uncertainties. Since PRC administrative and court 
authorities have significant discretion in interpreting and implementing statutory provisions and contractual terms, it may be 
difficult to evaluate the outcome of administrative and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy. These 
uncertainties may affect our judgment on the relevance of legal requirements and our ability to enforce our contractual rights or 
tort claims. In addition, the regulatory uncertainties may be exploited through unmerited or frivolous legal actions or threats in 
attempts to extract payments or benefits from us.

In addition, any administrative and court proceedings in China may be protracted, resulting in substantial costs and diversion of 
resources and management attention.

Uncertainties in the interpretation and enforcement of Chinese laws and regulations could limit the legal protections 
available to us.

The PRC legal system is based on written statutes and prior court decisions have limited value as precedents. Since these laws 
and regulations are relatively new and the PRC legal system continues to rapidly evolve, the interpretations of many laws, 
regulations and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involves uncertainties.

From time to time, we may have to resort to administrative and court proceedings to enforce our legal rights, including the legal 
rights of our China subsidiary. However, since PRC administrative and court authorities have significant discretion in 
interpreting and implementing statutory and contractual terms, it may be more difficult to evaluate the outcome of 
administrative and court proceedings and the level of legal protection we enjoy than in more developed legal systems. 
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Furthermore, the PRC legal system is based in part on government policies and internal rules. As a result, we may not be able to 
keep ourselves updated with these policies and rules in time. Such uncertainties, including uncertainty over the scope and effect 
of our contractual, property (including intellectual property) and procedural rights, could materially and adversely affect our 
business and impede our ability to continue our operations, including the operations of our China subsidiary.

Changes in China’s economic, political and social conditions, as well as changes in any government policies, laws and 
regulations may be quick with little advance notice and could have a material adverse effect on our China subsidiary’s 
business our results of operations.

A portion of our operations is conducted through Wuxi and a substantial portion of our consolidated revenues was generated 
from product sales with a final shipping destination in China. Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, prospects and certain transactions we may undertake may be subject, to a significant extent, to economic, political 
and legal developments in China.

China’s economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the amount of 
government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources. While the 
PRC economy has experienced significant growth in the past two to three decades, growth has been uneven, both 
geographically and among various sectors of the economy. Demand for our products and the products of Wuxi depends, in part, 
on economic conditions in China. Any slowdown in China’s economic growth may cause our potential customers to delay or 
cancel their plans to purchase our products and the products of Wuxi, which in turn could reduce our revenues.

Although China’s economy has been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy since the late 
1970s, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry development by imposing industrial 
policies. The PRC government also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth through allocating resources, 
controlling the incurrence and payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing 
preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. Changes in any of these policies, laws and regulations may be quick 
with little advance notice and could adversely affect the economy in China, or how our China subsidiary is treated as a 
company that is controlled by a U.S. company. and could have a material adverse effect on our business, the business of our 
China subsidiary and the value of our common stock.

The PRC government has implemented various measures to encourage foreign investment and sustainable economic growth 
and to guide the allocation of financial and other resources. However, we cannot assure you that the PRC government will not 
repeal or alter these measures or introduce new measures that will have a negative effect on us, or more specifically, we cannot 
assure you that the PRC government will not initiate possible governmental actions or scrutiny to us, which could substantially 
affect the operation of our China subsidiary, the operations of our customers, and the value of our common stock.

Our China subsidiary may be limited in its ability to make payments, dividends or other distributions to us.

Although Wuxi has not historically paid dividends or made distributions on equity to ADK LLC, it may be limited in its ability 
to make such distributions in the future. If Wuxi incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt 
may restrict its ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us. In addition, the PRC tax and other authorities may 
require Wuxi to adjust its taxable income in a manner that would materially and adversely affect its ability to pay dividends and 
other distributions to us.

Governmental control of currency conversion may limit our ability to utilize our net revenues effectively and affect the value 
of our securities.

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of the RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the 
remittance of currency out of China. Wuxi receives substantially all of its revenues in RMB. Under existing PRC foreign 
exchange regulations, payments of current account items, such as profit distributions and trade and service-related foreign 
exchange transactions, can be made in foreign currencies without prior approval from SAFE by complying with certain 
procedural requirements. Therefore, we believe Wuxi would be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to ADK LLC 
without prior approval from SAFE, subject to the condition that the remittance of such dividends outside of the PRC complies 
with certain procedures under PRC foreign exchange regulation, such as the overseas investment registrations by the beneficial 
owners of our company who are PRC residents. But approval from or registration with appropriate government authorities is 
required where RMB is to be converted into foreign currency and remitted out of China to pay capital expenses such as the 
repayment of loans denominated in foreign currencies.

In light of the flood of capital outflows of China in 2016 due to the weakening RMB, the PRC government has imposed more 
restrictive foreign exchange policies and stepped-up scrutiny of major outbound capital movement. More restrictions and 
substantial vetting processes are put in place by SAFE to regulate cross-border transactions falling under the capital account. 
The PRC government may also at its discretion restrict access in the future to foreign currencies for current account 
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transactions. If the foreign exchange control system prevents Wuxi from obtaining sufficient foreign currencies to satisfy its 
foreign currency demands, Wuxi may not be able to pay dividends in foreign currencies to ADK LLC.

Any failure to comply with PRC regulations regarding the registration requirements for employee stock incentive plans may 
subject the PRC plan participants or us to fines and other legal or administrative sanctions.

In February 2012, SAFE promulgated the Notices on Issues Concerning the Foreign Exchange Administration for Domestic 
Individuals Participating in Stock Incentive Plans of Overseas Publicly-Listed Companies, replacing earlier rules promulgated 
in March 2007. Pursuant to these rules, PRC citizens and non-PRC citizens who reside in China for a continuous period of not 
less than one year and who participate in any stock incentive plan of an overseas publicly listed company, subject to a few 
exceptions, are required to register with SAFE through a qualified domestic agent, and complete certain other procedures. In 
addition, an overseas entrusted institution must be retained to handle matters in connection with the exercise or sale of stock 
options and the purchase or sale of shares and interests. Failure to complete the SAFE registrations may subject them to fines 
and legal sanctions and may also limit our ability to contribute additional capital into our PRC subsidiary and limit Wuxi’s 
ability to distribute dividends to ADK LLC. Wuxi also faces regulatory uncertainties that could restrict its ability to adopt 
additional incentive plans for its directors, executive officers and employees under PRC law.

In light of recent events indicating greater oversight by the Cyberspace Administration of China over data security, 
particularly for companies seeking to list on a foreign exchange, though such oversight is not applicable to us, we may be 
subject to a variety of PRC laws and other obligations regarding data protection and any other rules, and any failure to 
comply with applicable laws and obligations could have a material and adverse effect on our business, our listing on the 
Nasdaq Capital Market, financial condition, and results of operations.

Even though, currently, we and Wuxi are not subject to PRC laws relating to the collection, use, sharing, retention, security, and 
transfer of confidential and private information, such as personal information and other data, these laws continue to develop, 
and the PRC government may adopt other rules and restrictions in the future. Non-compliance could result in penalties or other 
significant legal liabilities.

The Cybersecurity Law, the Cybersecurity Review Measures and the PRC’s Data Security Law impose regulations, review and 
conditions on the storage, security, purchase, collection and use of personal information and important data collected and 
generated by a critical information infrastructure operator (“CIIO”) in the course of its operations in China, including on the 
purchase of data affecting national security. The exact scope of what constitutes a “CIIO” remains unclear. Further, the PRC 
government authorities may have wide discretion in the interpretation and enforcement of these laws. While our business and 
Wuxi’s business do not currently include the type of activities subject to this regulation, there remains uncertainty about the 
final content of these and other regulations, interpretation and implementation, and various other implications. It also remains 
uncertain whether any future regulatory changes would impose additional restrictions on companies like us and Wuxi.

As of the date of this report, we have not received any notice from any authorities identifying us or Wuxi as a CIIO or requiring 
us to undertake a cybersecurity review by the CAC. Further, we have not been subject to any penalties, fines, suspensions, or 
investigations from any competent authorities for violation of the regulations or policies that have been issued by the CAC to 
date. We believe that neither we nor Wuxi are subject to the cybersecurity review by the CAC, given that we are a manufacturer 
and not engaged in any operation of information infrastructure. However, there remains uncertainty as to how the regulations 
will be interpreted or implemented and whether the PRC regulatory agencies, including the CAC, may adopt new laws, 
regulations, rules, or detailed implementation and interpretation. If any such new laws, regulations, rules, or implementation 
and interpretation come into effect, we expect to take all reasonable measures and actions to comply, but any such future laws, 
regulations or review could be time-consuming and costly to comply with, and could have a material impact on our and our 
Wuxi’s operations and financial results.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property, Technology and Cybersecurity

We rely to a significant extent on proprietary intellectual property. We may not be able to protect this intellectual property 
against improper use by our competitors or others.

Our success and future revenue growth depend, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary technology, products, designs 
and fabrication processes, and other intellectual property, against misappropriation by others. We primarily rely on patent, 
copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and other methods, to protect our intellectual 
property. We may have difficulty obtaining patents and other intellectual property rights to protect our proprietary products, 
technology and intellectual property, and the patents and other intellectual property rights received may be insufficient to 
provide us with meaningful protection or commercial advantage. We may not obtain patent protection or secure other 
intellectual property rights in all the countries in which we operate, and under the laws of such countries, patents and other 
intellectual property rights may be or become unavailable or limited in scope. Even if new patents are issued, the claims 
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allowed may not be sufficiently broad to effectively protect proprietary technology, processes and other intellectual property. In 
addition, any of our existing patents, and any future patents issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented.

Further, proprietary technology, designs and processes and other intellectual property may be vulnerable to disclosure or 
misappropriation by employees, contractors and other persons. It is possible that competitors or other unauthorized third parties 
may obtain, copy, use or disclose our proprietary technologies, products, designs, processes and other intellectual property 
despite efforts to protect intellectual property. While we have a number of patent filings in process, there can be no assurances 
that these patents will be issued or that any rights will be granted and provide meaningful protection against misappropriation of 
intellectual property. Competitors may also be able to develop similar technology independently or design around our patents. 
We may not have or pursue patents or pending applications in all the countries in which we operate corresponding to all 
primary patents and applications. Even if patents are granted, effective enforcement in some countries may not be available. In 
particular, intellectual property rights are difficult to enforce in countries where the application and enforcement of the laws 
governing such rights may not have reached the same level as compared to other jurisdictions where we operate. Consequently, 
operating in some countries may subject us to an increased risk that unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise use 
intellectual property or the intellectual property of suppliers or other parties with whom we engage. There is no assurance that 
we will be able to protect our intellectual property rights or have adequate legal recourse in the event that we seek legal or 
judicial enforcement of our intellectual property rights under the laws of such countries. Any inability on our part to adequately 
protect our intellectual property may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We may become party to intellectual property claims or litigation that could cause us to incur substantial costs, pay 
substantial damages or prohibit us from selling our products.

The semiconductor industry is characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. From 
time to time, we may receive communications from third parties that allege that our products or technologies infringe their 
patent or other intellectual property rights. Lawsuits or other proceedings resulting from allegations of infringement could 
subject us to significant liability for damages, invalidate our proprietary rights and adversely affect our business. In the event 
that any third party succeeds in asserting a valid claim against us or any of our customers, we could be forced to do one or more 
of the following:

• discontinue selling, importing or using certain technologies that contain the allegedly infringing intellectual property which
could cause us to stop manufacturing certain products;

• seek to develop non-infringing technologies, which may not be feasible;
• incur significant legal expenses;
• pay substantial monetary damages to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing; and/or
• we or our customers could be required to seek licenses to the infringed technology that may not be available on

commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

If a third party causes us to discontinue the use of any technologies, we could be required to design around those technologies. 
This could be costly and time consuming and could have an adverse effect on our financial results. Any significant impairments 
of intellectual property rights from any litigation we face could materially and adversely impact our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and our ability to compete.

Certain software that we use in our products is licensed from third parties and may not be available to us in the future, 
which may delay product development and production or cause us to incur additional expense.

Some of our solutions contain software licensed from third parties, some of which may not be available to us in the future on 
terms that are acceptable to us or allow our products to remain competitive. The loss of these licenses or the inability to 
maintain any of them on commercially acceptable terms could delay development of future products or the enhancement of 
existing products.

Interruptions in our information systems or networks, including attempted security breaches and other cybersecurity 
incidents, could adversely affect our business.

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information technology applications, including third-party 
cloud applications, systems and networks to operate our business. The reliability and security of information technology 
infrastructure and software, and our ability to expand and continually update technologies in response to changing needs is 
critical to our business. Any significant interruption in these applications, systems or networks, including but not limited to new 
system implementations, computer viruses, cybersecurity incidents, facility issues or energy blackouts, could have a material 
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business also depends on various outsourced IT services. We rely on third-party vendors to provide critical services and to 
adequately address cybersecurity threats to their own systems. Any failure of third-party systems and services to operate 
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effectively could disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Cybersecurity incidents involving our information systems and networks could result in the misappropriation of proprietary 
information and technology. Although we have taken steps to protect the security of our information systems and networks and 
the data maintained in those systems and networks, we may experience cybersecurity incidents of varying degrees. It is possible 
that our current information systems and cybersecurity risk management processes, safety and security measures will not 
prevent against improper access, data loss, disclosure of proprietary information, or business disruptions in the event of a 
cybersecurity incident. We continue to develop our cybersecurity risk management processes, including hiring additional 
personnel and implementing tools, to address an increasingly complex cybersecurity threat landscape, but we cannot assure you 
that our safety and security measures will prevent all cybersecurity incidents and we may not have sufficient resources to 
adequately protect against, or to investigate and remediate against all cybersecurity incidents. Additionally, external events, like 
the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and increased trade tensions between the U.S. and China can increase the likelihood of 
cybersecurity incidents. There can be no assurance that any cybersecurity incident will not have a material impact on our 
operations and financial results. There are many evolving risks to cybersecurity, data protection and privacy, including criminal 
hackers, state-sponsored intrusions, industrial espionage, employee malfeasance, and human or technological error. In the event 
of a security breach or other cybersecurity incident, we, our customers or other third parties could be exposed to potential 
liability, litigation, and regulatory action, as well as the loss of existing or potential customers, damage to reputation, and other 
financial loss.

The cost and operational consequences of responding to security breaches and other cybersecurity incidents and implementing 
remediation measures could be significant. We could also be impacted by existing and proposed laws and regulations, as well 
as government policies and practices related to cybersecurity, privacy and data protection. 

Further, we rely on third-party service providers and technologies to operate critical business systems to process sensitive 
information in a variety of contexts, including, without limitation, cloud-based infrastructure, encryption and authentication 
technology, employee email, and other similar functions. These third parties may suffer unexpected power losses or computer 
system or data network failures that negatively impacts the systems or solutions on which we rely. If our third-party service 
providers also experience a security incident or other type of interruption or if an unexpected flaw or failed software update 
related to third-party software used in our information systems occurs, even if inadvertent, our information systems may 
become disabled or inaccessible and access to our data and other business information may be limited, which could materially 
disrupt our operations.

Cybersecurity incidents could result in interruptions or delays to us, our customers, or other third-party operations or services, 
financial loss, potential liability, and damage to our reputation and affect our relationships with customers and suppliers. 

Further, we may be subject to theft, loss, or misuse of personal and confidential data regarding our employees, customers and 
suppliers that is routinely collected, used, stored, and transferred to run our business. Such theft, loss, or misuse could result in 
significantly increased business and security costs or costs related to defending legal claims.

Global privacy, data protection and cybersecurity legislation, enforcement, and policy activity are rapidly expanding and 
creating a complex regulatory compliance environment. In addition, even inadvertent failure to comply with federal, state, or 
international privacy-related, data protection or cybersecurity laws and regulations could result in proceedings against us by 
governmental entities or others. Our costs to comply with and implement these measures could be significant.

Risks Related to Financial Reporting, Internal Controls and Being a Public Company

We may not be able to timely and effectively implement and maintain controls and procedures required by Section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act that are applicable to us, which could result in materially misstated financial reporting.

As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which require management to establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal controls 
over financial reporting. In addition, as a public company, we are required to document and test our internal controls over 
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify the effectiveness of 
our internal controls over financial reporting. Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404(a)”) requires that 
management assess and report annually on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and identify any 
material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting and Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 
404(b)”) requires our independent registered public accounting firm to issue an annual report that addresses the effectiveness of 
our internal controls over financial reporting.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results. As a 
result, our stakeholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could adversely affect the results of our business 
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and our enterprise value. For example, in connection with our assessment of internal control over financial reporting, we 
identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. The deficiencies above 
led to certain misstatements which were corrected prior to the issuance of the current year financial statements. These material 
weaknesses create a reasonable possibility that material misstatements to our consolidated financial statements may not be 
prevented or detected in a timely manner. Although these material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2024, we 
cannot assure that additional material weaknesses will not arise in the future. Any failure to achieve and maintain effective 
internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on the market for our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

We undertake significant efforts to strengthen our processes and systems and adapt them to changes as our business evolves, 
including with respect to being a publicly traded company. This continuous process of maintaining and adapting our internal 
controls is expensive and time-consuming, and requires significant management attention. We cannot be certain that our 
internal control measures will provide adequate control over our financial processes and reporting. Furthermore, as our business 
evolves, and if we expand through acquisitions of other companies, make significant investments in other companies or enter 
into joint development and similar arrangements, our internal controls may become more complex, and we will require 
significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls remain effective. Failure to implement required new or improved 
controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our 
reporting obligations. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify material weaknesses in the future, the 
disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remediated, could reduce the market’s confidence in our financial statements and harm 
our enterprise value.

We incur significant expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act, including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC, the 
Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board and the securities exchanges, impose various reporting and other obligations on public companies. These 
public company rules and regulations requires our management and other personnel to devote a substantial amount of time to 
compliance with these obligations. Moreover, these rules and regulations contribute to increased legal and financial compliance 
costs and make some activities costly, including activities associated with meeting SEC reporting requirements. These increased 
costs, which have included expanding our employee base and hiring additional employees to support our operations as a public 
company, require us to divert a significant amount of money that could otherwise be used to expand the business and achieve 
strategic objectives. It is also expensive to maintain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated with our status as a 
public company may also make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the Board of Directors or as 
executive officers. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and 
reporting requirements, which could further increase costs. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those requirements are 
identified, we have in the past, and could in the future, incur additional costs rectifying those issues, and the existence of those 
issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor perceptions of it.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our existing and future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

As of December 31, 2024, our total consolidated indebtedness was $381.3 million. We may also incur additional indebtedness 
to meet future financing needs. We may be subject to debt covenants and payment obligations that may limit our ability to 
operate our business. Any outstanding indebtedness, including any additional future indebtedness, combined with our other 
financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse consequences, including:

• requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash resources to the payment of interest and principal, reducing our cash available
to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product candidate development and other general corporate purposes;

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market Conditions, such as interest rate
fluctuations;

• subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or
equity financing;

• acceleration of payment of our debt obligations upon a default of payment;
• potential loss of collateral for secured indebtedness;
• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and
• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

Additionally, if we issue shares of our Class A common stock upon conversion of our 4.50% convertible notes with a principal 
balance of $160.0 million outstanding as of December 31, 2024 (the “2027 Notes”) and of our 3.50% convertible notes with a 
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principal balance of $218.5 million outstanding as of December 31, 2024 (the “2029 Notes” and together with the 2027 Notes, 
the “Convertible Notes”), the ownership interest of our existing stockholders would be diluted. A default of our obligations 
regarding our debt could result in potential loss of collateral for any secured indebtedness that may be outstanding.

Our ability to meet our debt servicing obligations, including our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay 
interest on or to refinance the Convertible Notes, will depend on our future performance, which will be subject to financial, 
business and other factors affecting our operations, some of which are beyond our control. Our business may not generate cash 
flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our debt, including the Convertible Notes, and make necessary capital 
expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling 
assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to 
otherwise settle the Convertible Notes will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not 
be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on the 
Convertible Notes. Furthermore, the Convertible Notes are our obligations exclusively and are not guaranteed by any of our 
operating subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, 
and may not be able, or may not be permitted, to make distributions to enable us to make payments on the Convertible Notes or 
to make any funds available for that purpose.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle the Convertible Notes or to repurchase the Convertible 
Notes upon a fundamental change, and our future debt may contain limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion 
or repurchase of the Convertible Notes.

Holders of the Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase their respective Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of a 
fundamental change at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the applicable Convertible Notes, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely 
shares of our Class A common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), 
we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the Convertible Notes being converted. However, we may not have 
enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of Convertible Notes being 
surrendered or converted. In addition, our ability to repurchase the Convertible Notes or to pay cash upon conversions of the 
Convertible Notes may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements governing our future indebtedness. Our 
failure to repurchase Convertible Notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the indenture or to pay any cash payable on 
future conversions of the Convertible Notes as required by the indenture would constitute a default under the indenture. A 
default under the indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under agreements governing our future 
indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, 
we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the Convertible Notes or make cash payments upon 
conversions thereof.

Provisions in the indentures for the Convertible Notes may deter or prevent a business combination that stockholders may 
consider favorable.

If a fundamental change (as defined in the Convertible Notes) occurs prior to the respective maturity dates, subject to certain 
limited exceptions, holders of the Convertible Notes will have the right, at their option, to require us to repurchase all or a 
portion of their Convertible Notes. In addition, if a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in the Convertible Notes) 
occurs prior to the maturity date, we will in some cases be required to increase the conversion rate for a holder that elects to 
convert its Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. Furthermore, the indenture for the 
Convertible Notes will prohibit us from engaging in certain mergers or acquisitions unless, among other things, the surviving 
entity assumes our obligations under the Convertible Notes. These and other provisions in the Convertible Notes could deter or 
prevent a third party from acquiring us even when stockholders may consider the acquisition to be favorable.

The accounting method for reflecting the Convertible Notes may adversely affect our reported earnings and financial 
condition. 

The interest expense that we expect to recognize for the Convertible Notes for accounting purposes will be greater than the cash 
interest payments we will pay on the Convertible Notes, which will result in lower reported net income or higher reported net 
loss, as the case may be. In addition, we expect that the shares underlying the Convertible Notes will be reflected in our diluted 
earnings per share using the “if converted” method. However, if reflecting the Convertible Notes in diluted earnings per share is 
anti-dilutive, then the shares underlying the Convertible Notes will not be reflected in our diluted earnings per share. 
Accounting standards may change in the future in a manner that may adversely affect our diluted earnings per share. 
Furthermore, if any of the conditions to the convertibility of the Convertible Notes is satisfied, then we may be required under 
applicable accounting standards to reclassify the liability carrying value of the Convertible Notes as a current, rather than a 
long-term, liability. This reclassification could be required even if no holders convert their Convertible Notes and could 
materially reduce our reported working capital.
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The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and 
operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Notes is triggered, holders of Convertible Notes will be 
entitled to convert their respective Convertible Notes at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders 
elect to convert their Convertible Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of our 
Class A common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a 
portion or all of our conversion obligation through the payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, 
even if holders do not elect to convert their Convertible Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to 
reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Convertible Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which 
would result in a material reduction of our net working capital. 

The capped call transactions relating to the 2029 Notes may affect the value of the 2029 Notes and our Class A common 
stock.

In connection with the issuance of the 2029 Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with option 
counterparties. The capped call transactions cover, subject to customary adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to 
the 2029 Notes, the number of shares of our Class A common stock initially underlying the 2029 Notes. The capped call 
transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our Class A common stock upon any conversion of the 
2029 Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 
2029 Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap.

The option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding 
various derivatives with respect to our Class A common stock and/or purchasing or selling our Class A common stock or other 
securities of ours in secondary market transactions following issuance of the 2029 Notes and prior to the maturity of the 2029 
Notes (and are likely to do so during any observation period related to a conversion of 2029 Notes or, to the extent we exercise 
the relevant election under the capped call transactions, following any repurchase or redemption of the 2029 Notes). This 
activity could increase (or reduce the size of any decrease in) the market price of our Class A common stock or the market value 
of the 2029 Notes at that time.

The potential effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the price of our Class A common stock or 2029 Notes will 
depend in part on market conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time. Any of these activities could adversely affect the 
value of our common stock.

We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions related to the 2029 Notes.

The option counterparties are financial institutions, and we will be subject to the risk that any or all of them might default under 
the capped call transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties will not be secured by any collateral. 
Past global economic conditions have resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial 
institutions and could adversely affect the option counterparties’ performance under the capped call transactions. If an option 
counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a 
claim equal to our exposure at that time under the capped call transactions with such option counterparty. Our exposure will 
depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be correlated to an increase in the market price and in 
the volatility of our common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer more dilution than we 
currently anticipate with respect to our common stock. We can provide no assurance as to the financial stability or viability of 
the option counterparties.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in ADK LLC, and we are accordingly dependent upon 
distributions made by our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of ADK LLC units and our managing member 
interest in ADK LLC. As a result, we will have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. Our ability to pay 
taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends will depend on the financial results and cash 
flows of ADK LLC and its subsidiaries and the distributions we receive from ADK LLC. Deterioration in the financial 
condition, earnings or cash flow of ADK LLC and its subsidiaries for any reason could limit or impair ADK LLC’s ability to 
pay such distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and ADK LLC and/or any of its subsidiaries are restricted 
from making such distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or ADK 
LLC is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
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ADK LLC will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be 
subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to holders of ADK LLC units. 
Accordingly, we will be required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of ADK LLC. Under the 
terms of the Amended Operating Agreement, ADK LLC is obligated to make tax distributions to holders of ADK LLC units 
(including members of ADK LLC prior to the Transaction (“indie Equity Holders”) and us) calculated at certain assumed tax 
rates. In addition to tax expenses, we will also incur expenses related to our operations, including payment obligations under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement (and the cost of administering such payment obligations), which could be significant. We intend to 
cause ADK LLC to make distributions to holders of ADK LLC units in amounts sufficient to cover all applicable taxes 
(calculated at assumed tax rates), relevant operating expenses, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and dividends, if 
any, declared by us. However, as discussed below, ADK LLC’s ability to make such distributions may be subject to various 
limitations and restrictions including, but not limited to, restrictions on distributions that would either violate any contract or 
agreement to which ADK LLC is then a party, including debt agreements, or any applicable law, or that would have the effect 
of rendering ADK LLC insolvent. If our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement and to fund our obligations, we may be required to incur additional indebtedness to provide the liquidity needed to 
make such payments, which could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition and subject us to various 
restrictions imposed by any such lenders. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid; provided, however, that 
nonpayment for a specified period may constitute a material breach of a material obligation under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement and therefore accelerate payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Additionally, although ADK LLC generally will not be subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax, it may be liable 
under recent federal tax legislation for adjustments to its tax return, absent an election to the contrary. In the event ADK LLC’s 
calculations of taxable income are incorrect, its members, including us, in later years may be subject to material liabilities 
pursuant to this federal legislation and its related guidance.

We anticipate that the distributions we will receive from ADK LLC may, in certain periods, exceed our actual tax liabilities and 
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, will make 
any determination from time to time with respect to the use of any such excess cash so accumulated, which may include, among 
other uses, to acquire additional newly issued ADK LLC units from ADK LLC at a per unit price determined by reference to 
the market value of the Class A common stock; to pay dividends, which may include special dividends, on our Class A 
common stock; to fund repurchases of Class A common stock; or any combination of the foregoing. We will have no obligation 
to distribute such cash (or other available cash other than any declared dividend) to our stockholders. To the extent that we do 
not distribute such excess cash as dividends on Class A common stock or otherwise undertake ameliorative actions between 
ADK LLC units and shares of Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances, holders of ADK LLC 
units that held interests in ADK LLC pre-Transaction may benefit from any value attributable to such cash balances as a result 
of their ownership of Class A common stock following an exchange of their ADK LLC units, notwithstanding that such holders 
may previously have participated as holders of ADK LLC units in distributions by ADK LLC that resulted in such excess cash 
balances held by us. 

Dividends on our common stock, if any, will be paid at the discretion of our Board of Directors, which will consider, among 
other things, our business, operating results, financial condition, current and expected cash needs, plans for expansion and any 
legal or contractual limitations on our ability to pay such dividends. Financing arrangements may include restrictive covenants 
that restrict our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to our stockholders. In addition, ADK LLC is generally 
prohibited under state law from making a distribution to a member to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving 
effect to the distribution, liabilities of ADK LLC (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. ADK LLC’s 
subsidiaries are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to ADK LLC. If ADK LLC 
does not have sufficient funds to make distributions, our ability to declare and pay cash dividends may also be restricted or 
impaired.

Under the Tax Receivable Agreement, we will be required to pay 85% of the tax benefits relating to tax depreciation or 
amortization deductions as a result of the tax basis step-up we receive in connection with the exchanges of ADK LLC units 
into our Class A common stock and related transactions, and those payments may be substantial.

Certain indie Equity Holders may exchange their ADK LLC units for shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the 
Exchange Agreement, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions as set forth therein and in the Amended Operating 
Agreement. These exchanges are expected to result in increases in our allocable share of the tax basis of the tangible and 
intangible assets of ADK LLC. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization 
deductions and therefore reduce the amount of income or franchise tax that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future 
had such exchanges never occurred.

In connection with the Transaction, we entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement, which generally provides for the payment 
by us of 85% of certain tax benefits, if any, that we realize (or in certain cases are deemed to realize) as a result of these 
increases in tax basis and certain tax attributes of the ADK Blocker Group and tax benefits related to entering into the Tax 
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Receivable Agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. These payments 
are the obligations of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and not of ADK LLC. The actual increase in our allocable share of ADK LLC’s 
tax basis in its assets, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary 
depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the market price of the Class A common stock at the 
time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of the recognition of our 
income. While many of the factors that will determine the amount of payments that we will make under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement are outside of our control, we expect that the payments we will make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be 
substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Any payments made by us under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement will generally reduce the amount of overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available to us. To 
the extent that we are unable to make timely payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, the unpaid amounts 
will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid. Furthermore, our future obligation to make payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement could make us a less attractive target for an acquisition, particularly in the case of an acquirer that 
cannot use some or all of the tax benefits that may be deemed realized under the Tax Receivable Agreement. 

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may exceed the actual tax benefits we realize or may be 
accelerated.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine, and the Internal 
Revenue Service (the “IRS”) or another taxing authority may challenge all or any part of the tax basis increases, as well as other 
tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event any tax benefits initially claimed by us are 
disallowed, the indie Equity Holders will not be required to reimburse us for any excess payments that may previously have 
been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by taxing 
authorities. Rather, excess payments made to such holders will be netted against any future cash payments otherwise required to 
be made by us, if any, after the determination of such excess. However, a challenge to any tax benefits initially claimed by us 
may not arise for a number of years following the initial time of such payment or, even if challenged early, such excess cash 
payment may be greater than the amount of future cash payments that we might otherwise be required to make under the terms 
of the Tax Receivable Agreement and, as a result, there might not be future cash payments from which to net against. As a 
result, in certain circumstances we could make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income 
or franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial condition.

Moreover, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in the event that (i) we exercise our early termination rights under the 
Tax Receivable Agreement, (ii) we become bankrupt or undergo a similar insolvency event, (iii) certain changes of control 
occur (as described in the Tax Receivable Agreement) or (iv) we are more than three months late in making of a payment due 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement (unless we in good faith determine that we have insufficient funds to make such 
payment), our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement will accelerate and we will be required to make an immediate 
lump-sum cash payment to the indie Equity Holders equal to the present value of all forecasted future payments that would 
have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum payment would be based on certain 
assumptions, including those relating to our future taxable income. The lump-sum payment to the indie Equity Holders could be 
substantial and could exceed the actual tax benefits that we realize subsequent to such payment because such payment would be 
calculated assuming, among other things, that we would be able to use the assumed potential tax benefits in future years, and 
that tax rates applicable to us would be the same as they were in the year of the termination.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual 
income or franchise tax savings that we realize. Furthermore, our obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement could also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business 
combinations or other changes of control. We may need to incur additional indebtedness to finance payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement to the extent its cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise. Such indebtedness may have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock and Organizational Documents

There can be no assurance we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq for our Class A 
common stock.

Our Class A common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. In order to maintain such listing, we must satisfy 
minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards, including those regarding director independence and 
independent committee requirements, minimum stockholders’ equity, minimum share price, and certain corporate governance 
requirements. There can be no assurances that we will be able to comply with the applicable listing standards. Although we are 
currently in compliance with such listing standards, we may in the future fall out of compliance with such standards. If we are 
unable to maintain compliance with these Nasdaq requirements, our Class A common stock will be delisted from Nasdaq. If 
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Nasdaq delists our Class A common stock from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the listing standards, we and our 
security holders could face significant material adverse consequences including:

• a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;
• reduced liquidity for our securities;
• a determination that shares of the Class A common stock are “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in the Class

A common stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary
trading market for our securities;

• a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

An investment in our Class A common stock may be diluted by the future issuance of additional Class A common stock or 
LLC Units in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise.

As of December 31, 2024, we have 400,000,000 shares of Class A common stock authorized, including 17,671,251 shares of 
Class A common stock issuable upon exchange of ADK LLC units that are held by certain indie Equity Holders, 5,000,000 
shares of Class A common stock issuable upon achievement of earn-out, 4,851,844 shares of Class A common stock reserved 
for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan and 3,486,188 shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the 
2023 Inducement Incentive Plan as described below. Additionally, in connection with our recent acquisitions, we may elect to 
pay certain contingent considerations due upon achievement of milestone targets in shares of Class A common stock. Our 
Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue these shares of Class A common stock and options, rights, warrants and 
appreciation rights relating to Class A common stock for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our 
Board of Directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. Similarly, the Amended 
Operating Agreement permits ADK LLC to issue an unlimited number of additional limited liability company interests of ADK 
LLC with designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be senior to, those applicable to 
the ADK LLC units, and which may be exchangeable for shares of Class A common stock. Any Class A common stock that we 
issue, including under the Equity Incentive Plan or other equity incentive plans that we may adopt in the future, would dilute 
the percentage ownership held by the investors who own shares of Class A common stock.

As of December 31, 2024, 190,888,408 shares of Class A common stock have been issued.

There may be sales of a substantial amount of Class A common stock by our stockholders and these sales could cause the 
price of our securities to fall.

Pursuant to registration rights we have granted to certain stockholders, certain stockholders are entitled to demand that we 
register the resale of their securities subject to certain minimum requirements. These parties may sell large amounts of our Class 
A common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, which could have the effect of increasing the 
volatility in the share price of Class A common stock or putting significant downward pressure on the price of our Class A 
common stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales will occur, 
could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and make it difficult for us to raise funds through 
securities offerings in the future.

Delaware law and our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover 
provisions, that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that 
stockholders may consider favorable.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), contain 
provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may 
consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These 
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and 
therefore depress the trading price of our Class A common stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders 
to elect directors who are not nominated by the current members of our Board of Directors, effect changes in management or 
take other corporate actions. Among other things, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include provisions regarding:

• a classified Board of Directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our Board of Directors;

• the ability of our Board of Directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to
determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval,
which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;
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• the right of our Board of Directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board of Directors or
the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board
of Directors;

• the requirement that directors may only be removed from our Board of Directors for cause;
• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our Board of Directors, the chairman of our

Board of Directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration of a
proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of meetings of our Board of Directors and stockholders;
• the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of 66⅔% of the voting power of our outstanding voting capital stock,

voting together as a single class to amend, alter, change or repeal certain provisions in the Certificate of Incorporation and
the Bylaws, respectively, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of
stockholders and delay changes in our Board of Directors and also may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such
amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• the ability of our Board of Directors to amend the Bylaws, which may allow our Board of Directors to take additional
actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the Bylaws to facilitate an
unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our Board of Directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters
before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our Board of Directors and also may discourage or
deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise
attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our Board of 
Directors or management.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are generally subject to provisions of Delaware law, including the DGCL. Although 
we have elected not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL, certain provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, in a 
manner substantially similar to Section 203 of the DGCL, prohibit certain stockholders (other than those stockholders who are 
party to a stockholders’ agreement with us) who hold 15% or more of our outstanding capital stock from engaging in certain 
business combination transactions with us for a specified period of time unless certain conditions are met. 

Any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a 
change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and 
could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum 
for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ 
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for any (1) 
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any 
director, officer, employee or stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders, (3) action arising pursuant to any provision of the 
DGCL or our Certificate of Incorporation or our Bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of 
Chancery, or (4) action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine (the “Delaware Exclusive Forum 
Provision”). Our Certificate of Incorporation also provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative 
forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint 
asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the inclusion of such provision in 
our Certificate of Incorporation will not be deemed to be a waiver by our stockholders of our obligation to comply with federal 
securities laws, rules and regulations, and the provisions of this paragraph will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability 
or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal district courts of the United States of America 
shall be the sole and exclusive forum. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of our 
capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum provisions in our Certificate of 
Incorporation. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of the Delaware Exclusive Forum Provision is filed 
in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware (a “foreign action”) in the name of any stockholder, such 
stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to: (x) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located within the 
State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum provisions (an “enforcement 
action”), and (y) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such enforcement action by service upon such 
stockholder’s counsel in the foreign action as agent for such stockholder.

This choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for 
disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court 
were to find this provision of our Certificate of Incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the 
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specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other 
jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and result 
in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and Board of Directors.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY 

Risk Assessment 

We have developed policies and processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risk from cybersecurity threats 
informed by industry-recognized standards. We have integrated these processes into our overall risk management systems and 
programs. Our cybersecurity program includes, among other things: procedures to assess material risk from cybersecurity 
threats, protocols to monitor any potential unauthorized access to, or conducted through, our information systems that may 
result in adverse effects on the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our information systems or any information residing 
therein, mechanisms to safeguard network infrastructure, mandatory employee training on information security, and assessing 
the sufficiency of existing policies, procedures, systems, controls and other safeguards in place to manage such risks. As part of 
our risk management process, we have engaged and expect to continue to engage third party experts to help identify and assess 
risks from cybersecurity threats. Our risk management process is also designed to address cybersecurity risks associated with 
our use of third-party service providers, and includes procedures such as reviewing security audits and controls of these 
providers during the onboarding process.

In connection with these risk assessments, we design, implement and maintain reasonable safeguards to minimize the identified 
risks and address identified gaps in existing safeguards, update existing safeguards as necessary and monitor the effectiveness 
of our safeguards.

As of December 31, 2024, we have not identified any risks from cybersecurity threats (including as a result of any previous 
cybersecurity incidents) that have materially affected our business strategy, our results of operations or our financial condition, 
but there can be no guarantee that we will not experience a cybersecurity incident in the future. We can give no assurance that 
we have detected or protected against all cybersecurity threats or cybersecurity incidents.

For further discussion of cybersecurity risks, please see our Risk Factors discussion under the heading, “Risks Related to Our 
Intellectual Property, Technology and Cybersecurity.” 

Governance

Our Board of Directors (the “Board”) has oversight responsibility over the Company’s strategy and risk management, including 
material risks related to cybersecurity threats. The Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) oversees the 
management of systemic risks, including cybersecurity, in accordance with its charter. The Audit Committee receives periodic 
reports from management concerning our significant cybersecurity threats and risks and the processes we have implemented to 
address them, and engages in discussions with management regarding the Company’s significant risk exposures and the 
measures implemented to monitor and control these risks. These discussions include a review of our cybersecurity-related risk 
assessment and risk management policies.

Management, in coordination with our information technology department, is responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, 
helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into our overall risk management strategy, and communicating key 
priorities to relevant personnel. Management, along with our information technology department, is responsible for approving 
budgets, approving cybersecurity processes, and reviewing cybersecurity assessments and other cybersecurity-related matters.

Our cybersecurity incident response and vulnerability management processes are designed to escalate cybersecurity incidents to 
members of management depending on the circumstances. Our information technology department works with management, 
including the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to help mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents of 
which they are notified. Our information technology department, led by our director of information technology, includes 
individuals with over 20 years of prior work experience in various roles involving security, compliance, systems and risk 
management implementation. In addition, our incident response processes include procedures for reporting material 
cybersecurity incidents to the Audit Committee for material cybersecurity incidents. 

 ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California with design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Detroit, Michigan; San 
Jose, California; Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; 
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Edinburgh, Scotland; Schlieren, Switzerland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec City and Toronto, Canada; Seoul, South 
Korea; Tokyo, Japan, and several locations throughout China. We engage subcontractors to manufacture our products. The 
majority of these subcontractors are located in Asia. We periodically evaluate our facility requirements as necessary and believe 
our existing and planned facilities are sufficient for our needs for at least the next 12 months. The following table sets forth our 
principal facilities: 

Location Square Footage Location Square Footage
Aliso Viejo, California 18,000 Ontario, Canada 10,377
Austin, Texas 5,753 Quebec City, Canada 50,050
Detroit, Michigan 32,700 San Jose, California 24,209
Edinburgh, Scotland 5,328 Schlieren, Switzerland 11,108
Frankfurt (Oder), Germany 10,646 Shanghai, China 5,162
Haifa, Israel 6,749 Suzhou, China 6,841

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time, we may be involved in disputes, legal proceedings, governmental actions, or subject to claims incident to the 
ordinary course of business. The outcome of legal proceedings is inherently uncertain, and there can be no assurances that 
favorable outcomes will be obtained. Further, regardless of the outcome, such proceedings or claims can have an adverse 
impact on us, which may be material because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “INDI”. 

(b) Holders of Common Stock

As of February 24, 2025, there were approximately 176 holders of record of our Class A common stock, which include the 
number of stockholders that hold shares in “street name” through banks or broker-dealers.

(c) Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares to date. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the 
discretion of our Board of Directors at such time. In addition, our Board of Directors is not currently contemplating and does 
not anticipate declaring any share dividends in the foreseeable future.

(d) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In November 2022, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase, from time to time, of up to $50.0 million of Class A 
common stock and/or warrants to purchase common stock. There were no repurchases of common stock made during the three 
months ended December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, $42.6 million of the approved balance remains available for 
future repurchases.

(e) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On various dates between October 12, 2024 and December 16, 2024, the Company issued an aggregate of 433,278 shares of its 
Class A common stock to three ADK Minority Holders in exchange for an equal number of their ADK LLC units. The shares 
of Class A common stock were issued to the two ADK Minority Holders in reliance on the exemption under Section 4(a)(2) of 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). In connection with such exchange, 373,081 shares of Class V 
common stock held by the ADK Minority Holders were cancelled and 60,197 shares of ADK LLC units were exchanged for 
Class A common stock.

On November 6, 2024 in connection with the acquisition of Exalos AG, we issued 2,845,243 shares of our Class A common 
stock as payment for a portion of contingent consideration due upon achievement of certain Exalos AG revenue-based targets. 
The securities were issued by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

On December 17, 2024 in connection with the acquisition of Geo Semiconductor, Inc., we issued 1,015,621 shares of our Class 
A common stock as payment for a portion of contingent consideration due upon achievement of certain Geo Semiconductors, 
Inc. revenue-based targets. The securities were issued by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended. 

(f) Performance Graph

The following graph and table compare our stock performance to three stock indices since June 10, 2021, our first trading day, 
assuming $100 investment was made:
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indie Semiconductor, Inc. NASDAQ Capital Market Composite PHLX Semiconductor Sector
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indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ 100 $ 111 $ 54 $ 75 $ 37 
Nasdaq Capital Market Composite $ 100 $ 82 $ 46 $ 41 $ 40 
PHLX Semiconductor Sector $ 100 $ 123 $ 79 $ 130 $ 155 

Past stock price performance is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS OF INDIE

Throughout this section, unless otherwise noted, “indie” refers to indie Semiconductor, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The following discussion and analysis provides information that management believes is relevant to an assessment and 
understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. You should read this discussion and analysis 
in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this 
Form 10-K. Certain amounts may not foot due to rounding. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements 
and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described under the sections entitled “Risk 
Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We assume 
no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements except as required by law. Actual results may differ materially 
from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

OUR COMPANY

indie offers highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems 
(“ADAS”), autonomous vehicle, connected car, user experience and electrification applications. We focus on edge sensors 
across multiple modalities spanning LiDAR, radar, ultrasound and computer vision. These functions represent the core 
underpinnings of both electric and autonomous vehicles, while the advanced user interfaces are transforming the in-cabin 
experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile platforms we rely on every day. We are an approved vendor to Tier 1 
automotive suppliers and our platforms can be found in marquee automotive manufacturers around the world. Headquartered in 
Aliso Viejo, California, indie has design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Detroit, Michigan; San Jose, California; 
Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; Edinburgh, 
Scotland; Schlieren, Switzerland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec City and Toronto, Canada; Seoul, South Korea; 
Tokyo, Japan and several locations throughout China.

We maintain design centers for our semiconductor engineers and designers in the United States, Argentina, Canada, Hungary, 
Germany, Scotland, Morocco, Israel, Switzerland and China. We engage subcontractors to manufacture our products. These 
subcontractors, as well as the majority of our customers’ locations, are primarily in Asia. For the years ended December 31, 
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2024, 2023 and 2022 approximately 66%, 63% and 54%, respectively, of our product revenues were recognized for shipments 
to customer locations in Asia.

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, we entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to shares of our 
Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class A common stock”). In accordance with the terms of the ATM 
Agreement, we may offer and sell shares of our Class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 
million from time to time through the Sales Agents, acting as our agent or principal. We implemented this program for the 
flexibility that it provides to the capital markets and to best time our equity capital needs. As of December 31, 2024, we had 
raised gross proceeds of $90.2 million and issued 11,138,984 shares of Class A common stock at an average per-share sales 
price of $8.10 through this program. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we incurred total issuance costs 
of $0.4 million, $1.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in connection with the ATM Agreement.

Recent Acquisition

Kinetic Technologies

On January 25, 2024 (the “Deal Closing Date”), indie and ADK LLC completed its acquisition of Kinetic Technologies, LLC 
(“Kinetic”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”), carving out certain 
assets, including R&D personnel and intellectual properties (“IP”) from Kinetic Technologies (“Kinetic”), in support of a 
custom product development for a North American electric vehicle OEM. The closing consideration consisted of (i) $3.2 
million in cash as the initial cash consideration, net of an adjustment holdback amount of $0.5 million and an indemnity 
holdback amount of $0.8 million, payable after the 18-month anniversary of the Deal Closing Date in shares of Class A 
common stock, par value $0.0001 (the “Class A common stock”), (ii) $2.3 million of contingent consideration, payable in cash 
or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of certain production based milestones 24 months after the Deal Closing 
Date, and (iii) $2.3 million of contingent consideration, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of a 
revenue based milestone 12 months after the Deal Closing Date. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other 
adjustments as provided in the APA.

Impact of Macroeconomic Conditions

Current and continued inflationary conditions have led, and may continue to lead to, rising prices or rising interest rates, which 
has had a dampening effect on overall economic activity and consumer demand for automotive products. There continues to be 
uncertainty regarding overall macroeconomic conditions, including increased geopolitical tensions, risk of recessions, and the 
effects of potential trade policies including tariffs. For example, on February 1, 2025, the U.S. government announced a 10% 
tariff on imports from China and a 25% tariff on imports from Mexico and Canada, with immediate effect and a 10% tariff on 
steel and aluminum imports effective March 2025. Although the tariffs on Mexico and Canada have been temporarily delayed 
pending further negotiations between these countries, there is no assurance that the governments will be able to reach long-term 
agreements. The U.S. government has also threatened tariffs against Taiwan that could specifically target imports of 
semiconductor products, which, if imposed, could seriously and negatively affect our business and the U.S. economy overall

The tariff actions could lead to further potential retaliatory tariffs on U.S. goods and escalate trade disputes in China and in 
other countries in which we do business. For example, China has responded with tariffs on certain U.S. goods. While we are 
still evaluating the potential impacts of these proposed tariffs, as well as our ability to mitigate their related impacts, these 
tariffs may adversely impact our revenue and cost of goods sold in the United States. The institution of trade tariffs both 
globally and between the United States and China specifically carries the risk of negatively affecting China’s overall economic 
condition, which could have a negative impact on us as we have significant operations in China. Furthermore, the imposition of 
tariffs could cause a decrease in the sales of products to customers located in China, other customers selling to Chinese end 
users, or other global customers which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The ultimate impact of any tariffs will depend on various factors, including if any tariffs are ultimately 
implemented, the timing of implementation, and the amount, scope and nature of the tariffs. For additional information, see 
“Item 1A. Risk Factors”, including the risk factor titled “If significant tariffs or other trade restrictions are placed on our 
products or third-party suppliers, our revenue and results of operations may be materially harmed.”

Additionally, the ongoing conflict in the Middle East and the implications of these events has created global political and 
economic uncertainty. We are closely monitoring developments, including potential impact to our business, customers, 
suppliers, our employees and operations in Israel, the Middle East and elsewhere. At this time, the impact to indie is subject to 
change given the volatile nature of the situation.
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Results of Operations

A discussion of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022, including a comparison to our results of 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2023, is included under “Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2024. 

Revenue

We design, develop and manufacture primarily analog, digital and mixed-signal integrated circuits (“ICs”) together with 
software running on the embedded processors in the majority of the ICs. Our revenue represents both (i) non-recurring 
engineering (“NRE”) fees for the development of ICs and prototypes and (ii) product sales, the sale of semiconductors under 
separate commercial supply arrangements.

Our revenues fluctuate in response to a combination of factors, including the following:

• our overall product mix and sales volumes;

• gains and losses in market share and design win traction;

• semiconductor content per vehicle;

• pace at which technology is adopted in our end markets;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates that affect our prices;

• the stage of our products in their respective life cycles;

• the effects of competition and competitive pricing strategies;

• governmental regulations influencing our markets; and

• the global and regional economic cycles.

Product Revenue. Our product revenue is recognized when the customer obtains control of the product and is based on the 
contractual shipping terms of a contract. We provide an assurance-type warranty which is not sold separately and does not 
represent a separate performance obligation. Therefore, the estimated costs of warranty claims are generally accrued as cost of 
goods sold in the period the related revenue is recorded. Under limited circumstances, we may offer an extended limited 
warranty to customers for certain products. We accrue for known warranty and indemnification issues if a loss is probable and 
can be reasonably estimated. The majority of our product revenue originates from sales shipped to customer locations in Asia, 
and the United States.

Contract Revenue. Contract revenue is revenue earned from NRE services. Generally, our NRE contracts with our customers 
initially contain a single distinct performance obligation, which is to provide NRE design services for products based on the 
customer’s specifications. Generally, our contracts also include the optional purchase of products that may be exercised at 
stated prices subsequent to completion of NRE design services. We have determined that the option to purchase products is not 
a material right and have not allocated transaction price to this provision.

For NRE arrangements, we recognize revenue over time as services are provided based on the terms of the contract on an input 
basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of 
control to the customer. Revenue is deferred for amounts billed or received prior to delivery of the services.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists primarily of the cost of semiconductors purchased from subcontractors, including wafer fabrication, 
assembly, testing and packaging, board and device costs, manufacturing support costs, including labor and overhead associated 
with such purchases, final test yield fallout, inventory and warranty provisions, memory and component costs, and shipping 
costs. Cost of goods sold also includes compensation related to personnel associated with manufacturing and amortization of 
certain intangible assets acquired through the business combinations. Cost of goods sold generally does not include 
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development costs incurred related to servicing our NRE services contracts, which are recorded to research and development 
and expensed as incurred.

Research and Development Expense

Costs related to research, design, and development of our products are expensed as incurred. Research and development 
expense consists primarily of pre-production costs related to the design and development of our products and technologies, 
including costs related to developing products subsidized by NRE services contracts. This includes costs with customers such as 
employee compensation, benefits and related costs of sustaining our engineering teams, project material costs, third-party fees 
paid to consultants, prototype development expenses, costs related to IP licenses, occupancy costs and related overhead based 
on headcount, other costs incurred in the product design and development process and amortization expenses for certain 
intangible assets acquired from the business combinations.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense

Selling, general, and administrative costs include employee compensation, including compensation and benefits for executive, 
finance, accounting, legal, business operations and other administrative personnel. In addition, it includes marketing and 
advertising, outside legal, tax and accounting services, insurance, occupancy costs and related overhead based on headcount and 
amortization expenses for certain intangible assets acquired from the business combinations. Selling, general, and 
administrative costs are expensed as incurred. 

Restructuring Costs

In August 2024, we initiated a plan intended to improve our operating performance (the “Plan”). The Plan consisted of actions 
including but not limited to, workforce and facilities reductions. Due to the size, nature and frequency of this Plan, it is 
fundamentally different from our ongoing productivity actions. As a result, all pre-tax charges related to such initiatives are 
separately reflected in Note 4 - Restructuring costs in our accompanying financial statements for more information.

Amortization for Intangible Assets Acquired from Business Combinations

As a result of the most recent business combinations, we acquired various intangible assets. The corresponding amortization 
expenses are included within Cost of goods sold, Research and development expenses, and Selling, general and administrative 
expenses based on their respective nature. Our acquired intangible assets with definite lives are amortized from the date of 
acquisition over periods ranging from two to twelve years.

Interest Income

Interest income represents cash or income earned on our cash balances and investments with certain banking institutions. 

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of cash and non-cash interest under our term loan facilities, convertible notes and line of 
credit.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) primarily comprises the change in the fair value of the warrants and earn-out liabilities issued as a 
result of the Transaction and contingent considerations and holdbacks issued as a result of the recent business combinations. 
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Income Taxes Benefits

We utilize the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the estimated 
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred tax expense or benefit is the result of 
changes in the deferred tax asset and liability. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax 
assets where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We make estimates, assumptions, and 
judgments to determine our provision for our income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance 
recorded against deferred tax assets. We also assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets, if any, will be recovered from 
future taxable income, and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance.

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be 
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized 
from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon 
settlement. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits which, as of the date of this report, have not been 
material, are recognized within provision for income taxes.

Income tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2024 are primarily related to our foreign operations. Income tax benefits 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 are primarily related to the tax effects of our acquisition structure of GEO and release of 
our valuation allowance in China.

Refer to Note 18 — Income Tax, in our accompanying financial statements for additional detail.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue

Fiscal Years Ended
2024 2023

(in thousands) $
% of 

Revenue $
% of 

Revenue $ Change % Change
Revenue:

Product revenue $ 202,698  94 % $ 195,624  88 % $ 7,074  4 %
Contract revenue 13,984  6 % 27,545  12 % (13,561)  (49) %

Total revenue $ 216,682  100 % $ 223,169  100 % $ (6,487)  (3) %

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $216.7 million, compared to $223.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, a decrease of $6.5 million or 3%, which was primarily driven by a $13.6 million decrease in contract 
revenue and offset by a $7.1 million increase in product revenue. The increase in product revenue was due primarily to change 
in product mix as well as the recent acquisitions, offset by a decrease in average selling price. The decrease in contract revenue 
of $13.6 million or 49% was primarily due to a large multi-year non-recurring engineering project that commenced in early 
2022 that is winding down in the current year towards its completion stage.
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Operating Expenses

Fiscal Years Ended
2024 2023

(in thousands) $
% of 

Revenue $
% of 

Revenue $ Change % Change
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold $ 126,373  58 % $ 133,606  60 % $ (7,233)  (5) %
Research and development 175,112  81 % 154,507  69 % 20,605  13 %
Selling, general, and 
administrative 80,945  37 % 70,479  32 % 10,466  15 %
Restructuring costs $ 4,332  2 % $ —  — % $ 4,332  100 %

Total operating expenses $ 386,762  178 % $ 358,592  161 % $ 28,170  8 %

Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $126.4 million, compared to $133.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The decrease of $7.2 million or 5% was primarily due to a $9.3 million decrease in product cost, offset by 
$2.6 million increase due to change in product shipments in connection with the increase in products sold as well as $4.5 
million increase due to change in product mix. Total cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2024 also included a 
decrease of $5.7 million in amortization related to acquired intangible assets and inventory step-up value both in connection 
with finalizing the opening net assets acquired from the recent acquisitions. 

Research and development (“R&D”) expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $175.1 million, compared to $154.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This increase of $20.6 million or 13% was primarily due to a $17.7 million 
increase in share-based compensation expense due to both increase in headcount and additional equity awards granted since the 
same period in prior year. Research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 also included a $4.9 
million increase in personnel costs due to increase in headcount to support our continued growth in research and development 
needs. We expect research and development expense to stabilize over time. 

Selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $80.9 million, compared to $70.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase of $10.5 million or 15% was primarily due to a $1.8 million 
increase in personnel costs due to increase in headcount, a $2.0 million increase in various office and business related expenses 
and a $4.8 million increase in share-based compensation expense. The increase in share-based compensation expense is due to 
both increase in headcount and additional equity awards granted since the same period in prior year. Total selling, general and 
administrative expense also included an increase of $2.1 million in amortization related to acquired intangible assets from the 
recent acquisitions. We expect selling, general, and administrative expense to stabilize over time.

Restructuring costs for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $4.3 million due to the restructuring plan initiated in August 
2024. The restructuring plan was substantively completed as of December 31, 2024.
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Other income (expense), net

Fiscal Years Ended
2024 2023

(in thousands) $ $ $ Change % Change
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income $ 4,588 $ 7,801 $ (3,213)  (41) %
Interest expense (9,258) (8,650) (608)  7 %
Gain from change in fair value of warrants — 7,066 (7,066)  (100) %
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent considerations 
and acquisition related holdbacks 29,041 (2,985) 32,026  (1073) %
Other expense (400) (1,175) 775  (66) %

Total other income (expense), net $ 23,971 $ 2,057 $ 21,914  1065 %

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $4.6 million, compared to $7.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The decrease of $3.2 million from the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily as a result of lower 
cash balances due to multiple acquisitions in 2023 and the first quarter of 2024.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $9.3 million, compared to $8.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The increase of $0.6 million was primarily as a result of the addition of the 2029 Notes in December 2024.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized gains (losses) from change from change in fair value for 
warrants, contingent considerations and acquisition-related holdbacks. The gains (losses) recorded represent the following:

i) Warrants: During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized a net gain from change in fair value of our warrants
of $7.1 million, which reflected the net increase in fair value of our warrant liability since December 31, 2022 until
immediately prior to the completion of our warrant exchange to Class A common stock on November 9, 2023. The net
increase in fair value was primarily a result of the decrease of the closing price of our Class A common stock listed on the
Nasdaq to $4.94 per share on November 9, 2023 from $5.83 per share on December 31, 2022. The total liability as of
November 9, 2023 was reclassified to Additional Paid in Capital in our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31,
2023, there was no liability remaining on the balance sheet.

ii) Contingent considerations and acquisition-related holdbacks: During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recognized
a net gain from change in fair value of our contingent considerations and acquisition-related holdbacks of $29.0 million,
which is primarily contributed by an net gain of $31.9 million for the contingent considerations and acquisition-related
holdback related to the GEO acquisition, partially offset by a loss of $3.0 million for the contingent considerations related
to Exalos. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized a net unrealized loss from change in fair value of our
contingent considerations of $3.0 million, which is primarily contributed by unrealized gains (losses) for the contingent
considerations and acquisition related holdbacks of $3.2 million, $(5.7) million and $(0.4) million for Silicon Radar, GEO
and Exalos, respectively.

Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $0.4 million, compared to $1.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Other expense relates primarily to the realized and unrealized foreign currency gains and losses during the 
year. 

 Income Taxes

Income tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2024 are primarily related to our foreign operations. Income tax benefits 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 are primarily related to the tax effects of our acquisition of GEO and subsequent tax 
reorganizations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures, 
working capital requirements related to inventory, accounts payable and general and administrative expenditures. In addition, 
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from time to time, we use cash to fund our mergers and acquisitions, purchases of various capital, intellectual property and 
software assets and scheduled repayments for outstanding debt obligations. Our immediate sources of liquidity are cash, cash 
equivalents and funds anticipated to be generated from our operations and available borrowings under our revolving credit 
facility and the issuance of Class A common stock under the ATM Agreement. We believe these sources of liquidity will be 
sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements may vary from those 
currently planned and will depend on many factors, including our rate of sales growth, the timing and extent of spending on 
various business initiatives, including potential merger and acquisition activities, our international expansion, the timing of new 
product introductions, market acceptance of our solutions, and overall economic conditions including the potential impact of 
global supply imbalances, rising interest rates, inflationary pressures, and volatility in the global financial markets. To the 
extent that current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and 
requirements, we may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. We have cash deposits with large financial 
institutions that have stable outlooks and credit ratings as of February 28, 2025. These cash deposits may exceed the insurance 
provided on such deposits. As part of our cash management strategy going forward, we concentrate cash deposits with large 
financial institutions that are subject to regulation and maintain deposits across diverse retail banks.

Historically, we derive liquidity primarily from debt and equity financing activities as we have historically had negative cash 
flows from operations. On August 26, 2022, we entered into the ATM Agreement with the Sales Agents relating to shares of 
our Class A common stock. In accordance with the terms of the ATM Agreement, we may offer and sell shares of our Class A 
common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $150.0 million from time to time through the Sales Agents, acting as 
our agent or principal. We implemented this program for the flexible access it provides to the capital markets. During the year 
ended December 31, 2024, we raised gross proceeds of $19.8 million and issued $3,787,725 shares of Class A common stock at 
an averaged per-share sales price of $5.24 through this program. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred total 
issuance costs of $0.4 million. As of December 31, 2024, and since the inception of the program we have raised gross proceeds 
of $90.2 million and issued 11,138,984 shares of Class A common stock at an average per-share sales price of $8.10 and had 
approximately $59.8 million available for future issuances under the ATM Agreement. As of December 31, 2024, we have 
incurred total issuance costs of $1.9 million since inception.

In December 2023, employees in Wuxi exercised options granted to them through the Wuxi Employee Equity Incentive Plan 
(the “Wuxi EIP”) and contributed total capital of CNY88.0 million (or approximately $12.3 million) from option proceeds in 
preparation for a potential IPO in China. The funds will be used by Wuxi for general corporate purposes. Wuxi does not have 
an obligation to repay the collected capital to its employees in the case of an unsuccessful IPO.

On March 29, 2024, we entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Wells 
Fargo”) with a credit limit of $10.0 million, bearing interest at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 1.75%. 
The outstanding principal balance is due and payable in full on March 28, 2025. Interest is payable monthly beginning on May 
1, 2024 through the maturity date. This line of credit required us to collateralize a cash balance equal to the total outstanding 
balance in a cash security account with Wells Fargo.

On September 27, 2024, Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with the Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd. with an aggregate 
principal balance of CNY40.0 million (or approximately $5.7 million) bearing interest of 3.50% per annum and maturing on 
December 27, 2024. This short-term loan was fully repaid on December 27, 2024. 

On December 6, 2024, we issued $218.5 million in aggregate principal amount of our 3.50% convertible senior notes which are 
due in December 2029 (the “2029 Notes”). The 2029 Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of common stock or a 
combination of cash and common stock at our election. In connection with the 2029 Notes, we entered into privately negotiated 
capped call transactions with certain of the initial purchasers or their respective affiliates and other financial institutions. The 
capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of 2029 
Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 2029 
Notes, as the case may be. We used approximately $23.4 million of the net proceeds from issuance of the 2029 Notes to pay the 
cost of the capped call transactions. We intend to use the remainder of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2029 Notes for 
working capital and general corporate purposes, which may include potential acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2024, our balance of cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, was $284.5 million. 

Acquisitions

We have completed multiple acquisitions in the last couple of years and we plan to selectively pursue and assess inorganic 
growth opportunities that are complementary to our existing technologies and portfolio of products and/or accelerate our growth 
initiatives. 
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In connection with our acquisitions, we may from time to time be required to make future payments or issue additional shares 
of our common stock to satisfy our obligations under the acquisition agreements, including to satisfy certain earn-out 
requirements. 

In February 2023, we entered into an agreement to acquire GEO. and completed the transaction on March 3, 2023. The closing 
consideration consisted of (i) $93.4 million in cash (including accrued cash considerations at closing and net of cash acquired); 
(ii) the issuance by indie of 6,868,768 shares of Class A common stock at closing, with a fair value of $75.6 million (iii)
1,907,180 shares of Class A common stock, with a fair value of $21.0 million at closing, payable in the next 24-month period
after closing; and (iv) an earn-out with a fair value of $59.3 million at closing payable in cash or in Class A common stock,
subject to achieving certain GEO-related revenue targets through September 30, 2024.

Additionally, in February, 2023, we acquired Silicon Radar, for approximately (i) $9.2 million in cash (including debt payable 
at closing and net of cash acquired), (ii) the issuance by indie of 982,445 shares of Class A common stock at closing, with a fair 
value of $9.8 million; and (iii) a contingent consideration with fair value of $9.2 million at closing, payable in cash or in Class 
A common stock subject to Silicon Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based and design-win milestones through 
February 21, 2025.

In September 2023, we acquired Exalos. The closing consideration consisted of (i) the issuance by indie of 6,613,786 shares of 
Class A common stock at closing, with a fair value of $42.8 million; (ii) a contingent consideration with fair value of $9.8 
million at closing, payable in cash, subject to Exalos’ achievement of certain revenue-based milestones through September 30, 
2025; and (iii) a holdback of $2.5 million subject to final release 12 months from the acquisition date payable in shares of Class 
A common stock.

On January 25, 2024, we completed the acquisition of certain business properties from Kinetic through an asset purchase 
agreement. The closing consideration consisted of (i) $3.2 million in cash as the initial cash consideration, net of an adjustment 
holdback amount of $0.5 million and an indemnity holdback amount of $0.8 million, (ii) $2.3 million of total contingent 
considerations, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of certain production based milestone for the 
next 24 months, or through January 25, 2026, and (iii) $2.3 million of contingent considerations, payable in cash or Class A 
common stock, subject to achievement of certain revenue based milestones 12 months after January 25, 2024. The indemnity 
holdback amount is payable within five business days after the 18-month anniversary of the closing date of January 25, 2024 
and is payable in shares of Class A common stock.

We expect to continue to incur net operating losses and negative cash flows from operations. We also expect our research and 
development expenses, general and administrative expenses and capital expenditures to stabilize over time.

The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Fiscal Years Ended
2024 2023

Net cash used in operating activities $ (58,601) $ (104,385) 
Net cash used in investing activities (19,259) (107,742) 
Net cash provided by financing activities 209,334 43,567 

A discussion of our cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 is included under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in 
Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, included in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
February 29, 2024.

Operating Activities

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures, 
working capital requirements related to inventory, accounts payable and general and administrative expenditures. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in operating activities was $58.6 million, which included net loss of 
$144.2 million and reflected adjustments for certain non-cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash 
adjustments primarily consisted of (i) $67.2 million in share-based compensation expense and $39.8 million in depreciation and 
amortization, which are partially offset by (ii) $27.4 million of net gains resulting from a change in fair value for contingent 
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considerations and currency forward contracts. Changes in operating assets and liabilities from operations provided $1.1 million 
of cash, primarily driven by an increase in inventory and a decrease in other liabilities, offset by a decrease in accounts 
receivable and an increase in accounts payable.

Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $104.4 million, which included net loss of 
$128.8 million and reflected adjustments for certain non-cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash 
adjustments primarily consisted of (i) $43.7 million in share-based compensation expense and $31.8 million in depreciation and 
amortization, which are partially offset by (ii) $3.2 million of net gains resulting from a change in fair value for warrants, 
contingent considerations, and currency forward contracts. Changes in operating assets and liabilities from operations used 
$58.1 million of cash, primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets and inventory.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $19.3 million. During the year ended 
December 31, 2024, the decrease in cash was primarily due to the acquisition of Kinetic for $3.2 million, net of cash acquired, 
as well as cash used of $14.3 million for the purchase of capital expenditures. We expect that we will make additional capital 
expenditures in the future, including licenses to various intangible assets, in order to support the future growth of our business. 

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $107.7 million. During the year ended 
December 31, 2023, the decrease in cash was primarily due to the acquisitions of Exalos, GEO and Silicon Radar for $95.0 
million, net of cash acquired, as well as cash used of $12.8 million for the purchase of capital expenditures. 

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $209.3 million, which was primarily 
attributed to $195.1 million net proceeds from the 2029 Notes, which included $218.5 million gross proceeds, $9.0 million 
issuance cost and $23.4 million cost of capped call. We also received $19.4 million of net proceeds from the issuance of 
common stock through the ATM, and $10.0 million of net proceeds from the issuance of the line of credit through Wells Fargo. 
These cash inflows are partially offset by $8.0 million payments on other debt obligations and $5.5 million of payments on 
financed software.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $43.6 million, which was primarily 
attributed to $52.0 million of net proceeds from the issuance of common stock through the ATM and $12.3 million of proceeds 
related to the Wuxi EIP capital contribution, partially offset by $12.8 million payments on debt obligations and $9.1 million of 
payments on financed software.

Future Material Cash Obligations

Following is a summary of our material cash requirements from known contractual and other obligations, including 
commitments for capital expenditures, as of December 31, 2024. 

Future Estimated Cash Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Less than 1 year 1 - 3 years 3-5 years >5 years Total
Debt obligations $ 12,583 $ 162,368 $ 218,500 $ — $ 393,451 
Interest on debt obligations 14,847 28,788 14,981 — 58,616 
Operating leases 3,994 7,695 5,923 2,821 20,433 
Holdbacks payable in cash 800 — — — 800 

Total contractual obligations $ 32,224 $ 198,851 $ 239,404 $ 2,821 $ 473,300 

In connection with our acquisitions (See subheading titled Liquidity and Capital Resources — Acquisitions above, we may be 
required to make future payments or issue additional shares of our common stock to satisfy certain earn-out requirements under 
the acquisition agreements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation 
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of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments in applying our most critical accounting policies that 
can have a significant impact on the results we report in our financial statements. The SEC has defined critical accounting 
estimates as those that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely to have a 
material impact on a registrant’s financial condition or results of operations. Based on this definition, our most critical 
accounting estimates include revenue recognition, which impacts the recording of net revenue; business combinations, which 
impacts the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities; and contingent considerations, which impact the fair value of 
assumed liabilities and the recording of other income (expense). These policies and significant judgments involved are 
discussed further below. We have other significant accounting policies that do not generally require subjective estimates or 
judgments or would not have a material impact on our results of operations. Our significant accounting policies and estimates 
are described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

We enter into contracts with customers that can include various combinations of products and services. As a result, our 
contracts may contain multiple performance obligations. We determine whether arrangements are distinct based on whether the 
customer can benefit from the product or service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available and 
whether our commitment to transfer the product or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other obligations in 
the contract.

In particular, we enter into engineering services contracts with customers that generally contain only one distinct performance 
obligation, which is design services for ICs based on agreed-upon specifications. Engineering services contracts typically also 
include the purchase, at the customer’s option, of ICs at agreed upon prices subsequent to completion of IC design services. We 
have determined that the option to purchase ICs is not a material right and has not allocated transaction price to this provision.

For IC development arrangements, revenue is recognized over time as services are provided based on the terms of the contract 
on an input basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress and is recorded as contract revenue in the consolidated 
statement of operations. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of control to the customer. 

Business Combinations

We allocate the fair value of the purchase consideration of a business acquisition to the tangible assets, liabilities, and intangible 
assets acquired, including in-process research and development (“IPR&D”), based on their estimated fair values. The excess of 
the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. 
IPR&D is initially capitalized at fair value as an intangible asset with an indefinite life and assessed for impairment thereafter. 
When an IPR&D project is completed, the IPR&D is reclassified as an amortizable purchased intangible asset and amortized 
over the asset’s estimated useful life. Our valuation of acquired assets and assumed liabilities requires significant estimates, 
especially with respect to intangible assets. The valuation of intangible assets, in particular, requires that we use valuation 
techniques such as the market, income and cost approach. These approaches include the use of a discounted cash flow model, 
which includes discounted cash flow scenarios and requires the following significant estimates: future expected revenue, 
expenses, capital expenditures and other costs, and discount rates; or weighted average cost of capital, and any cost savings that 
are expected to be derived in the future from the viewpoint of a market participant. We estimate the fair value based upon 
assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results 
may differ from estimates. Estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions may change as additional information 
becomes available regarding the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately 
from the business combination and are expensed as incurred.

Contingent Considerations

Our contingent consideration obligations are arrangements resulting from acquisitions that involve potential future payment of 
consideration that is contingent upon the achievement of certain financial metrics. Contingent consideration is recognized at its 
estimated fair value at the date of acquisition based on our expected future payment, discounted using accepted valuation 
methodologies.

We review and re-assess the estimated fair value of contingent consideration liabilities at each reporting period and the updated 
fair value could differ materially from the initial estimates. We measure contingent consideration recognized in connection with 
acquisitions at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs classified as Level 3 inputs. The fair value is 
measured based on a Monte Carlo simulation or a scenario-based method, depending on the earnout objective and the timing of 
the measurement. The fair value measurement includes the following significant inputs: volatility, projected financial 
information and scenario probability. Significant increases or decreases to any of these inputs in isolation could result in a 
significantly higher or lower liability. Ultimately, the liability will be equivalent to the amount paid, and the difference between 
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the fair value estimate on the acquisition date and each reporting period and the amount paid will be recognized in earnings 
within Other Income (Expense), net on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards

For information regarding new accounting pronouncements, and the impact of these pronouncements on our consolidated 
financial statements, if any, see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in our accompanying financial 
statements. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk

We have international operations, giving rise to exposure to market risks from changes in currency exchange rates. Our primary 
foreign currency exposures are the Canadian dollar, Chinese yuan/renminbi, Euro, British pound sterling and Israeli New 
Shekel. Foreign exchange gains and losses that resulted from our international operations are included in the determination of 
Net income (loss). The foreign currency translation exchange loss included in determining loss before income taxes was $0.4 
million, $1.2 million, and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The year-over-
year change was primarily related to the change in fair value of our currency forward contracts entered into during 2023 and 
2024.

We also have intercompany loans with certain of our foreign subsidiaries that are long-term in nature. Repayments of such 
principal amounts are neither planned nor anticipated in the foreseeable future and are therefore treated analogous to equity for 
accounting purposes. As a result, the foreign exchange gains and losses on these borrowings are excluded from the 
determination of Net income (loss) and recorded as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the 
consolidated balance sheets. A cumulative foreign currency translation loss of $24.7 million and $6.2 million related to our 
foreign subsidiaries is included in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” within the Stockholders' Equity section of the 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The year-over-year change was primarily driven by 
the cumulative foreign currency translation loss recorded in relation to permanently invested intercompany loans as of 
December 31, 2024 as the exchange rate for the U.S. dollar fluctuates against foreign currencies. 

As our international operations grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in foreign currency rates will become greater, and we 
will continue to reassess our approach to managing this risk. In addition, currency fluctuations or a weakening U.S. dollar could 
increase the costs of our international expansion and operation. To mitigate the risk, we plan to enter into additional foreign 
currency forward contracts in the foreseeable future.

Investment and Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate and general market risks relates principally to our investment portfolio, which consists of cash and 
cash equivalents and restricted cash (money market funds and marketable securities purchased with less than ninety days until 
maturity) and restricted cash that totals approximately $284.5 million as of December 31, 2024.

The main objectives of our investment activities are liquidity and preservation of capital. Our cash equivalent investments have 
short-term maturity periods that dampen the impact of market or interest rate risk. Credit risk associated with our investments is 
not material because our investments are diversified across securities with high credit ratings.

Given the objectives of our investment activities, and the relatively low interest income generated from our cash, cash 
equivalents, and other investments, we do not believe that investment or interest rate risks currently pose material exposures to 
our business or results of operations even in the current environment of rising interest rates.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
indie Semiconductor, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity 
(deficit) and noncontrolling interest, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, 
and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and 
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Evaluation of the fair value of developed technology intangible asset

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on September 18, 2023, the Company completed the 
acquisition of Exalos AG. The transaction was accounted for as a business combination. As a result of the acquisition, the 
Company recorded a developed technology intangible asset in the amount of $23,100 thousand based on the fair value. The fair 
value of this intangible asset was estimated using a relief from royalty method approach.

We identified the evaluation of the acquisition-date fair value of the developed technology intangible asset in the Exalos AG 
acquisition as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjective auditor judgment was required to evaluate the acquisition-date 
fair value of the developed technology intangible asset, specifically the forecasted revenue growth rate and discount rate 
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assumptions. Changes in these assumptions could have had a significant effect on the Company’s estimate of fair value. In 
addition, valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge were required to assess the discount rate.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We tested the design and operating 
effectiveness of certain controls relating to the Company’s process to determine the fair value of the developed technology 
intangible asset, which included a control related to the revenue growth rate and the discount rate assumptions. We assessed the 
forecasted revenue growth rates by comparing them to the historical growth rates of Exalos AG and relevant publicly available 
market data. We assessed the Company’s ability to accurately forecast by comparing the Company’s forecasted revenue growth 
rates of Exalos AG to actual results since the acquisition. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized 
skills and knowledge, who assisted in evaluating the discount rate by:

• developing a weighted average cost of capital (WACC) using inputs obtained from publicly available market data and
comparing it to the Exalos AG WACC used by the Company

• recalculating the Company’s determination of the Exalos AG WACC

• reconciling the Company’s determination of the Exalos AG WACC to the Exalos AG weighted average return on
assets and internal rate of return.

Accounting for the issuance of convertible senior notes 

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, in December 2024, the Company issued $218.5 million 
aggregate principal amount of 3.5% convertible senior notes in a private placement, including $28.5 million aggregate principal 
amount of such notes pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment options of the initial purchasers (collectively, 
Convertible Senior Notes).

We identified the evaluation of the accounting for the Convertible Senior Notes as a critical audit matter. Complex auditor 
judgment was required to evaluate the terms and provisions of the Convertible Senior Notes agreements. Additionally, the audit 
effort associated with the evaluation of management’s accounting for the Convertible Senior Notes required the involvement of 
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested 
the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the treasury and debt process, including a control related to 
management’s accounting for the Convertible Senior Notes. We read the Convertible Senior Notes agreements. We involved 
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in analyzing the key terms and provisions of the Convertible 
Senior Notes agreements and evaluating management’s application of the relevant accounting literature.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Irvine, California
February 28, 2025

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
indie Semiconductor, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited indie Semiconductor, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and noncontrolling interest, and cash 
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flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the 
consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those 
consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Irvine, California
February 28, 2025
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

2024 2023
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 274,248 $ 151,678 
Restricted cash 10,300 — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,970 as of December 31, 2024 and 

$192 as of December 31, 2023 52,005 63,602 
Inventory, net 49,887 33,141 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22,308 23,399 

Total current assets 408,748 271,820 
Property and equipment, net 34,281 26,966 
Intangible assets, net 208,944 208,134 
Goodwill 266,368 295,096 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 16,107 13,790 
Other assets and deposits 6,938 3,070 

Total assets $ 941,386 $ 818,876 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Accounts payable $ 28,326 $ 18,405 
Accrued payroll liabilities 5,573 6,621 
Contingent considerations 3,589 83,903 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 29,297 21,411 
Intangible asset contract liability 5,875 4,429 
Current debt obligations 12,220 4,106 

Total current liabilities 84,880 138,875 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 369,097 156,735 
Intangible asset contract liability, net of current portion 11,965 — 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current 11,660 13,696 
Operating lease liability, non-current 14,278 10,850 
Other long-term liabilities 4,111 21,695 

Total liabilities 495,991 341,851 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued or outstanding — — 

Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized, 190,888,408 and 
164,979,958 shares issued, 189,163,408 and 163,193,278 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023, respectively. 19 16 
Class V common stock, $0.0001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 17,671,251 and 18,694,332 
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 2 2 
Additional paid-in capital 936,564 813,742 
Accumulated deficit (494,044) (361,441) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (24,655) (6,170) 

indie’s stockholders’ equity 417,886 446,149 
Noncontrolling interest 27,509 30,876 

Total stockholders' equity 445,395 477,025 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 941,386 $ 818,876 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Revenue:
Product revenue $ 202,698 $ 195,624 $ 89,457 
Contract revenue 13,984 27,545 21,340 

Total revenue 216,682 223,169 110,797 
Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold 126,373 133,606 60,491 
Research and development 175,112 154,507 121,197 
Selling, general, and administrative 80,945 70,479 48,237 
Restructuring costs 4,332 — — 

Total operating expenses 386,762 358,592 229,925 
Loss from operations (170,080) (135,423) (119,128) 
Other income (expense), net:

Interest income 4,588 7,801 2,567 
Interest expense (9,258) (8,650) (1,692) 
Gain from change in fair value of warrants — 7,066 55,069 
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of contingent considerations and 
acquisition related holdbacks 29,041 (2,985) 9,468 
Other expense (400) (1,175) (107) 

Total other income, net 23,971 2,057 65,305 
Net loss before income taxes (146,109) (133,366) (53,823) 

Income tax benefit 1,922 4,534 1,035 
Net loss (144,187) (128,832) (52,788) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (11,584) (11,207) (9,388) 

Net loss attributable to indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ (132,603) $ (117,625) $ (43,400) 

Net loss attributable to common shares —basic $ (132,603) $ (117,625) $ (43,400) 
Net loss attributable to common shares —diluted $ (132,603) $ (117,625) $ (43,400) 

Net loss per share attributable to common shares —basic $ (0.76) $ (0.81) $ (0.37) 
Net loss per share attributable to common shares —diluted $ (0.76) $ (0.81) $ (0.37) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic  175,029,650  145,188,867  118,660,785 
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted  175,029,650  145,188,867  118,660,785 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net loss $ (144,187) $ (128,832) $ (52,788) 
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (18,814) 5,781 (10,624) 
Comprehensive loss (163,001) (123,051) (63,412) 

Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (11,913) (11,545) (10,130) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to indie Semiconductor, Inc. $ (151,088) $ (111,506) $ (53,282) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Class A

Common Stock
Class V

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity (Deficit) 
Attributable to 

indie 
Semiconductor, 

Inc.
Noncontrolling

Interest

Total
Stockholders

Equity
(Deficit)Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2021  108,181,781 $ 11  30,448,081 $ 3 $ 514,891 $ (200,416) $ (1,443) $ 313,046 $ (21,189) $ 291,857 

Vesting of equity awards 652,878 — — — — — — — — — 
Share-based compensation — — — — 35,285 — — 35,285 — 35,285 
Issuance per Exchange of Class V to Class A  10,962,484 1  (10,962,484) (1) (10,897) — — (10,897) 10,897 — 
Issuance per Exchange of ADK LLC units to Class A 103,923 — — — — — — — — — 
Issuance on earn out awards — first milestone 3,074,779 1 1,895,879 — 872 — — 873 (873) — 
Issuance per net settlement of equity awards and cash 

exercise of stock options 2,829,385 — — — (864) — — (864) 967 103 
Share Repurchase in connection with 2027 Notes  (1,112,524) — — — (7,404) — — (7,404) (7,404) 
Wuxi Capital Raise — — — — 19,857 — 116 19,973 21,848 41,821 
Issuance in connection with At-The-Market equity 

offering 2,131,759 — — — 16,824 — — 16,824 — 16,824 
Net loss — — — — — (43,400) — (43,400) (9,388) (52,788) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — (10,624) (10,624) (742) (11,366)
Balance as of December 31, 2022  126,824,465 $ 13  21,381,476 $ 2 $ 568,564 $ (243,816) $ (11,951) $ 312,812 $ 1,520 $ 314,332 

Vesting of equity awards 712,653 — — — — — — — — — 
Share-based compensation — — — — 43,279 — — 43,279 — 43,279 
Issuance per Exchange of Class V to Class A 2,687,144 —  (2,687,144) — (3,280) — — (3,280) 3,280 — 
Issuance per Exchange of ADK LLC units to Class A 175,622 — — — (17) — — (17) 17 — 
Issuance per net settlement of equity awards and cash 

exercise of stock options 3,898,090 — — — (681) — — (681) 712 31 
Wuxi Equity Incentive Plan ("EIP") capital paid in — — — — 4,244 — — 4,244 8,102 12,346 
Issuance per net settlement of bonus 752,242 — — — 6,757 — — 6,757 — 6,757 
Issuance in connection with At-The-Market equity 

offering 5,219,500 — — — 45,475 — — 45,475 6,523 51,998 
Issuance per exchange for warrants 7,730,692 1 — — 34,086 — — 34,087 4,244 38,331 
Issuance per settlement of contingent considerations 

and acquisition-related holdbacks 727,871 — — — 4,531 — — 4,531 628 5,159 
Issuance per acquisition of GEO Semiconductor Inc. 6,868,768 1 — — 65,106 — — 65,107 10,449 75,556 
Issuance per acquisition of Exalos AG 6,613,786 1 — — 37,455 — — 37,456 5,335 42,791 
Issuance per acquisition of Silicon Radar GmbH 982,445 — — — 8,223 — — 8,223 1,611 9,834 
Net loss — — — — — (117,625) — (117,625) (11,207) (128,832) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — 5,781 5,781 (338) 5,443 
Balance as of December 31, 2023  163,193,278 $ 16  18,694,332 $ 2 $ 813,742 $ (361,441) $ (6,170) $ 446,149 $ 30,876 $ 477,025 
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Vesting of equity awards 61,683 — — — — — — — — — 
Share-based compensation, including amounts 

associated with the EEPP and restructuring costs — — — — 63,973 — — 63,973 — 63,973 
Issuance per Exchange of Class V to Class A 1,023,081 —  (1,023,081) — — — — — — — 
Issuance per Exchange of ADK LLC units to Class A 151,992 — — — — — — — — — 
Issuance per net settlement of bonus 536,519 — — — 2,814 — — 2,814 957 3,771 
Issuance per net settlement of equity awards and cash 

exercise of stock options 8,149,638 1 — — 53 — — 54 — 54 
Issuance in connection with At-The-Market equity 

offering 3,787,725 — — — 17,427 — — 17,427 1,992 19,419 
Shares issued for Investment in Expedera 525,000 1 — — 2,963 — — 2,964 421 3,385 

Issuance per settlement of contingent considerations 
and acquisition-related holdbacks  11,734,492 1 — — 56,931 — — 56,932 7,217 64,149 

2024 Convertible Note Capped Call Transactions — — — — (21,339) — — (21,339) (2,041) (23,380) 
Net loss — — — — — (132,603) — (132,603) (11,584) (144,187) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — (18,485) (18,485) (329) (18,814)
Balance as of December 31, 2024  189,163,408 19  17,671,251 2 936,564 (494,044) (24,655) 417,886 27,509 445,395 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (144,187) $ (128,832) $ (52,788) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 39,777 31,848 14,812 
Amortization of inventory step-up 901 9,826 — 
Allowance for credit losses and inventory reserves 3,888 892 1,586 
Share-based compensation 67,240 43,710 41,885 
Amortization of discount and cost of issuance of debt 1,172 997 417 
Asset impairment in relation to restructuring 998 — — 
Gain from change in fair value of warrants — (7,066) (55,069) 
(Gain) loss from change in fair value of contingent considerations and acquisition-
related holdbacks (29,041) 2,985 (9,468) 
(Gain) loss from change in fair value of currency forward contract 1,650 850 (208) 
Deferred tax liabilities (5,366) (4,198) (2,002) 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 3,284 2,737 1,949 
Other — 14 230 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 9,592 (32,199) (12,161) 
Inventory (16,967) (5,785) (4,299) 
Accounts payable 10,991 (1,697) 7,419 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 3,539 (3,211) 1,364 
Accrued payroll liabilities (289) (562) 528 
Prepaid, other current and noncurrent assets 963 (10,298) (8,175) 
Operating lease liabilities (2,934) (2,500) (1,488) 
Other long-term liabilities (3,812) (1,896) (1,278) 

Net cash used in operating activities (58,601) (104,385) (76,746) 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (14,337) (12,752) (7,568) 
Payments for acquired software license (1,722) — — 
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (3,200) (94,990) (8,705) 
Net cash used in investing activities (19,259) (107,742) (16,273) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock/At-the-market offering 19,847 53,136 17,203 
Offering costs for the issuance of common stock/At-the-market offering (428) (1,138) (379) 
Proceeds from Wuxi Capital Raise — — 41,861 
Issuance costs related to Wuxi Capital Raise — — (39) 
Wuxi EIP capital paid in — 12,346 — 
2029 convertible note capped call transactions (23,380) — — 
Proceeds from issuance of debt obligations 230,361 1,148 161,507 
Issuance and debt discount costs related to debt obligations (667) — (5,374) 
Repurchase of common stock — — (7,404) 
Payments on debt obligations (7,965) (12,831) (2,158) 
Payments on financed software (5,451) (9,125) (4,161) 
Deferred payments on business combination (3,036) — (8,500) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 53 31 103 
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Net cash provided by financing activities 209,334 43,567 192,659 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, and cash equivalents 1,396 (1,641) 2,774 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 132,870 (170,201) 102,415 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 151,678 321,879 219,464 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 284,548 $ 151,678 $ 321,879 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 7,435 $ 7,421 $ 376 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, accrued but not paid $ 352 $ (300) $ 1,464 
Fair value of common stock issued for investment in Expedera $ 3,428 $ — $ — 
Fair value of common stock issued for business combination $ — $ 128,181 $ — 
Fair value of common stock issued to satisfy contingent considerations and 
acquisition-related holdbacks $ 64,148 $ 5,159 $ — 
Fair value of common stock issuable for business combination $ — $ 23,479 $ — 
Contingent consideration for business combination $ 4,599 $ 81,745 $ 7,836 
Accrual for purchase consideration for business combination $ 800 $ 800 $ 9,674 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands, except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

1) Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

indie Semiconductor, Inc. (“indie”) and its predecessor for accounting purposes, Ay Dee Kay, LLC, a California limited 
liability company (“ADK LLC”) and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as the “Company.” The Company offers 
highly innovative automotive semiconductors and software solutions for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (“ADAS”), 
autonomous vehicle, connected car, user experience and electrification applications. The Company focuses on edge sensors 
across multiple modalities spanning LiDAR, radar, ultrasound and computer vision. These functions represent the core 
underpinnings of both electric and autonomous vehicles, while the advanced user interfaces are transforming the in-cabin 
experience to mirror and seamlessly connect to the mobile platforms people rely on every day. indie is an approved vendor to 
Tier 1 automotive suppliers and its platforms can be found in marquee automotive manufacturers around the world. 
Headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California, indie has design centers and sales offices in Austin, Texas; Detroit, Michigan; San 
Jose, California; Cordoba, Argentina; Budapest, Hungary; Dresden, Frankfurt an der Oder, Munich and Nuremberg, Germany; 
Edinburgh, Scotland; Schlieren, Switzerland; Rabat, Morocco; Haifa, Israel; Quebec City and Toronto, Canada; Seoul, South 
Korea; Tokyo, Japan and several locations throughout China. The Company engages subcontractors to manufacture its 
products. The majority of these subcontractors are located in Asia.

Execution of At-The-Market Agreement

On August 26, 2022, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with B. Riley 
Securities, Inc., Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners, LLC (collectively as “Sales Agents”) relating to 
shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class A common stock”). In accordance with the terms 
of the ATM Agreement, the Company may offer and sell shares of its Class A common stock having an aggregate offering 
price of up to $150,000 from time to time through the Sales Agents, acting as the Company’s agent or principal. The Company 
implemented this program for the flexible access that it provides to the capital markets. As of December 31, 2024, and since the 
inception of the program indie has raised gross proceeds of $90,187 and issued 11,138,984 shares of Class A common stock at 
an average per-share sales price of $8.10 and had approximately $59,813 available for future issuances under the ATM 
Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2024, indie raised gross proceeds of $19,847 and issued 3,787,725 shares of 
Class A common stock at an average per-share sales price of $5.24. For the year ended December 31, 2024, indie incurred total 
issuance costs of $428. During the year ended December 31, 2023, indie raised gross proceeds of $53,136 and issued 5,219,500 
shares of Class A common stock at an average per-share sales price of $10.18. For the year ended December 31, 2023, indie 
incurred total issuance costs of $1,138. 

Warrant Exchange

On September 22, 2023, indie announced the commencement of an exchange offer (the “Offer”) and consent solicitation (the 
“Consent Solicitation”) relating to its outstanding (i) warrants exercisable for one share of the Company’s Class A common 
stock (the “Class A common stock”) for $11.50 per share, which are listed for trading on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (the 
“Public Warrants”) and (ii) private placement warrants exercisable for one share of the Company’s Class A common stock for 
$11.50 per share (the “Private Warrants”, and together with the Public Warrants, the “Warrants”).

The Offer and the Consent Solicitation expired at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time on October 20, 2023. Upon expiration of the Offer 
and the Consent Solicitation, 24,658,461 Warrants, or approximately 90.0% of the outstanding Warrants, were tendered. 
Subsequently, the Company issued 7,027,517 shares of Class A common stock, or an exchange ratio of 0.285, for the Warrants 
tendered in the Offer on October 25, 2023. Additionally, the Company received the approval of approximately 89.8% of the 
outstanding Warrants to amend the warrant agreement governing the Warrants (the “Amendment No. 2”), which exceeded the 
majority of the outstanding warrants required to effect the Amendment No. 2. Amendment No. 2 permitted the Company to 
require that each Warrant that remained outstanding upon settlement of the Exchange Offer to be converted into 0.2565 shares 
of Class A common stock, which was a ratio 10.0% less than the exchange ratio applicable to the Exchange Offer.

The Company completed its exchange of the remaining 2,741,426 untendered Warrants on November 9, 2023 through the 
issuance of 703,175 shares of Class A common stock. As a result of the completion of the Exchange Offer and the exchange for 
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the remaining untendered Warrants, the Public Warrants were suspended from trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market as of the 
close of business on November 8, 2023, and delisted.

Recent Acquisition

On January 25, 2024 (the “Deal Closing Date”), indie and ADK LLC completed its acquisition of Kinetic Technologies, LLC 
(“Kinetic”). The acquisition was consummated pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) to acquire certain 
research and development personnel, intellectual property and business properties from Kinetic, in support of a custom product 
development for a North American electric vehicle original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”). The closing consideration 
consisted of (i) $3,200 in cash as the initial cash consideration, net of an adjustment holdback amount of $500 and an indemnity 
holdback amount of $800, (ii) $2,348 of total contingent considerations, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to 
achievement of certain production based milestones 24 months after the Deal Closing Date (“the Production Earnout”), and (iii) 
$2,251 of contingent considerations, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of certain revenue based 
milestone 12 months after the Deal Closing Date (“the Revenue Earnout”). The purchase price was subject to working capital 
and other adjustments as provided in the APA. The indemnity holdback amount is payable within five business days after the 
18-month anniversary of the Deal Closing Date and is payable in shares of Class A common stock.

See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional description of this acquisition.

Amendments to Articles of Incorporation

The Company held its 2023 annual meeting of stockholders (the “2023 Annual Meeting”) on June 21, 2023. At the 2023 
Annual Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the amendment of the Company’s existing Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of Class A common stock, from 250,000,000 to 
400,000,000 (the “Charter Amendment”).

The Board of Directors previously approved the Charter Amendment, subject to and conditioned upon stockholder approval at 
the 2023 Annual Meeting. Following stockholder approval of the Charter Amendment, the Company prepared an Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to reflect the Charter Amendment. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 
became effective upon its filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on June 22, 2023.

Risks and Uncertainties

Current and continued inflationary conditions have led, and may continue to lead to rising prices or rising interest rates, which 
has had a dampening effect on overall economic activity and consumer demand for automotive products. There continues to be 
uncertainty regarding overall macroeconomic conditions, including increased geopolitical tensions, risk of recessions, and the 
effects of potential trade policies including tariffs. For example, on February 1, 2025, the U.S. government announced a 10% 
tariff on imports from China and a 25% tariff on imports from Mexico and Canada, with immediate effect and a 10% tariff on 
steel and aluminum imports effective March 2025. Although the tariffs on Mexico and Canada have been temporarily delayed 
pending further negotiations between these countries, there is no assurance that the governments will be able to reach long-term 
agreements. The U.S. government has also threatened tariffs against Taiwan that could specifically target imports of 
semiconductor products, which, if imposed, could seriously and negatively affect our business and the U.S. economy overall

The tariff actions could lead to further potential retaliatory tariffs on U.S. goods and escalate trade disputes in China and in 
other countries in which we do business. For example, China has responded with tariffs on certain U.S. goods. While we are 
still evaluating the potential impacts of these proposed tariffs, as well as our ability to mitigate their related impacts, these 
tariffs may adversely impact our revenue and cost of goods sold in the United States. The institution of trade tariffs both 
globally and between the United States and China specifically carries the risk of negatively affecting China’s overall economic 
condition, which could have a negative impact on us as we have significant operations in China. Furthermore, the imposition of 
tariffs could cause a decrease in the sales of products to customers located in China, other customers selling to Chinese end 
users, or other global customers which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The ultimate impact of any tariffs will depend on various factors, including if any tariffs are ultimately 
implemented, the timing of implementation, and the amount, scope and nature of the tariffs. 

Additionally, the conflict in the Middle East and the implication of this event has created global political and economic 
uncertainty. The Company is closely monitoring developments, including potential impact to the Company’s business, 
customers, suppliers, its employees and operations in Israel, the Middle East and elsewhere. At this time, the impact to indie is 
subject to change given the volatile nature of the situation.

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)
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Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. 
GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC’). Any reference in these notes to 
applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative U.S. GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) and the Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). The 
consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company’s majority-owned subsidiary, ADK LLC, 
of which approximately 91% was owned by indie as of December 31, 2024. ADK LLC’s consolidated financial statements 
include its wholly-owned subsidiaries indie Services Corporation, indie LLC and indie City LLC, all California entities, Ay Dee 
Kay Limited (“Ay Dee Kay Ltd”), a private limited company incorporated under the laws of Scotland, indie GmbH, Symeo 
GmbH (“Symeo”) and Silicon Radar GmbH (“Silicon Radar”), all of which are private limited liability companies incorporated 
under the laws of Germany, Exalos AG (“Exalos”), a company limited by shares organized under the laws of Switzerland, indie 
Kft, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hungary, TeraXion Inc. (“TeraXion”) and Geo Semiconductor 
Canada Inc., both incorporated under the laws of Canada, indie Semiconductor Israel Ltd., a private limited company 
incorporated under the laws of Israel, Ay Dee Kay S.A., a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Argentina, 
indie Semiconductor Morocco, a limited liability company under the laws of Morocco, indie Semiconductor Japan KK, a 
limited liability company under the laws of Japan, Wuxi indie Microelectronics (“Wuxi”), a Chinese entity with approximately 
59% voting controlled and approximately 34% owned by the Company as of December 31, 2024 and Wuxi’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, indie Semiconductor Suzhou, indie Semiconductor HK, Ltd and Shanghai Ziying Microelectronics Co., Ltd.

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions of the subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. The 
noncontrolling interest attributable to the Company’s less-than-wholly-owned subsidiary is presented as a separate component 
from stockholders’ equity (deficit) in the consolidated balance sheets, and a noncontrolling interest in the consolidated 
statements of operations and consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and noncontrolling interest (see Note 2 — 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Consolidation).

2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates assumptions, including those related to (i) the collectability of 
accounts receivable; (ii) write-down for excess and obsolete inventories; (iii) warranty obligations; (iv) the value assigned to 
and estimated useful lives of long-lived assets; (v) the realization of tax assets and estimates of tax liabilities and tax reserves; 
(vi) amounts recorded in connection with acquisitions; (vii) recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill; (viii) the
recognition and disclosure of fair value of debt instruments and contingent liabilities; (ix) the computation of share-
based compensation; (x) accrued expenses; and (xi) the recognition of revenue based on a cost-to-cost measure of progress for
certain engineering services contracts. These estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other
factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The Company
engages third-party valuation specialists to assist with estimates related to the valuation of certain financial instruments and
assets acquired in connection with acquisitions. Such estimates often require the selection of appropriate valuation
methodologies and models, and significant judgment in evaluating ranges of assumptions and financial inputs. Actual results
may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or circumstances.

Foreign Currency

Certain of the Company’s self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries use the local currency as their functional currency. Assets and 
liabilities for these subsidiaries have been translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the period 
and results of operations at the average exchange rates for the period. Unrealized exchange gains and losses arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of our non-U.S. functional currency operations are accumulated in the cumulative 
translation adjustments account in accumulated other comprehensive loss. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For those foreign subsidiaries where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, all foreign currency-denominated accounts are 
remeasured into U.S. dollars. Unrealized exchange gains and losses arising from remeasurements of foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities are included within Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. Gains and losses arising from international intercompany transactions that are of a long-term 
investment nature are reported in the same manner as translation gains and losses. Realized exchange gains and losses are 
included in net income for the periods presented.

Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company’s forward exchange contracts, which are used to hedge anticipated U.S. dollar denominated sales and purchases 
as well as other foreign currency denominated sales and purchases such as Canadian Dollar, Euro and Great British Pound do 
not qualify for hedge accounting and are recognized at fair value. Any change in the fair value of these contracts is reflected as 
part of Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries, and 
subsidiaries that it controls due to ownership of a majority voting interest. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 
acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such 
control ceases. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The Company 
recognizes noncontrolling interest related to its less-than-wholly-owned subsidiary as equity in the consolidated financial 
statements separate from the parent entity’s equity. The net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest is included in net loss in 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the 
date of purchase. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, cash and cash equivalents consisted of money market funds and cash 
deposits that were held by reputable financial institutions in local jurisdictions of the Company’s subsidiaries including 
primarily the United States, Canada, China, Germany, Great Britain and Switzerland denominated in U.S. dollars and local 
currency.

Restricted Cash

The Company’s restricted cash consists of cash that the Company is contractually obligated to maintain in accordance with the 
terms of its Wells Fargo Bank revolving line of credit agreement.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due primarily from customers for product sales and engineering services agreements. 
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company accounts for potential losses in 
accounts receivable utilizing the allowance method. The Company closely monitors outstanding accounts receivable and 
considers its knowledge of customers, historical losses, and current and expected economic conditions in establishing the 
allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company did not have any write-offs in any period presented.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company deposits its cash with large financial institutions. At times, the Company’s cash balances with individual banking 
institutions will exceed the limits insured by the FDIC, however, the Company has not experienced any losses on such deposits.

The Company extends credit to its customers based upon an evaluation of the customers’ financial condition and credit history 
and generally does not require collateral. Credit losses, if any estimated, are provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements and consistently have been within management’s expectations. See Note 15 — Revenue — Concentrations.

Inventory, net

The Company values inventories at the lower of cost or net realizable value on a first-in, first-out basis. Cost is computed using 
standard cost, which approximates actual cost, on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventories are reduced for write-downs based on 
periodic reviews for evidence of slow-moving or obsolete parts. The write-down is based on the comparison between inventory 
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on hand and forecasted customer demand for each specific product. Once written down, inventory write-downs are not reversed 
until the inventory is sold or scrapped. Inventory write-downs are also established when conditions indicate the net realizable 
value is less than cost due to physical deterioration, technological obsolescence, changes in price level or other causes. All 
inventory provisions are recorded to cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of operations.

Property and Equipment, net

The Company’s property and equipment primarily consist of lab equipment, production tooling and masks, equipment, furniture 
and fixtures, leasehold improvements, and computer hardware and software. Property and equipment are recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of 
between three and seven years and for leasehold improvements the lesser of the remaining lease term or useful life. Major 
improvements are capitalized while routine repairs and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred.

Production masks with discernible future benefits, namely that they will be used to manufacture products to service customer 
demand, are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of four years. Production masks being used for research 
and development or testing do not meet the criteria for capitalization and are expensed as research and development costs.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for its business acquisitions under the ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations guidance for business 
combinations. The total cost of acquisitions is allocated to the underlying identifiable net assets based on their respective 
estimated fair values. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management’s judgment and 
often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash inflows and 
outflows, discount rates, asset lives and market multiples, among other items.

Intangible Assets, net

The Company’s intangible assets include intangible assets acquired from business combinations, intellectual property (“IP”) 
and software licensed from third parties. The majority of the intangible assets have finite lives, except for those related to in-
progress research and development (“IPR&D”), and are amortized over a period of two to twelve years, on a straight-line basis, 
which approximates the pattern in which economic benefits of these assets are expected to be utilized. IPR&D is considered to 
have indefinite life until the abandonment or completion of the associated research and development efforts. If the development 
is abandoned in the future, these assets will be expensed in the period of abandonment. If and when the development activities 
are completed, IPR&D assets will be reclassified to developed technology, management will make a determination of the useful 
lives and methods of amortization of these assets. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of purchase consideration of an acquired business over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level on an annual 
basis on October 1, or more frequently if circumstances change or an event occurs that would more likely than not reduce the 
fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

Significant judgment may be required when goodwill is assessed for impairment. Qualitative factors may be assessed to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the 
assessment of all relevant qualitative factors indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is 
greater than its carrying amount, a quantitative goodwill impairment test is not necessary. If the assessment of all relevant 
qualitative factors indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the Company will perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative impairment test for goodwill consists of a 
comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying value, including the goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. If 
the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company will recognize an impairment loss equal to the amount 
of the excess, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Application of the impairment test requires 
judgement, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units and the 
determination of fair value of each reporting unit. The Company did not record any impairment to goodwill for the years ended 
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
The Company regularly reviews its operating performance for indicators of impairment. Factors considered important that 
could trigger an impairment review include a significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future 
operating results, or a significant change in the manner of the use of the assets. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset (or asset group) to estimated undiscounted future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset (or asset group). If the carrying amount of an asset (or asset group) exceeds its estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent the fair value is less than the carrying value. 
The Company recorded $998 of impairment charges related to certain property and equipment and right-of-use assets for the 
year ended December 31, 2024 as part of its Restructuring Plan (as defined below) initiative that commenced in August 2024 
(see Note 4 — Restructuring Costs). As a result, all pre-tax charges related to such initiatives are separately reflected in 
Restructuring costs in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company did not record any impairment to long-
lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between willing, able and knowledgeable market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are 
not adjusted for transaction costs. In addition, a three-tiered hierarchy for inputs is used in management’s determination of fair 
value of financial instruments that emphasizes the use of observable inputs over the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that 
the observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are market participant assumptions based on market data 
obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are the reporting entity’s own assumptions about 
market participants based on the best information available under the circumstances. In assessing the appropriateness of using 
observable inputs in making its fair value determinations, the Company considers whether the market for a particular security is 
“active” or not based on all the relevant facts and circumstances.

Valuation service providers typically obtain data about market transactions and other key valuation model inputs from multiple 
sources and, through the use of widely accepted valuation models, provide a single fair value measurement for individual 
securities for which a fair value has been requested under the terms of service agreements. The inputs used by the valuation 
service providers include, but are not limited to, market prices from recently completed transactions and transactions of 
comparable securities, interest rate yield curves, credit spreads, currency rates and other market observable information, as 
applicable. The valuation models consider, among other things, market observable information as of the measurement date as 
well as the specific attributes of the security being valued including its term, interest rate, credit rating, industry sector and, 
when applicable, collateral quality and other issue or issuer specific information. When market transactions or other market 
observable data is limited, the extent to which judgment is applied in determining fair value is greatly increased.

As a basis for considering such assumptions, a three-tier value hierarchy is used in management’s determination of fair value 
based on the reliability and observability of inputs as follows:

Level 1 — Valuations are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the Company has the ability to access for 
identical, unrestricted assets and do not involve any meaningful degree of judgment. An active market is defined as a market 
where transactions for the financial instrument occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis;

Level 2 — Valuations are based on direct and indirect observable inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1. 
Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets in active markets and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 
for the asset, such as the terms of the security and market-based inputs;

Level 3 — Valuations are based on techniques that use significant inputs that are unobservable. The valuation of Level 3 assets 
and liabilities requires the greatest degree of judgment. These measurements may be made under circumstances in which there 
is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment. In making the assessment, the Company considers factors specific 
to the asset. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In 
such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
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The Company’s fair value measurements in each reporting period include cash equivalents, debt instruments, share-
based awards, contingent considerations and earn-out liabilities. The Company’s financial instruments of accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses are stated at their carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short time to 
the expected receipt or payment date. The Company continues to remeasure its contingent considerations and earn-out liabilities 
associated with business combinations using Level 3 fair value measurements.

Warrant Liability

The Company accounted for the Public Warrants and the Private Warrants, which were issued on June 10, 2021 in connection 
with the Transaction (as defined below), in accordance with ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own 
Equity (“ASC 815”), under which the Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity classification and must be recorded as 
liabilities. As the Warrants did not meet the definition of a derivative as contemplated in ASC 815, the warrants were measured 
at fair value at inception and at each reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, with changes in fair 
value recognized as a component of Other income (expense), net on the consolidated statement of operations. During the year 
ended December 31, 2023, indie completed the exchange of the Warrants, which eliminated the need for future remeasurement 
of the warrant liabilities. See Note 1 - Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation - Warrant Exchange for further 
information.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. 
The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer. The Company has multiple business activities 
and are managed and held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the 
consolidated unit level by individual segment managers. However, discrete financial information is not reviewed by CODM as 
the operating results of the Company are reviewed by the CODM only on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, the Company has 
one operating segment, and therefore, one reportable segment.

Revenue

Revenue is primarily derived from the design and sale of semiconductor solutions. Revenue is recognized within the scope of 
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company recognizes product revenue in the consolidated statement of 
operations when it satisfies performance obligations under the terms of its contracts and upon transfer of control at a point in 
time when title transfers either upon shipment to or receipt by the customer as determined by the contractual shipping terms of 
the contract, net of accruals for estimated sales returns and allowances. To date, total returns and allowances issued by the 
Company has been de minimis. Sales and other taxes the Company collects, if any, are excluded from revenue. Product revenue 
arrangements do not contain significant financing components.

The Company generally offers a limited warranty to customers covering a period of twelve months which obligates the 
Company to repair or replace manufacturing defective products. The warranty is not sold separately and does not represent a 
separate performance obligation. Therefore, such warranties are accounted for under ASC 460, Guarantees, and the estimated 
costs of warranty claims are accrued as cost of goods sold in the period the related revenue is recorded. Infrequently, the 
Company offers an extended limited warranty to customers for certain products. The Company accrues for known warranty and 
indemnification issues if a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. As of December 31, 2024, total warranty liability 
is not material. 

Engineering services contracts with customers typically contain only one distinct performance obligation, which is primarily 
design services for integrated circuits (“ICs”) based on agreed upon specifications. Engineering services contracts typically also 
include the purchase, at the customer’s option, of the designed products at agreed upon prices subsequent to completion of the 
design services. The Company has determined that the option to purchase these products is not a material right and has not 
allocated transaction price to this provision.

For these engineering services arrangements, revenue is recognized over time as services are provided based on the terms of the 
contract on an input basis, using costs incurred as the measure of progress and is recorded as contract revenue in the 
consolidated statement of operations. The costs incurred represent the most reliable measure of transfer of control to the 
customer. Revenue is deferred for amounts billed or received prior to delivery of the services.
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Practical Expedients and Elections

ASC 606 requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of transaction price that is allocated to performance obligations that have 
not yet been satisfied as of the reporting periods presented. The guidance provides certain practical expedients that limit this 
requirement and, therefore, disclosure of the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original 
expected length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which revenue is recognized at the amount to which the Company has 
the right to invoice for services performed is not provided. The Company has elected not to disclose the aggregate amount of 
transaction prices associated with unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts where these criteria 
are met.

The Company’s policy is to capitalize any incremental costs incurred to obtain a customer contract, only to the extent that the 
benefit associated with the costs is expected to be longer than one year. Capitalizable contract costs were not significant as of 
both December 31, 2024 and 2023 and accordingly, no costs have been capitalized.

The Company accounts for shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers as costs to fulfill the promise to 
transfer the associated products. When shipping and handling costs are incurred after a customer obtains control of the products, 
the Company has elected to account for these as costs to fulfill the promise and not as a separate performance obligation. 
Shipping and handling costs associated with the distribution of products to customers are insignificant, but if incurred, are 
recorded in cost of goods sold generally when the related product is shipped to the customer.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, Leases, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition 
guidance, which does not require reassessment of prior conclusions related to contracts containing a lease, lease classification 
and initial direct lease costs. Further, the Company elected to exclude short-term leases (term of 12 months or less) from the 
balance sheet presentation and accounted for non-lease and lease components in a contract as a single lease for certain asset 
classes.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold includes cost of materials and contract manufacturing services, including semiconductor wafers processed 
by third-party foundries, costs associated with packaging, assembly, testing and shipping products. In addition, cost of goods 
sold includes the costs of personnel, certain royalties for embedded intellectual property, production tooling used in the 
manufacturing process, logistics, warranty, and amortization of production mask costs. Cost of goods sold also include 
amortization of certain intangible assets acquired through business combinations. 

In addition to generating revenues from product shipments, the Company recognizes revenues related to certain engineering 
services contracts which help offset the costs of developing ICs for customers. The costs associated with fulfilling these 
contracts are expensed as incurred as research and development in the period incurred. 

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in performing product design and development activities 
including employee compensation and benefits, third-party fees paid to consultants, occupancy costs, pre-
production engineering mask costs, engineering samples and prototypes, packaging, test development and product qualification 
costs. In certain situations, the Company enters into engineering services agreements with certain customers to develop ICs. 
The costs incurred in satisfying these contracts are recorded as research and development expenses. Research and development 
expenses also include amortization of certain intangible assets acquired through business combinations. All research and 
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses include employee compensation and benefits for sales, executive management, 
finance, accounting, legal, human resources and other administrative personnel. In addition, it includes marketing and 
advertising, outside legal, tax and accounting services, insurance, and occupancy costs and related overhead costs allocated 
based on headcount. Selling, general, and administrative costs also include amortization of certain intangible assets acquired 
through business combinations. Selling, general, and administrative costs are expensed as incurred.

Restructuring Costs
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In August 2024, the Company initiated a plan intended to improve its operating performance (the “Plan”). The Plan consisted of 
actions including but not limited to, workforce and facilities reductions. Due to the size, nature and frequency of this Plan, it is 
fundamentally different from the Company’s ongoing productivity actions. As a result, all pre-tax charges related to such 
initiatives are separately reflected in Restructuring costs in the consolidated statement of operations.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors. The fair 
value of share-based payment awards is amortized over the requisite service period, which is defined as the period during which 
an employee is required to provide service in exchange for an award. The Company generally uses a straight-line attribution 
method for all grants that include only a service condition. Awards with both performance and service conditions are expensed 
over the service period for each separately vesting tranche.

Share-based compensation expense recognized during the period includes actual expense on vested awards and expense 
associated with unvested awards. Forfeitures are recorded as incurred.

The determination of fair value of restricted and certain market- or performance-based stock awards and units is based on the 
value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant with performance-based awards and units adjusted for the actual outcome of 
the underlying vesting conditions. The determination of fair value of shares issued through the Company’s Employee Equity 
Participation Plan and options granted are based on the Black-Scholes model. The fair value of market-based awards is based 
on Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. 

Income Taxes

On June 10, 2021, we completed a series of transactions (the “Transaction”) with Thunder Bridge Acquisition II, Ltd (“TB2”) 
pursuant to the Master Transactions Agreement dated December 14, 2020, as amended on May 3, 2021 (the “MTA”). In 
connection with the Transaction, Thunder Bridge II Surviving Pubco, Inc, a Delaware corporation (“Surviving Pubco”), was 
formed to be the successor public company to TB2, TB2 was domesticated into a Delaware corporation and merged with and 
into a merger subsidiary of Surviving Pubco, and Surviving Pubco changed its name to indie Semiconductor, Inc. As a result of 
the Transaction, indie Semiconductor, Inc. became the holding company for ADK LLC. ADK LLC is treated as a partnership 
for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes. As a partnership, ADK LLC is not subject to U.S. 
federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by ADK LLC is passed through to and 
included in the taxable income or loss of its members, including indie, based on its economic interest held in the partnership. 
indie is taxed as a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to its allocable share of 
any taxable income or loss of ADK LLC, as well as any stand-alone income or loss generated by indie.

Income taxes are recognized based upon our underlying annual blended federal, state and foreign income tax rates for the year. 
As the sole managing member of ADK LLC, indie Semiconductor, Inc. consolidates the financial results of ADK LLC and its 
subsidiaries. Further, indie Semiconductor Inc. is taxed as a corporation and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income 
taxes with respect to its allocable share of any taxable income or loss of ADK LLC, as well as any stand-alone income or loss 
generated by indie. Income tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2024 are primarily related to our foreign operations. 
Income tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2023 are primarily related to the tax effects of our acquisition structure of 
GEO Semiconductor, Inc. (“GEO”) and release of valuation allowance in China.

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method pursuant to ASC 740 for its corporate 
subsidiaries. Under this method, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized based on all available positive and negative evidence. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Company continues to maintain a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets in the United 
States, but has released the valuation allowance for entities in China.

The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process regarding recognition and 
measurement. The Company recognizes a tax benefit only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on 
examination by the local taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The Company then measures the tax 
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions based on the largest benefit greater than 50% likelihood of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. The changes in recognition or measurement are reflected 
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in the period in which the change in judgment occurs based on new information not previously available. As of December 31, 
2024, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions.

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its tax provision. As of December 31, 2024, 
no accrued interest or penalties are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet, and the Company has not recorded any related 
expenses.

Comprehensive Loss

Other comprehensive loss consists of two components, net loss and other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”). OCI refers to 
revenue, expenses and gains and losses that under U.S. GAAP are recorded as an element of stockholders’ equity and excluded 
from net income (loss). indie’s OCI consists of foreign currency translation adjustments from its subsidiaries not using the U.S. 
dollar as their functional currency. Foreign currency translation gain (loss) adjustments of $(18,814), $5,781 and $(10,624) 
represent the difference between net loss and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company’s basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable 
to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. The 
computation of net loss attributable to common stockholders is computed by deducting net earnings or loss attributable to non-
controlling interests from the consolidated net earnings or loss. The diluted net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period. The 
dilutive effect of these potential common shares is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of (i) the treasury stock 
method for assumed exercise of stock options, vesting of outstanding equity awards; and (ii) if-converted method for assumed 
issuance of shares related to the convertible debt.

Stock Repurchase

The Company accounts for stock repurchases in the consolidated balance sheet by reducing common stock for the par value of 
the shares, reducing paid-in capital for the amount in excess of par to zero during the period in which the shares are 
repurchased, and recording the residual amount, if any, to retained earnings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Not Yet Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expenses 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which provides guidance to 
enhance disclosures related to the disaggregation of income statement expenses. The standard requires, in the notes to the 
financial statements, disclosure of specified information about certain costs and expenses which includes purchases of 
inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization included in each relevant expense caption. 
The standard also requires amounts that are already required to be disclosed under U.S. GAAP in the same disclosure as the 
other disaggregation requirements, disclosure of a qualitative description of the amounts remaining in relevant expense captions 
that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively, and disclosure of the total amount of selling expenses and, in annual 
reporting periods, an entity's definition of selling expenses. The amendments in this standard are effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Companies have the option to 
apply the guidance either on a retrospective or prospective basis, and early adoption is permitted. The standard will become 
effective for indie for its fiscal year 2027 annual financial statements and interim financial statements thereafter and may be 
applied prospectively to periods after the adoption date or retrospectively for all prior periods presented in the financial 
statements, with early adoption permitted. The Company plans to adopt the standard when it becomes effective beginning in its 
fiscal year 2027 annual financial statements and is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its consolidated 
financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures, to require enhanced income tax disclosures to provide information to assess how an entity’s operations and related 
tax risks, tax planning, and operational opportunities affect its tax rate and prospects for future cash flows. The amendments in 
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this update provide that a business entity disclose (1) a tabular income tax rate reconciliation, using both percentages and 
amounts, (2) separate disclosure of any individual reconciling items that are equal to or greater than 5% of the amount 
computed by multiplying the income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes by the applicable statutory income 
tax rate, and disaggregation of certain items that are significant and (3) amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) 
disaggregated by federal, state and foreign jurisdictions, including separate disclosure of any individual jurisdictions greater 
than 5% of total income taxes paid. These amendments are effective for the Company for annual periods in 2025, applied 
prospectively, with early adoption and retrospective application permitted. The Company intends to adopt the amendments in 
this update prospectively in 2025. The impact of the adoption of the amendments in this update is not expected to be material to 
the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations, since the amendments require only enhancement of 
existing income tax disclosures in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) – Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures, to require enhanced disclosures that include reportable segment expenses. The amendments in this update 
provide that a business entity disclose significant segment expenses, segment profit or loss (after significant segment expenses), 
and allows reporting of additional measures of a segments profit or loss if used in assessing segment performance. Such 
disclosures apply to entities with a single reportable segment and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company adopted the guidance as of December 31, 2024 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of ASC 2023-07 
did not have a material impact on the Company’s segment-related disclosures (see Note 23 - Segment Reporting for further 
information).

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and 
Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, to provide specific guidance to eliminate diversity in practice on how to 
recognize and measure acquired contract assets and contract liabilities from revenue contracts from customers in a business 
combination consistent with revenue contracts with customers not acquired in an acquisition. The amendments in this update 
provide that the acquirer should consider the terms of the acquired contracts, such as timing of payment, identify each 
performance obligation in the contracts, and allocate the total transaction price to each identified performance obligation on a 
relative standalone selling price basis as of contract inception (that is, the date the acquiree entered into the contracts) or 
contract modification to determine what should be recorded at the acquisition date. These amendments were effective for the 
Company in 2023. The impact of the adoption of the amendments in this update was not material to the Company’s 
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In June 2016, the FASB amended guidance related to impairment of financial instruments as part of ASU 2016-13, Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which replaces the incurred 
loss impairment methodology with an expected credit loss model for which a company recognizes an allowance based on the 
estimate of expected credit loss. This ASU requires entities to measure the impairment of certain financial instruments, 
including accounts receivable, based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. This ASU is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted, and will be effective for the Company beginning in 2023. 
The Company adopted the guidance as of January 1, 2023 and the impact to its consolidated financial statements was not 
material.

3) Business Combinations

The Company acquired Silicon Radar in February 2023, GEO in March 2023, Exalos in September 2023 and Kinetic in January 
2024. These acquisitions were recorded by allocating the purchase consideration to the net assets acquired based on their 
estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase consideration for the acquisition over the fair value of 
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the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The following presents the final allocation of the purchase consideration to the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the aforementioned businesses as of December 31, 2024:

Kinetic Exalos
Silicon 
Radar GEO

Purchase price — cash consideration paid $ 3,200 $ — $ 8,653 $ 91,076 
Purchase price — cash consideration accrued 1,300 — 800 3,464 
Less: cash acquired — (3,439) (208) (1,092)

Net cash consideration $ 4,500 $ (3,439) $ 9,245 $ 93,448 

Purchase price — equity consideration issued (common stock) $ — $ 42,791 $ 9,834 $ 75,556 
Purchase price — equity consideration issuable (common stock) — 2,500 — 20,979 

Total equity consideration $ — $ 45,291 $ 9,834 $ 96,535 

Contingent consideration 4,599 9,755 9,240 59,280 
Net consideration $ 9,099 $ 51,607 $ 28,319 $ 249,263 

Estimated fair value of net assets and liabilities assumed:
Current assets other than cash $ 5,306 $ 4,531 $ 2,979 $ 24,043 
Property and equipment 950 1,253 781 178 
Developed technology 250 23,100 4,950 69,330 
In-process research & development 1,250 7,600 8,870 27,040 
Customer relationships 160 6,870 4,340 14,220 
Backlog 170 1,220 150 390 
Trade name 15 4,300 2,130 10,320 
Other non-current assets 729 — 17 10 
Current liabilities (753) (3,541) (1,585) (6,084) 
Deferred revenue — — (512) —
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current — (8,660) (2,772) (1,982) 
Other non-current liabilities (217) — — (711) 

Total fair value of net assets acquired $ 7,860 $ 36,673 $ 19,348 $ 136,754 

Goodwill $ 1,239 $ 14,934 $ 8,971 $ 112,509 

For all acquisitions, trade receivables and payables, as well as other current and non-current assets and liabilities and deferred 
revenue, were valued at the existing carrying value as they represented the fair value of those items at the acquisition date, 
based on management’s judgments and estimates. 

The aggregated amount of revenue from the acquired businesses in 2023 included in the Company’s consolidated statement of 
operations from their acquisition dates through December 31, 2023 is $59,687. It is impracticable for the Company to disclose 
the aggregated net earnings of these business combinations included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations 
from their acquisition dates through December 31, 2023 as the Company merged GEO into ADK LLC shortly after the 
acquisition such that the operating activities are comingled within ADK LLC.
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Acquisition of Kinetic

On January 25, 2024 (“Deal Closing Date”), indie and ADK LLC completed its acquisition of Kinetic. The acquisition was 
consummated pursuant to an executed APA to acquire certain research and development personnel, intellectual property and 
business properties from Kinetic, in support of a custom product development for a North American electric vehicle OEM. The 
closing consideration consisted of (i) $3,200 in cash as the Initial Cash Consideration, net of an adjustment holdback amount of 
$500 and an indemnity holdback amount of $800, (ii) the Production Earnout with fair value of $2,348, payable in cash or Class 
A common stock, subject to achievement of certain production based milestones 24 months after the Deal Closing Date, and 
(iii) the Revenue Earnout with fair value of $2,251, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to achievement of certain
revenue based milestones 12 months after the Deal Closing Date. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other
adjustments as provided in the APA. The indemnity holdback amount is payable within five business days after the 18-month
anniversary of the Deal Closing Date and is payable in shares of Class A common stock.

The Company paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as 
this acquisition brings the Company a new family of smart connectivity solutions that enable high-speed networking of displays 
and controllers throughout the vehicle, which already generated interest from OEMs. The goodwill is expected to be deductible 
for tax purposes.

indie incurred various acquisition-related costs, which were primarily legal expense, and recorded these as part of the Selling, 
General and Administrative expenses. Total costs incurred are $352 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024. 

The Company maintains an adjustment holdback and an indemnity holdback for the purpose of providing security against any 
adjustment to the amounts at closing. The adjustment holdback of $500 was released in July 2024 through a cash settlement 
while the indemnity holdback of $800 is reflected in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as its holdback period 
extends for 18 months from the Deal Closing Date. The indemnity holdback will be paid in cash. 

Total purchase consideration transferred at the Deal Closing Date also included contingent consideration that had a total fair 
value of $4,599 as of the acquisition date. The acquisition date fair value of the contingent considerations was determined based 
on the Company’s assessment of the probability of achieving the performance targets that ultimately obligate the Company to 
transfer additional consideration to the seller. The contingent consideration is comprised of two tranches and both are payable in 
cash or Class A common stock, at indie’s election. The Production Earnout pays up to a maximum of $3,000, upon fulfillment 
of certain production volume of a predetermined product within 24-month period ending on January 24, 2026. The Revenue 
Earnout pays up to a maximum of $2,500 upon the achievement of a minimum revenue threshold of $12,000 for the 12-month 
period ending on January 24, 2025. The fair value of any outstanding contingent consideration liabilities will be remeasured as 
of the end of each reporting period with any resulting remeasurement gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement 
of operations. The Revenue Earnout is reflected in Contingent considerations and the Production Earnout is reflected in Other 
long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.

Pro forma financial information for Kinetic is not disclosed as the results are not material to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill as follows: 

Preliminary 
Valuation Adjustment

Final
Valuation

Inventory 4,444 (734) 3,710
Property and equipment 962 (12) 950
Developed technology 455 (205) 250
In-progress research & development 750 500 1,250 
Customer relationships 250 (90) 160
Backlog 19 151 170 
Trade name 97 (82) 15
Goodwill 767 472 1,239 
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Changes in fair value of inventory, property and equipment were a result of gathering additional information during the 
measurement period. The Company also revised the initial values of intangible assets as a result of switching from utilizing 
publicly available benchmarking information to determine the fair value of the intangible assets to primarily utilizing an income 
method based on forecasts of expected future cash flows. 

Developed technology relates to the high-speed data connectivity technology, which can be applied to various automotive usage 
and immediately expands indie’s automotive user experience product and technology. Developed technologies was valued 
using relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing 
agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to reflect the maintenance R&D expenses associated with 
sustaining the technology. The economic useful life was determined to be two years based on the remaining technology cycle 
related to each developed technology, as well as the cash flows over the forecast period.

Customer relationships represent the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of Kinetic. The fair value was determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. 
The economic useful life was determined to be ten years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with Kinetic’ customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. The economic useful life was determined to be 
two years. 

Trade name relates to the “Kinetic” trade name. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the 
income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar 
brand names. The economic useful life was determined to be three years.

The fair value of IPR&D was determined using the relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty rate was 
determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to reflect the 
maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology.

Under both the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods, the fair value models incorporated estimates of 
future cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s 
judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and 
assumptions made by management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement of these acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy measurements.
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Acquisition of Exalos AG

On September 18, 2023, Ay Dee Kay Ltd. completed its acquisition of Exalos, pursuant to that Share Sale and Purchase 
Agreement by and among Ay Dee Kay Ltd., the Company and all of the stockholders of Exalos, whereby Ay Dee Kay Ltd. 
acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Exalos. The closing consideration consisted of (i) approximately 6,613,786 
shares of Class A common stock of the Company, with a fair value of $42,791; (ii) a contingent consideration with fair value of 
$9,755 at closing, payable in cash or Class A common stock, subject to Exalos’ achievement of certain revenue-based 
milestones through September 30, 2025; and (iii) a holdback of $2,500 subject to final release 12 months from the acquisition 
date payable in shares of Class A common stock. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other adjustments as 
provided in the Share Sale and Purchase Agreement. 

The Company paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as 
this acquisition immediately expands the Company’s ADAS and User Experience product and technology offering to its global 
tier one and automotive OEM customer base. Specifically, indie can now leverage Exalos’ technology portfolio to extend its 
FMCW LiDAR portfolio. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The Company incurred various acquisition-related costs, which were primarily legal expenses and recorded as part of the 
Selling, General and Administrative expenses. Total costs incurred were $384 and $621 for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively.

The Company maintained an adjustment holdback for the purpose of providing security against any adjustment to the amounts 
at closing. The holdback period extended for 12 months from the closing date and was paid in shares of Class A common stock. 
On September 27, 2024, the adjustment holdback was settled and 610,975 shares of Class A common stock were issued with a 
final fair value of $2,548. Accordingly, the fair value of the adjustment holdback liability was reduced to zero as of 
December 31, 2024 and a loss of $48 was recorded in Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2024 in the 
consolidated statement of operations. 

Total purchase consideration transferred at closing also included contingent consideration that had a fair value of $9,755 as of 
the acquisition date. The acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration was determined based on the Company’s 
assessment of the probability of achieving the performance targets that ultimately obligate the Company to transfer additional 
consideration to the seller through the Monte Carlo simulation. The contingent consideration is comprised of two tranches, with 
maximum payout up to $13,500 and $6,500, respectively, both subject to Exalos achieving certain revenue targets. Both 
tranches are payable in cash or Class A common stock, at indie’s election, up to a maximum of $20,000, upon the achievement 
of a revenue threshold of $19,000 for the 12-month period ended on September 30, 2024 and the achievement of a revenue 
threshold of $21,000 for the 12-month period ending on September 30, 2025, respectively. The fair value of any outstanding 
contingent consideration liabilities are remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with any resulting remeasurement 
gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. In November 2024, the Company settled the first tranche 
through the issuance of 2,845,243 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $9,930 at the time of issuance, and a 
cash payment of $2,536. The second tranche of this earn-out liability is reflected in Contingent considerations in the 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.

As of September 30, 2024, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill as follows: 
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Preliminary 
Valuation Adjustment

Final
Valuation

Purchase price — contingent considerations $ 13,225 $ (3,470) $ 9,755 

Inventory 1,934 123 2,057 
Property and equipment 1,001 252 1,253 
Developed technology 7,968 15,132 23,100 
In-progress research & development 7,968 (368) 7,600
Customer relationships 5,312 1,558 6,870 
Backlog 664 556 1,220 
Trade name 3,984 316 4,300 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current (5,330) (3,330) (8,660) 
Operating lease right-of-use assets step-up 664 (664) —
Goodwill 31,979 (17,045) 14,934 

Change in the contingent considerations was driven by updating the valuation methodology from probability-weighted method 
to Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. The Company initially used the probability-weighted method to determine the fair value 
of the equity-based earn out as certain information was not available to conduct the Monte Carlo Simulations analysis. 

Changes in fair value of inventory, property and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets step-up and deferred tax 
liabilities were a result of gathering additional information during the measurement period. The Company also revised the 
initial values of intangible assets as a result of switching from utilizing publicly available benchmarking information to 
determine the fair value of the intangible assets to primarily utilizing an income method based on forecasts of expected future 
cash flows. As a result, the Company recorded an adjustment to increase the amortization of intangible assets of $554 in the 
consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2024 that would have been recorded during the year 
ended December 31, 2023 if the adjustment to the intangible assets had been recognized as of the date of the acquisition. 

Developed technology relates to near-infrared super-luminescent diodes (“SLEDs”), which can be used in Fiber-Optic 
Gyroscopes (“FOG”) for aerospace and defense navigation systems and sensors for fiber-optic sensing applications. Exalos 
existing SLEDs technology is complementary to TeraXion’s fiber-optic technology and immediately expands indie’s ADAS 
and user experience product and technology. Developed technologies was valued using relief from royalty of the income 
approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies 
and was further adjusted to reflect the maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology. The economic 
useful life was determined to be ten years based on the technology cycle related to each developed technology, as well as the 
cash flows over the forecast period.

Customer relationships represent the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of Exalos. The fair value was determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. 
The economic useful life was determined to be seven years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with Exalos’ customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. The economic useful life was determined to be 
two years. 

Trade name relates to the “Exalos” trade name. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the income 
approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar brand 
names. The economic useful life was determined to be seven years.

The fair value of IPR&D was determined using the relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty rate was 
determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to reflect the 
maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology.
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Under both the relief from royalty and multi-period excess earnings methods, the fair value models incorporated estimates of 
future cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s 
judgment regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and 
assumptions made by management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement of these acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy measurements.

Pro forma financial information for Exalos is not disclosed as the results are not material to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Acquisition of GEO Semiconductor Inc.

On February 9, 2023, indie entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, pursuant to which Gonzaga Merger Sub Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and indie’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will merge with and into GEO Semiconductor Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, with GEO surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of indie. The aggregate consideration for this transaction 
consisted of (i) $93,448 in cash (including accrued cash consideration at closing and net of cash acquired); (ii) the issuance by 
indie of 6,868,768 shares of Class A common stock at closing, with a fair value of $75,556; (iii) 1,907,180 shares of Class A 
common stock at closing, with a fair value of $20,979 payable after closing for the purpose of adjustment and indemnity 
holdbacks as described below; and (iv) contingent consideration with fair value of $59,280 at closing payable in cash or in 
Class A common stock as described below. The purchase price is subject to working capital and other adjustments as provided 
in the Agreement and Plan of Merger. The transaction was completed on March 3, 2023. 

The Company incurred various acquisition-related costs, which were primarily legal expense and recorded as part of the 
Selling, General and Administrative expenses. Total costs incurred are $2,473 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

GEO has programs with major image sensor suppliers and is engaged in multiple EV and autonomous vehicle programs. Its 
products comprise three generations of application specific camera video processors, including those focused on viewing, 
where video is projected on a display and viewed by the driver, and sensing, where video is processed using advanced computer 
vision and machine learning algorithms to assist the driver. The unique ability to support both of these key categories is 
expected to allow indie to deliver solutions in applications ranging from simple backup cameras to full Autonomous Driving 
platforms. Accordingly, indie paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired as this acquisition is expected to continue to strengthen indie’s expansion into the ADAS and autonomous 
vehicles market. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The Agreement and Plan of Merger allowed the Company to maintain an indemnity and adjustment holdback for the purpose of 
providing security against any adjustment to the amounts at closing. The indemnity holdback period extends for 24 months 
from the anniversary of the closing date. The indemnity holdback will be settled by transferring up to 1,566,472 shares of the 
Company’s Class A common stock. The fair value of the indemnity holdback was $17,231 as of the acquisition date. The 
adjustment holdback represents up to 340,708 shares of the Company’s stock and its period extended for 60 days from the 
closing date. The fair value of the adjustment holdback was $3,748 as of the acquisition date. The fair value of any outstanding 
liabilities will be remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with any resulting remeasurement gains or losses recognized 
in the consolidated statement of operations. On July 7, 2023, the adjustment holdback was settled and 291,366 shares of Class 
A common stock were issued with a final fair value of $2,651. Accordingly, the fair value of the adjustment holdback was 
reduced to zero as of December 31, 2023 and a gain of $1,096 was recorded in Other income (expense), net for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 in the consolidated statement of operations. The indemnity holdback is reflected in Accrued expenses and 
other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.

Total purchase consideration transferred at closing included contingent consideration that had a fair value of $59,280 as of the 
acquisition date, which was determined by conducting a Monte Carlo Simulation analysis. The contingent consideration is 
comprised of two tranches, both subject to GEO achieving certain GEO-related revenue targets. The first tranche was payable, 
up to a maximum of $55,000, upon the achievement of revenue threshold of $20,000 for the twelve-month period ended on 
March 31, 2024. The second tranche was payable, up to a maximum of $35,000, upon the achievement of revenue threshold of 
$10,000 for the six-month period ended on September 30, 2024. Both tranches were payable in cash or Class A common stock, 
at indie’s election. The number of shares issuable through a payment in common stock equaled to the earnout value divided by 
a 20 days VWAP ending on each earnout period and is collared between $8.50 and $11.50 per share (“Earnout Parent Trading 
Price”). If the Company elect to pay the earn-out consideration in cash, the amount will be determined by multiplying the 
number of shares payable by the Earnout Parent Trading Price. The fair value of any outstanding contingent consideration 
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liabilities was remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with any resulting remeasurement gains or losses recognized in 
the consolidated statement of operations. In May 2024, the Company settled the first tranche through the issuance of 6,096,951 
shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $40,667 at the time of issuance. In December 2024, the Company settled 
the second tranche through the issuance of 1,015,621 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $4,459 at the time of 
issuance.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill.

The fair value of inventory was calculated using the cost of goods sold to estimate the selling price. The selling price was 
adjusted for selling costs and a reasonable profit margin. 

Developed technology relates to a primary product GEO held at the time of acquisition and was valued using Multi-Period 
Excess Earnings Method (“MPEEM”) approach, which estimates value based upon the present value of future economic 
benefits. This method determines the value of the specific intangible asset as the present value of ‘excess’ cash flows or income 
attributable to a specific intangible asset after an appropriate return for all other assets used in the operation of the 
corresponding business have been accounted for. The economic useful life was determined to be eight years based on the 
technology cycle, as well as the cash flows over the forecast period.

The fair value of IPR&D, was determined using the replacement cost approach, which represents a systematic framework for 
estimating the value of intangible assets based upon the economic principle of substitution. If the development is abandoned in 
the future, these assets will be expensed in the period of abandonment. If and when the development activities are completed, 
IPR&D assets will be reclassified to developed technology, management will make a determination of the useful lives and 
methods of amortization of these assets. 

Customer relationships represents the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of GEO. The fair value was determined by applying the distributor method, which is a variation of the 
MPEEM. The economic useful life was determined to be twelve years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with GEO’s customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the distributor method. The economic useful life was determined to be two years. 

Trade name relates to the trade names held by GEO. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the 
income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar 
brand names. The economic useful life was determined to be eight years.

Under both the relief from royalty method and MPEEM, the fair value models incorporated estimates of future cash flows, 
estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s judgment regarding 
the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and assumptions made by 
management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of these 
acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy 
measurements.

The amount of revenue of GEO included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from the acquisition date of 
March 3, 2023 through December 31, 2023 is $48,417. It is impracticable for the Company to disclose the net earnings of GEO 
included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from the acquisition date of March 3, 2023 through December 
31, 2023 as the Company merged GEO into ADK LLC shortly after the acquisition such that the operating activities are 
comingled within ADK LLC.

The unaudited pro forma financial information shown below summarizes the combined results of operations for the Company 
and GEO as if the closing of the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2023:

Year ended 
December 31, 2023

Year ended 
December 31, 2022

Combined revenue $ 226,839 $ 160,748 
Combined net loss before income taxes $ (143,046) $ (87,020) 
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The unaudited pro forma financial information includes adjustments that are directly attributable to the business combination 
and are factually supportable. Pro forma information reflects adjustments that are expected to have a continuing impact on the 
Company’s results of operations and are directly attributable to the acquisition. The unaudited pro forma results include 
adjustments to reflect, among other things, direct transaction costs relating to the acquisition, the incremental intangible asset 
amortization to be incurred based on the preliminary values of each identifiable intangible asset, and to eliminate a portion of 
the interest expense related to legacy GEO’s former loans, which were settled upon completion of the acquisition. The 
unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the 
operating results that would have been realized if the acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2023.

Acquisition of Silicon Radar GmbH

On February 21, 2023, Symeo, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding 
capital stock of Silicon Radar. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement by and among 
Symeo, the Company and the holders of the outstanding capital stock of Silicon Radar. The closing consideration consisted of 
(i) $9,245 in cash (including accrued cash consideration at closing and net of cash acquired), (ii) approximately 982,445 shares
of Class A common stock of the Company, with a fair value of $9,834, and (iii) a contingent consideration payable in cash or in
Class A common stock subject to Silicon Radar’s achievement of certain revenue-based milestones through February 21, 2025.
The fair value of this contingent consideration was $9,240 on February 21, 2023. The purchase price is subject to working
capital and other adjustments as provided in the Share Purchase Agreement.

The Company paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired as 
this acquisition brings the Company an engineering development team with broad experience in radar system, which is 
expected to expand indie’s entry into the radar market and enable the Company to capture strategic opportunities among Tier 1 
customers. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

indie incurred various acquisition-related costs, which were primarily legal expense and recorded as part of the Selling, General 
and Administrative expenses. Total costs incurred are $717 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company maintained an adjustment holdback for the purpose of providing security against any adjustment to the amounts 
at closing. The holdback period extended for 12 months from the closing date and was settled by cash in February 2024.

Total purchase consideration transferred at closing also included contingent consideration that had a fair value of $9,240 as of 
the acquisition date, which was determined by conducting a Monte Carlo Simulation Analysis. The contingent consideration is 
comprised of two tranches, both subject to Silicon Radar achieving certain revenue targets. Both tranches are payable, up to a 
maximum of $9,000, upon the achievement of revenue threshold of $5,000 for the twelve-month period ended on February 21, 
2024 and the achievement of revenue threshold of $7,000 for the twelve-month period ending on February 21, 2025, 
respectively. Both tranches are payable in cash or Class A common stock, at indie’s election. Should indie elect to pay in 
common stock, the number of shares issuable through a payment in Class A common stock equals to earnout divided by a 
volume-weighted-average-price (“VWAP”) for 20 days ending prior to the due date for payment. The fair value of any 
outstanding contingent consideration liabilities is remeasured as of the end of each reporting period with any resulting 
remeasurement gains or losses recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. In May 2024, the Company settled the 
first tranche through the issuance of 1,103,140 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $6,045 at the time of 
issuance. The second tranche of this earn-out liability is reflected in Contingent considerations in the consolidated balance sheet 
as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company finalized the opening net assets acquired and goodwill. 

The fair value of inventory was calculated using the cost of goods sold to estimate the selling price. The selling price was 
adjusted for selling costs and a reasonable profit margin. 

Four separate developed technologies relating to radar sensors with different frequencies were identified at the time of the 
acquisition. Developed technologies were each valued using relief from royalty of the income approach. The selected royalty 
rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar technologies and was further adjusted to 
reflect the maintenance R&D expenses associated with sustaining the technology. The economic useful life for the identified 
assets range between three years and ten years based on the technology cycle related to each developed technology, as well as 
the cash flows over the forecast period.
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Customer relationships represents the fair value of future projected revenue that will be derived from sales of products to 
existing customers of Symeo. The fair value was determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. 
The economic useful life was determined to be ten years. 

Backlog relates to various purchase orders in place with Symeo’s customers at the time of the acquisition. The fair value was 
determined by applying the excess earnings method of the income approach. The economic useful life was determined to be 
two years was determined. 

Trade name relates to the “Silicon Radar” trade name. The fair value was determined by applying the relief from royalty of the 
income approach. The selected royalty rate was determined based on an analysis of licensing agreements related to similar 
brand names. The economic useful life was determined to be seven years.

The fair value of IPR&D was determined based on the projected total costs-to-complete at the time of the acquisition. If the 
development is abandoned in the future, these assets will be expensed in the period of abandonment. If and when the 
development activities are completed, IPR&D assets will be reclassified to developed technology, management will make a 
determination of the useful lives and methods of amortization of these assets. 

Under both the relief from royalty and costs-to-complete methods, the fair value models incorporated estimates of future cash 
flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows, estimates of future growth rates and management’s judgment 
regarding the applicable discount rates to use to discount such estimates of cash flows. Because the estimates and assumptions 
made by management at the time of the acquisitions are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of 
these acquired identifiable intangible assets, the corresponding fair values are classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy 
measurements.

Pro forma financial information for Silicon Radar is not disclosed as the results are not material to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

4) Restructuring Costs

In August 2024, the Company initiated the Restructuring Plan, which consisted of actions including but not limited to, 
workforce and facilities reductions. These actions commenced during the third quarter of 2024 and were substantially 
completed at December 31, 2024. Due to the size, nature and frequency of this Plan, it is fundamentally different from the 
Company’s ongoing productivity actions. As a result, all pre-tax charges related to such initiatives are separately reflected in 
Restructuring costs in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024. Liabilities 
associated with the Restructuring Plan are separately reflected in Accrued payroll liabilities and Accrued expenses and other 
current liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet for personnel and non-personnel related charges, respectively. 
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company incurred total charges of $4,332 and remaining liabilities as of 
December 31, 2024 totaled $884.

5) Inventory, net

Inventory, net consists of the following:

December 31,
2024 2023

Raw materials $ 14,496 $ 7,360 
Work-in-process 21,229 12,423 
Finished goods 18,737 15,896 

Inventory, gross 54,462 35,679 
Less: Inventory reserves 4,575 2,538 

Inventory, net $ 49,887 $ 33,141 

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized write-downs in the value of inventory of 
$1,918, $746, and $1,563, respectively.
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6) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following:

December 31,
Useful life 2024 2023
(in years)

Production tooling 4 $ 21,256 $ 16,428 
Lab equipment 4 14,484 12,887 
Office equipment 3 - 7 10,162 6,539 
Leasehold improvements * 1,921 1,898 
Construction in progress 7,597 3,867 

Property and equipment, gross 55,420 41,619 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 21,139 14,653 

Property and equipment, net $ 34,281 $ 26,966 

* Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining lease term or estimated useful life of the leasehold
improvement.

The Company recognized depreciation expense of $6,533, $5,367, and $3,168 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. The Company recorded $116 of impairment charges related to certain property and equipment for the 
year ended December 31, 2024 as part of its restructuring initiative that commenced in August 2024. 

Fixed assets not yet in service, or construction in progress, consist primarily of capitalized internal-use software and certain 
tooling and other equipment that are not yet ready to be placed into service.

7) Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets, net consist of the following:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Weighted
average

remaining
useful life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Weighted
average

remaining
useful life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Developed technology 5.8 $ 121,893 $ (33,609) $ 88,284 6.3 $ 106,512 $ (17,876) $ 88,636 
Software licenses 2.8 23,706 (6,243) 17,463 1.0 23,745 (18,828) 4,917 
Customer relationships 7.6 43,159 (9,118) 34,041 9.4 41,441 (5,156) 36,285 
Intellectual property 
licenses 0.8 1,947 (1,736) 211 0.3 1,911 (1,736) 175 
Trade names 4.9 26,301 (7,496) 18,805 6.0 25,970 (4,311) 21,659 
Backlog 0.6 2,296 (1,683) 613 1.2 1,570 (700) 870
Effect of exchange rate 
on gross carrying 
amount

(6,662) — (6,662) (917) — (917) 
Intangible assets with 
finite lives 212,640 (59,885) 152,755 200,232 (48,607) 151,625 

IPR&D 57,390 — 57,390 56,508 — 56,508 
Effect of exchange rate 
on gross carrying 
amount

(1,201) — (1,201) 1 — 1 
Total intangible assets 
with indefinite lives 56,189 — 56,189 56,509 — 56,509 

Total intangible assets $ 268,829 $ (59,885) $ 208,944 $ 256,741 $ (48,607) $ 208,134 
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The Company obtained software licenses, which it uses for its research and development efforts related to its products. In both 
fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company acquired developed technology, customer relationships, trade names, backlog and IPR&D 
as a result of business combinations. See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional information. Further, during the year 
ended December 31, 2024, the Company acquired $20,585 of software licenses with a contractual life of three years and retired 
fully amortized intangible assets of $20,345 of software licenses.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period to be benefited by future cash 
flows. The Company monitors and assesses these assets for impairment on a periodic basis. For the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company determined that there were no impairment of intangible assets.

Amortization of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $33,244, $26,481, and $11,644, 
respectively, and is included within Cost of goods sold, Research and development expenses, and Selling, general and 
administrative expenses based on their respective nature, in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Based on the amount of definite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization as of December 31, 2024, amortization expense 
for each of the next five fiscal years is expected to be as follows:

2025 $ 31,194 
2026 29,215 
2027 23,087 
2028 19,239 
2029 6,340 
Thereafter 43,680 
Total $ 152,755 

8) Goodwill

The following table sets forth the carrying amount and activity of goodwill as of December 31, 2024:

December 31,
2024 2023

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 295,096 $ 136,463 
Acquisitions (Note 3) 1,239 153,447 
Measurement period adjustment for business combinations from prior year (17,045) — 
Effect of exchange rate on goodwill (12,922) 5,186 
Balance at the end of the period $ 266,368 $ 295,096 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the change in goodwill was primarily driven by a $1,239 increase due to the 
acquisition of Kinetic completed during the period, a $17,045 decrease related to the completion of the purchase price 
allocation for Exalos, as well as a $12,922 decrease in value due to effect of exchange rate on goodwill. See Note 3 — Business 
Combinations for a detailed discussion of goodwill acquired as well as adjustments due to finalization of the business 
combination valuations. 

The change in goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2023, was primarily driven by a $31,967 increase due to the 
acquisition of Exalos completed during the period, and $112,509 and $8,971 increases due to the acquisitions of GEO and 
Silicon Radar, respectively, that were completed and finalized during the period, as well as a $5,186 increase in value due to 
effect of exchange rate on goodwill. 

The Company performed an impairment test of its goodwill as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter in accordance with its 
regularly scheduled testing. The results of this test indicated that the Company’s goodwill was not impaired. There were no 
other indicators of impairment noted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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9) Debt

The following table sets forth the components of debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31,
2024 2023

Principal 
outstanding

Unamortized 
discount and 
issuance cost

Carrying 
amount

Principal 
outstanding

Unamortized 
discount and 
issuance cost

Carrying 
amount

2027 Notes $ 160,000 $ (3,262) $ 156,738 $ 160,000 $ (4,288) $ 155,712 
2029 Notes 218,500 (8,857) 209,643 — — — 
CIBC loan, due 2026 2,368 (2) 2,366 3,971 (13) 3,958

Total term loans 380,868 (12,121) 368,747 163,971 (4,301) 159,670 

Revolving line of credit 12,583 (13) 12,570 1,171 — 1,171 
Total debt $ 393,451 $ (12,134) $ 381,317 $ 165,142 $ (4,301) $ 160,841 

The outstanding debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is classified in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

December 31,
2024 2023

Current liabilities – Current debt obligations $ 12,220 $ 4,106 
Noncurrent liabilities – Long-term debt net of current maturities 369,097 156,735 
Total debt $ 381,317 $ 160,841 

2029 Notes

On December 6, 2024, indie completed a private offering of 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes (the “2029 Initial Notes”). The 
Notes were sold under a purchase agreement (the “2029 Notes Purchase Agreement”), dated as of December 3, 2024, entered 
into by and between the Company and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as representative of the several initial purchasers named 
therein (collectively the “2029 Notes Initial Purchasers”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell $190,000 aggregate 
principal amount of the “2029 Initial Notes. The Company also agreed to grant an option, during a 13-day period beginning on, 
and including, the date on which the notes are first issued (the “2029 Notes Option”) to the 2029 Notes Initial Purchasers to 
purchase all or part of an additional $28,500 aggregate principal amount of 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 (the 
“2029 Additional Notes” and, together with the 2029 Initial Notes, the “2029 Notes”). On December 5, 2024, the 2029 Notes 
Initial Purchasers exercised the 2029 Notes Option in full, bringing the total aggregate principal amount for the 2029 Notes to 
$218,500.

On December 3, 2024, in connection with the pricing of the 2029 Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped 
call transactions (the “2029 Notes Base Capped Call Transactions”) with each of Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, through 
its agent Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Mizuho Markets Americas LLC, with Mizuho Securities USA LLC acting as agent, 
Royal Bank of Canada, represented by RBC Capital Markets, LLC as its agent, The Bank of Nova Scotia, UBS AG, London 
Branch, represented by UBS Securities LLC as its agent, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “2029 Option 
Counterparties”). In addition, on December 5, 2024, in connection with the 2029 Notes Initial Purchasers’ exercise of the 
Option in full, the Company entered into additional capped call transactions (the “2029 Notes Additional Capped Call 
Transactions” and, together with the 2029 Notes Base Capped Call Transactions, the “2029 Notes Capped Call Transactions”) 
with each of the 2029 Notes Option Counterparties. The 2029 Notes Capped Call Transactions cover, subject to customary anti-
dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the 2029 Notes, the aggregate number of shares of the 
Company’s Class A common stock that initially underlie the 2029 Notes, and are expected generally to reduce the potential 
dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the 2029 Notes and/or offset any cash payments the Company 
may be required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 2029 Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction 
and/or offset subject to a cap, based on the cap price of the 2029 Notes Capped Call Transactions. The cap price of the 2029 
Notes Capped Call Transactions is initially $8.06 per share, which represents a premium of 100% over the last reported sale 
price of the Company’s Class A common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market on December 3, 2024. The cost of the 2029 
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Notes Capped Call Transactions was $23,380. The Company recorded the 2029 Notes Capped Call Transactions as separate 
transactions from the issuance of the 2029 Notes. The cost of $23,380 incurred to purchase the 2029 Notes Capped Call 
Transactions was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 
2024.

The 2029 Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, or a combination of cash and 
shares of Class A common stock, at the Company’s election, at an initial conversion rate of 194.6188 shares of Class A 
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2029 Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of 
approximately $5.14 per share of Class A common stock. The initial conversion price of the 2029 Notes represents a premium 
of approximately 27.50% over the $4.03 per share last reported sale price of the Class A common stock on The Nasdaq Capital 
Market on December 3, 2024. The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, 
but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest, except under the limited circumstances described in the Indenture. 
In addition, upon the occurrence of a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the Indenture) prior to 
the maturity date, or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase the 
conversion rate by a number of additional shares of Class A common stock (not to exceed 248.1399 shares of Class A common 
stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2029 Notes, subject to adjustment in the same manner as the conversion rate) for 2029 
Notes that are converted in connection with such Make-Whole Fundamental Change or for notes called (or deemed called) for 
redemption that are converted in connection with such notice of redemption.

The 2029 Notes are convertible at the option of the holders (in whole or in part) at any time prior to the close of business on the 
business day immediately preceding September 15, 2029 only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar 
quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on March 31, 2025 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last 
reported sale price of the common stock, as determined by the Company, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not 
consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately 
preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during 
the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the “Trading 
Price” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of 2029 Notes for each trading day of the 
measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of common stock and the conversion rate 
on each such trading day; (3) if the Company calls such 2029 Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on 
the second scheduled trading day prior to the redemption date, but only with respect to the 2029 Notes called (or deemed called) 
for redemption; or (4) upon the occurrence of certain corporate events as specified in the Indenture. On or after September 15, 
2029, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may 
convert all or a portion of their 2029 Notes, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at any time, regardless of the foregoing 
circumstances. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of common stock or a 
combination of cash and shares of common stock, at the Company’s election, in amounts determined in the manner set forth in 
the Indenture.

The 2029 Notes are not redeemable at the Company’s option prior to December 20, 2027. The Company may redeem for cash 
all or any portion of the 2029 Notes (subject to a partial redemption limitation), at the Company’s option, on or after December 
20, 2027 if the last reported sale price of the common stock, as determined by the Company, has been at least 130% of the 
conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day 
period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date 
on which the Company provides notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 
Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. If the Company redeems fewer 
than all the outstanding 2029 Notes, at least $50,000 aggregate principal amount of 2029 Notes must be outstanding and not 
subject to redemption as of the relevant redemption notice date. No sinking fund is provided for the 2029 Notes.

The 2029 Notes have been recorded as long-term debt in its entirety pursuant to ASU 2020-06. The carrying value of the 2029 
Notes is presented net of $8,967 of discount and issuance costs, which are amortized to interest expense over the respective 
terms of these borrowings. As of December 31, 2024, the total carrying value of the 2029 Notes, net of unamortized discount, 
was $209,643. As of December 31, 2024, the total fair value of the 2029 Notes was $228,333 or 104.50% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the 2029 Notes. The estimated fair values are based on Level 2 inputs as the fair value is based on quoted 
prices for the Company’s debt and comparable instruments in inactive markets. The amortization of the debt discount and cost 
of issuance resulted in non-cash interest expense of $109 for the year ended December 31, 2024, and is included in Interest 
Expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
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2027 Notes

On November 16, 2022, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Goldman Sachs & 
Co. LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers (collectively the “Initial Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company 
agreed to sell $140,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the “Initial Notes”). The 
Company also agreed to grant an option, exercisable within the 30-day period immediately following the date of the Purchase 
Agreement (the “Option”) to the Initial Purchasers to purchase all or part of an additional $20,000 aggregate principal amount 
of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (the “Additional Notes” and, together with the Initial Notes, the “2027 Notes”). 
On November 17, 2022, the Initial Purchasers exercised the Option in full, bringing the total aggregate principal amount for the 
2027 Notes to $160,000. The sale of the 2027 Notes closed on November 21, 2022. The 2027 Notes were issued pursuant to an 
Indenture dated November 21, 2022 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). Interest on the 2027 Notes is payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 
15 of each year, beginning on May 15, 2023. The 2027 Notes will mature on November 15, 2027, unless earlier repurchased, 
redeemed or converted. 

The 2027 Notes will be convertible into cash, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, or a combination of cash and 
shares of Class A common stock, at the Company’s election, at an initial conversion rate of 115.5869 shares of Class A 
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2027 Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of 
approximately $8.65 per share of Class A common stock. The initial conversion price of the 2027 Notes represents a premium 
of approximately 30% over the $6.655 per share last reported sale price of the Class A common stock on The Nasdaq Capital 
Market on November 16, 2022. The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain specified 
events, but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest, except under the limited circumstances described in the 
Indenture. In addition, upon the occurrence of a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the 
Indenture) prior to the maturity date, or if the Company delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will, in certain 
circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of Class A common stock (not to exceed 150.2629 
shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2027 Notes, subject to adjustment in the same manner as 
the conversion rate) for 2027 Notes that are converted in connection with such Make-Whole Fundamental Change or for notes 
called (or deemed called) for redemption that are converted in connection with such notice of redemption.

The 2027 Notes are convertible at the option of the holders (in whole or in part) at any time prior to the close of business on the 
business day immediately preceding August 15, 2027 only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter 
commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2022 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last 
reported sale price of the Class A common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 
consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater 
than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any 
five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the “Trading Price” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the 
Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of 2027 Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the 
product of the last reported sale price of Class A common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; (3) if the 
Company calls such 2027 Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day 
immediately preceding the redemption date, but only with respect to the 2027 Notes called (or deemed called) for redemption; 
or (4) upon the occurrence of certain corporate events as specified in the Indenture. On or after August 15, 2027 until the close 
of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or a portion 
of their 2027 Notes, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon 
conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of Class A common stock or a combination of 
cash and shares of Class A common stock, at the Company’s election, in amounts determined in the manner set forth in the 
Indenture.

The Company may not redeem the 2027 Notes prior to November 20, 2025. indie may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 
2027 Notes, at indie’s option, on or after November 20, 2025 if the last reported price of indie’s Class A common stock has 
been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 
consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day 
immediately preceding the date on which indie provides notice of redemption, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount of the 2027 Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.
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Upon the occurrence of a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in Section 1.01 of the Indenture), subject to certain conditions and 
certain limited exceptions, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their 2027 Notes in 
principal amounts of $1,000 or an integral multiple thereof at a fundamental change repurchase price in cash equal to 100% of 
the principal amount of the 2027 Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental 
change repurchase date.

The 2027 Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank: (i) senior in right of payment to any indebtedness of 
the Company that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the 2027 Notes; (ii) equal in right of payment to any 
unsecured indebtedness of the Company that is not so subordinated; (iii) effectively junior in right of payment to any senior, 
secured indebtedness of the Company to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and (iv) structurally 
junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The 2027 Notes have been recorded as long-term debt in its entirety pursuant to ASU 2020-06. The carrying value of the 2027 
Notes is presented net of $5,374 of discount and issuance costs, which are amortized to interest expense over the respective 
terms of these borrowings. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total carrying value of the 2027 Notes, net of unamortized 
discount, was $156,738 and $155,712, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the total fair value of the 2027 Notes was 
$146,416 or 91.51% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Notes. As of December 31, 2023, the total fair value of the 
2027 Notes was $191,648 or 119.78% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2027 Notes. The estimated fair values are based 
on Level 2 inputs as the fair value is based on quoted prices for the Company’s debt and comparable instruments in inactive 
markets. The amortization of the debt discount and cost of issuance resulted in non-cash interest expense of $1,026, $970, and 
$116 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, and is included in Interest Expense in the 
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, in connection with the offering of the 2027 Notes, the Company entered into 
privately negotiated transactions through one of the initial purchasers or its affiliate to repurchase 1,112,524 shares of Class A 
common stock, at an average cost of $6.65 per share, for approximately $7,404.

indie Semiconductor Revolving Line of Credit

On March 29, 2024, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association (“Wells Fargo”) with a credit limit of $10,000, bearing interest at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) 
plus 1.75%. The outstanding principal balance is due and payable in full on March 28, 2025. Interest is payable monthly 
beginning on May 1, 2024 through the maturity date. This line of credit required the Company to collateralize a cash balance 
equal to the total outstanding balance in a cash security account with Wells Fargo, which resulted in a total restricted cash of 
$10,000 as of December 31, 2024. Fees of $50 incurred will be amortized over the life of the credit agreement. This revolving 
line of credit had an outstanding balance of $10,000 as of December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
cash and non-cash interest were individually and in the aggregate de minimus.

TeraXion Revolving Credit

In connection with the acquisition of TeraXion on October 12, 2021, the Company assumed a revolving credit with the 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”) with a credit limit of CAD9,440 bearing interest at prime rate plus 0.25%, 
repayable in monthly installments of CAD155 plus interest, maturing in October 2026. The repayment of monthly installments 
reduces the credit limit over time. CIBC also reserves the right to request full repayment of a portion or all outstanding balances 
at any time. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the outstanding principal balance of the loan was $2,368 and $3,971 (or 
CAD3,405 and CAD5,262), respectively. 

TeraXion also has an authorized credit facility up to CAD6,000 and CAD5,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 
from CIBC, bearing interest at prime rate plus 0.25%. The credit facility permits the Company to request incremental loans in 
an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the sum of an amount equal to the greater of $7,000 and 100% of TeraXion’s 
EBITDA. This line of credit had an outstanding balance of CAD3,713 and CAD1,551 (or $2,583 and $1171) as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Wuxi Revolving Line of Credit

On September 27, 2024, Wuxi entered into a short-term loan agreement with the Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd. with an aggregate 
principal balance of CNY40,000 (or approximately $5,705) bearing interest of 3.50% per annum and maturing on December 
27, 2024. This short-term loan was fully paid on December 27, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the cash and 
non-cash interest were individually and in the aggregate de minimus.

The table below sets forth the components of interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Interest expense on the 2027 Notes
Stated interest at 4.50% per annum $ 7,220 $ 7,200 $ 900 
Amortization of discount and issuance cost 1,026 970 116 

Total interest expense related to the 2027 Notes 8,246 8,170 1,016 
Interest expense on the 2029 Notes

Stated interest at 3.50% per annum 524 — — 
Amortization of discount and issuance cost 109 — — 

Total interest expense related to the 2029 Notes 633 — — 
Interest expense on other debt obligations:

Contractual interest 342 455 375 
Amortization of discount and issuance cost 37 25 301 

Total interest expense related to other debt obligations 379 480 676 

Total interest expense $ 9,258 $ 8,650 $ 1,692 

The future maturities of the debt obligations are as follows:

2025 $ 12,583 
2026 2,368 
2027 160,000 
2028 — 
2029 218,500 
Total $ 393,451 

10) Warrant Liability

In connection with the June 10, 2021 Transaction, the Company issued 17,250,000 Public Warrants, 8,625,000 Private 
Placement Warrants and 1,500,000 Working Capital Warrants, which were fully exchanged to Class A common stock on 
November 9, 2023. 

On November 9, 2023, the Warrants were remeasured to their fair value of $38,331 and reclassified per ASC 815-40 to 
Additional Paid in Capital in the consolidated balance sheet. The total change in fair value of a $7,066 net gain since December 
31, 2022 was recorded to Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. 

There is no liability remaining on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023.

11) Contingent and Earn-Out Liabilities
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Earn-Out Milestones

In connection with the Transaction, certain of indie’s stockholders are entitled to receive up to 10,000,000 earn-out shares of the 
Company’s Class A common stock if the earn-out milestones are met. The earn-out milestones represent two independent 
criteria, each of which entitles the eligible stockholders to 5,000,000 earn-out shares per milestone met. Each earn-out milestone 
is considered met if at any time following the Transaction and prior to December 31, 2027, the volume weighted average price 
of indie’s Class A common stock is greater than or equal to $12.50 or $15.00 for any twenty trading days within any thirty-
trading day period, respectively. Further, the earn-out milestones are also considered to be met if indie undergoes a Sale. A Sale 
is defined as the occurrence of any of the following for indie: (i) engage in a “going private” transaction pursuant to Rule 13e-3 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise cease to be subject to reporting 
obligations under Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; (ii) Class A common stock ceases to be listed on a national 
securities exchange, other than for the failure to satisfy minimum listing requirements under applicable stock exchange rules; or 
(iii) change of ownership (including a merger or consolidation) or approval of a plan for complete liquidation or dissolution.

These earn-out shares had been categorized into two components: (i) those associated with stockholders with vested equity at 
the closing of the Transaction that will be earned upon achievement of the earn-out milestones (the “Vested Shares”) and (ii) 
those associated with stockholders with unvested equity at the closing of the Transaction that will be earned over the remaining 
service period with the Company on their unvested equity shares and upon achievement of the Earn-Out Milestones (the 
“Unvested Shares”). The Vested Shares were classified as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and the Unvested Shares 
are equity-classified share-based compensation to be recognized over time. The earn-out liability was initially measured at fair 
value at the closing of the Transaction and subsequently remeasured at the end of each reporting period. The change in fair 
value of the earn-out liability was recorded as part of Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

The estimated fair value of the earn-out liability was determined using a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis that simulated the 
future path of the Company’s stock price over the earn-out period. The assumptions utilized in the calculation are based on the 
achievement of certain stock price milestones including projected stock price, volatility, and risk-free rate. 

As of December 31, 2021, there was no liability remaining on the balance sheet. 

Contingent Considerations

On May 13, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of City Semiconductor, Inc. (“City Semi”), the Company recorded 
contingent consideration as a long-term liability at an initial fair value of $1,180. The contingent consideration is comprised of 
two tranches. The first tranche is payable, up to a maximum of $500, upon the achievement of cash collection targets within 12 
months of the acquisition, and $456 was achieved in May 2021. The second tranche is payable, up to a maximum of $1,500, 
upon the shipment of a product incorporating the acquired developed technology. In September 2021, the Company paid off the 
first tranche of the contingent consideration. In April 2023, the Company settled $500 of the $1,500 second tranche through the 
issuance of 73,311 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $608 at the time of issuance. In January 2024, the 
Company settled $500 of the $1,000 second tranche through the issuance of 62,562 shares of Class A common stock with a fair 
value of $500 at the time of issuance. The fair value of the remaining $500 second tranche contingent consideration liabilities 
was $500 as of December 31, 2024. On January 2, 2025, the second tranche of contingent consideration was settled through the 
issuance of 114,127 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $480 at the time of issuance and a cash payment of 
$34.

On January 4, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of Symeo, the Company recorded contingent considerations as a current 
and a long-term liability at an initial fair value of $4,390 and $3,446, respectively. The contingent consideration is comprised of 
two tranches. The first tranche was payable upon the achievement of a revenue threshold of $5,000 by March 31, 2023. The 
second tranche was payable upon Symeo’s achievement of a revenue threshold of $6,000 by March 31, 2024. On October 26, 
2023, the Company issued 363,194 of Class A common stock, with a fair value of $1,900 at the time of issuance to Analog 
Devices, Inc., as final settlement for the achievement of the first tranche of the contingent considerations. The second tranche of 
contingent consideration liability was fully released during the year ended December 31, 2024 as the earnout milestone was not 
met. The final change in fair value of $7 is recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

On February 21, 2023, in connection with the acquisition of Silicon Radar, the Company recorded contingent considerations as 
a current and a long-term liability at an initial fair value of $4,155 and $5,085, respectively. The contingent consideration is 
comprised of two tranches. The first tranche was payable upon the achievement of a revenue threshold of $5,000 for the 12-
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month period ending on February 21, 2024. The second tranche is payable upon Silicon Radar’s achievement of a revenue 
threshold of $7,000 for the 12-month period ending on February 21, 2025. Both tranches are payable in cash or in Class A 
common stock at indie’s discretion. Should indie elect to pay in Class A common stock, the number of shares issuable equals 
the earnout amount divided by a VWAP for 20 days ending prior to the due date for payment. In May 2024, the Company 
settled the first tranche through the issuance of 1,103,140 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $6,045 at the 
time of issuance. The fair value of the second tranche contingent consideration liability as of December 31, 2024 was reduced 
to zero. The change in fair value since the acquisition date is recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated 
statement of operations.

On March 3, 2023, in connection with the acquisition of GEO, the Company recorded contingent considerations as a current 
and a long-term liability at an initial fair value of $38,828 and $20,452, respectively. The contingent consideration is comprised 
of two tranches. The first tranche was payable upon the achievement of a revenue threshold of $20,000 for the 12-month period 
ended on March 31, 2024. The second tranche was payable upon GEO’s achievement of a revenue threshold of $10,000 for the 
6-month period ended on September 30, 2024. Both tranches were payable in cash or Class A common stock, at indie’s election
and the number of shares issuable equals the earnout amount divided by the Earnout Parent Trading Price. Payment in cash was
determined by the number of shares payable multiplied by the Earnout Parent Trading Price. In May 2024, the Company settled
the first tranche through the issuance of 6,096,951 shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $40,667 at the time of
issuance. In December 2024, the Company settled the second tranche through the issuance of 1,015,621 shares of Class A
common stock with a fair value of $4,459 at the time of issuance. The change in fair value since the acquisition date is recorded
in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

On September 18, 2023, in connection with the acquisition of Exalos, the Company recorded contingent considerations as a 
current and a long-term liability at an initial fair value of $7,328 and $2,427, respectively. The contingent consideration is 
comprised of two tranches. The first tranche was payable upon the achievement of a revenue threshold of $19,000 for the 12-
month period ended on September 30, 2024. The second tranche is payable upon Exalos’ achievement of a revenue threshold of 
$21,000 for the 12-month period ending on September 30, 2025. Both tranches are payable in cash or in shares at indie’s 
discretion. On November 7, 2024, the first tranche of contingent consideration was settled through the issuance of 2,845,243 
shares of Class A common stock with a fair value of $9,930 at the time of issuance, and cash payment of $2,536. The fair value 
of the second tranche contingent consideration liability as of December 31, 2024 was $634. The change in fair value since the 
acquisition date is recorded in Other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations. 

See Note 3 — Business Combinations for additional information.

12) Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s debt instruments are recorded at their carrying values in its consolidated balance sheets, which may differ from 
their respective fair values. The estimated fair value of the Company’s 2027 Notes and 2029 Notes are both based on Level 2 
inputs as the fair value is based on quoted prices for the Company’s debt (see Note 9 — Debt for additional information). The 
fair values of the Company’s short- term loans generally approximated their carrying values. 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company held currency forward contracts with an aggregated notional amount of $28,160 
and $12,325, respectively, to sell United States dollars and to buy various foreign currencies such as Canadian dollars and Euro, 
among others, at a forward rate. Any changes in the fair value of these contracts are recorded in Other income (expense), net in 
the consolidated statement of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded a net loss 
of $1,649 and $848, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2022 the net loss was de minimus.
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The following table presents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities:

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Kinetic Contingent Consideration — First Tranche $ — $ — $ 2,455 $ 2,455 
Kinetic Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 1,908 $ 1,908 
Exalos Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 634 $ 634 
GEO Indemnity Holdback $ 6,344 $ — $ — $ 6,344 
City Semi Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 500 $ 500 

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Exalos Contingent consideration — First Tranche $ — $ — $ 9,593 $ 9,593 
Exalos contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 4,012 $ 4,012 
GEO Contingent Consideration — First Tranche $ — $ — $ 44,709 $ 44,709 
GEO Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 25,921 $ 25,921 
GEO Indemnity Holdback $ 12,704 $ — $ — $ 12,704 
Silicon Radar Contingent Consideration — First Tranche $ — $ — $ 2,740 $ 2,740 
Silicon Radar Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 3,310 $ 3,310 
City Semi Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 940 $ 940 
Symeo Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche $ — $ — $ 7 $ 7 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash) were all held in cash 
or Level 1 instruments where the fair values approximate the carrying values.

Level 3 Disclosures

Contingent Considerations

Contingent considerations were valued based on the consideration expected to be transferred. The Company estimated the fair 
value based on a Monte Carlo Simulations analysis to simulate the probability of achievement of various milestones identified 
within each contingent consideration arrangement, using certain assumptions that require significant judgement and discount 
rates. The discount rates were based on the estimated cost of debt plus a premium, which included consideration of expected 
term of the earn-out payment, yield on treasury instruments and an estimated credit rating for the Company.

The following table presents the significant unobservable inputs assumed for each of the fair value measurements:
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As of December 31, 
2024

As of December 31, 
2023

Input Input
Liabilities:
Kinetic Contingent Consideration - First Tranche

Market yield rate  7.34 % N/A
Scenario probability  100.00 % N/A

Kinetic Contingent Consideration - Second Tranche
Market yield rate  7.68 % N/A
Scenario probability  70.00 % N/A

Exalos Contingent Consideration — First Tranche
Discount rate N/A  7.46 %
Volatility N/A  75.00 %

Exalos Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche
Discount rate  10.20 %  7.46 %
Volatility  60.00 %  70.00 %

GEO Contingent Consideration — First Tranche
Discount rate N/A  12.60 %
Volatility N/A  60.00 %

GEO Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche
Discount rate N/A  12.60 %
Volatility N/A  60.00 %

Silicon Radar Contingent Consideration — First Tranche
Discount rate N/A  10.79 %
Volatility N/A  60.00 %

Silicon Radar Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche
Discount rate  10.39 %  10.79 %
Volatility  60.00 %  60.00 %

City Semi Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche
Discount rate  12.65 %  12.65 %

Symeo Contingent Consideration — Second Tranche
Discount Rate N/A  4.73 %

13) Stockholders’ Equity

Wuxi Capital Raise

On November 29, 2022, the Company entered into and closed an agreement with multiple investors in China, including two of 
the top four Chinese automotive OEMs, that secured a strategic investment (“Wuxi Capital Raise”) through Wuxi indie 
Microelectronics Ltd. (“Wuxi”), indie’s majority controlled subsidiary. The Wuxi Capital Raise provided Wuxi additional 
funding of CNY300,000 (approximately $42,000) by issuing 371,160 shares from Wuxi, which represents 16% of Wuxi’s 
equity at the time of issuance. The funds raised are intended to promote Wuxi’s business development and strengthen its 
capabilities. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, these investors subscribed for the 371,160 shares at CNY808.28 per share. 
As a result, indie’s ownership in Wuxi has reduced from 45% to 38% ownership control, with indie having 59% voting control. 
As indie continues to control Wuxi’s Board of Directors and has the majority of the voting interests, Wuxi’s financial results 
will continue to be consolidated with those of ADK LLC and its other wholly-owned subsidiaries. Minority interests held in 
Wuxi are accounted for as non-controlling interests in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Among other 
provisions, this agreement includes certain liquidation preferences for the investors (“Deemed Liquidation Event”) as well as an 
ability to exchange their Wuxi shares for shares of indie’s Class A common stock in the event Wuxi does not successfully 
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complete a local initial public offering (“IPO”) by December 31, 2027 (the “Conversion”). A Deemed Liquidation Event 
includes but not limited to (a) a change of control of the Company or its surviving entity in a single, or series of related 
transactions, or merger, division, reorganization, acquisition, or business integration between the Company and any third 
parties, excluding any corporate restricting as duly approved pursuant to the AOA; or (b) a sale, transfer or otherwise disposal 
of the all or substantially all assets of the Company, in a single, or series of related transactions. Upon a Deemed Liquidation 
Event prior to IPO, the distribution will be made in cash in order of the liquidation preferences pursuant to the investment 
agreement for an amount that is the higher of (i) an amount equal to 100% of the applicable original issue price with an annual 
simple premium of 8% (calculated from the transaction closing date of November 29, 2022 to the date of the Liquidation 
Event), or (ii) an amount equal to the total liquidation proceeds received by the Company or the stockholders (as the case may 
be) directly in a Liquidation Event, multiplied by the stockholder’s proportionate ownership percentage, plus all accrued or 
declared but unpaid dividends of such share.

Pursuant to the investment agreement, Wuxi shall use commercially reasonable efforts to meet the conditions for the IPO and 
list shares by a Chinese or overseas securities trading institutions and consummate an IPO as early as possible. If Wuxi is 
unable to consummate an IPO, indie undertakes to exchange the shares issued in this capital raise for indie’s Class A common 
stock equal to the total capital raised plus a premium of 8% per year (simple interest) between the execution date and 
December 31, 2027. The total amount is calculated using the exchange rate at the time of the stock exchange and the value of 
each of Class A common stock is based on the stock price at that time, but the exchange shall not exceed a total of 6,000,000 
shares of Class A common stock. 

Wuxi Equity Incentive Plan Paid-In Capital

In December 2023, employees in Wuxi exercised stock options granted to them through the Wuxi Equity Incentive Plan (the 
“Wuxi EIP”) and paid CNY87,959 (or approximately $12,346) in capital contributions to Wuxi. 

The Wuxi EIP was approved by Wuxi’s Board of Directors and is a long-term incentive plan under which equity awards may 
be granted to employees of Wuxi in the form of options to purchase Wuxi common shares at a fixed strike price in the future 
after certain vesting conditions are met and which are then subject to certain holding conditions (“Options”). Options granted 
under the Wuxi EIP are equity-classified awards and subject to vest either six years from the grant date or when Wuxi achieves 
a successful IPO on a local stock exchange, whichever that is later. No compensation cost will be recognized until a qualifying 
event (i.e., IPO) is deemed probable to occur as these Options are considered to have no value until an IPO becomes probable. 
Upon occurrence of the qualifying event, the compensation cost will be recognized in full for vested Options. As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was $11,802 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to these Options. These 
unrecognized compensation costs will be recognized in full when a qualifying event satisfying the in-substance performance 
condition becomes probable.

Further, per the Wuxi EIP, recipients of the Options should complete all capital contributions and payment of the incentive 
share price (the “Paid in Capital Contribution”) after Wuxi and the intermediary agencies (including securities companies, law 
firms, and accounting firms) that apply for IPO have reached an IPO application schedule and before the last financial 
benchmark date of Wuxi’s IPO application. The Paid in Capital Contribution is akin to an early exercise. Given that Wuxi has 
no obligation to return the paid-in capital contribution to the recipient of the award in any event (i.e., an unsuccessful IPO, 
termination of employment), the Company concludes that the Paid in Capital Contribution made by the recipient is classified 
into Additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The funds are being used for Wuxi’s general corporate purposes.

Stock Repurchase Program

On November 16, 2022, indie’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase, from time to time, of up to $50,000 of indie’s 
Class A common stock and/or warrants to purchase Class A common stock. This was inclusive of the concurrent repurchase of 
shares of Class A common stock described in Note 9 — Debt, under the 2027 Notes, which allowed for a portion of net 
proceeds to be used to repurchase up to $25,000 of Class A common stock. For the year ended December 31, 2022, in 
connection with the concurrent repurchase, the Company has repurchased 1,112,524 shares of Class A common stock, at an 
average cost of $6.65 per share, for approximately $7,404. There were no repurchases of common stock for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 or 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, there is $42,596 available for future repurchase under the 
program.
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14) Noncontrolling Interest

In connection with the closing of the Transaction on June 10, 2021, certain members of ADK LLC (the “ADK Minority 
Holders”) retained approximately 26% membership interest in ADK LLC. The ADK Minority Holders may from time to time, 
after December 10, 2021, exchange with indie, such holders’ units in ADK LLC for an equal number of shares of indie’s Class 
A common stock. As a result, indie’s ownership interest in ADK LLC will increase. The ADK Minority Holders’ ownership 
interests are accounted for as noncontrolling interests in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company’s 
ownership of ADK LLC was approximately 91% and 90% as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

In connection with the Transaction, the Company issued to ADK LLC Minority Holders an aggregate of 33,827,371 shares of 
Class V common stock of indie (the “Class V Holders”), which can be exchanged to Class A common stock at an exchange 
ratio of one to one . The shares of Class V common stock provides no economic rights in indie to the holder thereof; however, 
each Class V Holder is entitled to vote with the holders of Class A common stock of indie, with each share of Class V common 
stock entitling the holder to one (1) vote per share of Class V common stock at the time of such vote (subject to customary 
conversion rate adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications). As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Company had an aggregate of 17,671,251 and 18,694,332 shares of Class V common stock issued and outstanding, 
respectively.

ADK LLC held approximately 59% voting control and approximately 34% ownership interest in Wuxi as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. From time to time, Wuxi has sold equity ownership and the transactions have reduced ADK 
LLC’s controlling interest in Wuxi on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024, ADK LLC maintained its 
controlling ownership in Wuxi. Accordingly, Wuxi’s financial statements are consolidated with those of ADK LLC and its 
other wholly-owned subsidiaries. Minority interests held in Wuxi are accounted for as non-controlling interests in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

15) Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts with customers by geographic region, as the Company’s management 
believes it best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic 
factors.

The following tables present revenue disaggregated by geography of the shipping location for the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

United States $ 38,197 $ 53,558 $ 39,915 
Greater China 98,307 101,323 43,969 
Europe 37,337 36,042 16,713 
South Korea 15,211 18,768 3,728 
Rest of North America 4,438 8,475 4,788 
Rest of Asia Pacific 21,245 2,949 204 
South America 1,947 2,054 1,480 
Total $ 216,682 $ 223,169 $ 110,797 

Contract Balances

Certain assets or liabilities are recorded depending on the timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections on a 
contract-by-contract basis. Contract liabilities primarily relate to deferred revenue, including advance consideration received 
from customers for contracts prior to the transfer of control to the customer, and therefore revenue is recognized upon delivery 
of products and services or as the services are performed. 
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The following table presents the assets and liabilities associated with the engineering services contracts recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31,
Balance Sheet Classification 2024 2023

Unbilled revenue Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 9,154 $ 8,506 
Contract liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 2,735 $ 2,473 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $1,708, $1,734, and $1,253, respectively, 
of revenue related to amounts that were previously included in deferred revenue at the beginning of the period. Deferred 
revenue fluctuates over time due to changes in the timing of payments received from customers and revenue recognized for 
services provided.

Revenue related to remaining performance obligations represents the amount of contracted development arrangements that has 
not been recognized, which includes deferred revenue on the consolidated balance sheet and unbilled amounts that will be 
recognized as revenue in future periods. As of December 31, 2024, the amount of performance obligations that have not been 
recognized as revenue was $4,189, of which approximately 99% is expected to be recognized as revenue over the next 12 
months and the remainder thereafter. This amount excludes the value of remaining performance obligations for contracts with 
an original expected length of one year or less. Variable consideration that has been constrained is excluded from the amount of 
performance obligations that have not been recognized.

Concentrations

As identified below, one of our customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022. No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue for the 
year ended December 31, 2024:

December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Customer A  9.3 %  14.8 %  36.9 %

The loss of this customer would have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial results.

One large customer each represented 11% and 19% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. No 
other individual customer represented more than 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2024 or 2023, respectively.

16) Share-Based Compensation

2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors adopted the indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 
Plan”) effective June 10, 2021, which provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted 
stock awards, stock appreciation rights, performance stock awards, unrestricted stock awards, distribution equivalent rights or 
any combination of the foregoing to employees and directors for a total of 10,368,750 shares. On June 22, 2022, the Company’s 
Board of Directors and stockholders approved an increase of shares by 10,500,000 to a total of 20,868,750 shares. On both June 
21, 2023 and June 13, 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved an amendment to the 2021 Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan to each increase the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance thereunder by 
7,000,000 shares, to a current approved total of 34,868,750 shares. The primary purpose of the 2021 Plan is to enhance the 
Company’s ability to attract, motivate and retain the services of qualified employees, officers and directors. 

The Company accounts for share-based compensation arrangements with employees and non-employees in accordance with 
ASC 718-10, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires the Company to account for the compensation expense 
related to all equity awards on a fair value based method. Further, the Company treats equity awards with multiple vesting 
tranches as a single award for expense attribution purposes and recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over 
the required service vesting period of the entire award. 
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As of December 31, 2024, there were 4,851,844 award units available for future grant under the 2021 Plan.

Employee Equity Purchase Program

Effective July 1, 2023, certain of the Company’s Board of Directors elected to receive up to 100% of their director and chair 
cash retainers in the form of a quarterly fully-vested stock award of the Company’s Class A common stock. On August 17, 
2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the launch of an Employee Equity Purchase Program (the “EEPP”), which 
allows (i) the Company’s Section 16 officers to make quarterly elections to receive up to 50% of their cash base salary in the 
form of a quarterly fully-vested stock award of Company’s Class A common stock; and (ii) its non-Section 16 officer 
employees to make semi-annual elections to receive up to 25% of their cash base salary in the form of a monthly fully-vested 
stock award of Company’s Class A common stock. As part of the program incentive, the non-Section 16 officer employees 
receive additional benefits such as a premium via an exchange ratio of 1.15 cash to stock and a conversion price equal to the 
lower of (x) the first trading day of the plan period or (y) the award vesting date. Any awards issued under the EEPP are granted 
through the 2021 Plan. Shares granted under EEPP for the Company’s Section 16 officers are liability-classified awards and the 
fair value of the awards is equal to the deferred salary amount. Shares granted under EEPP for non-Section 16 officers are 
equity-classified awards and the fair value of the awards is estimated through the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The EEPP commenced its first plan period on August 16, 2023 for the Section 16 officers and on September 1, 2023 for the 
employees. For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company incurred $19,789 and $4,099 in share-based 
compensation expense associated with this program, respectively, inclusive of the value of the stock issued in lieu of the cash 
based salary.

2023 Employment Inducement Incentive Plan

On March 22, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2023 Inducement Incentive 
Plan (the “2023 Inducement Plan”), which became effective on such date without stockholder approval pursuant to Rule 
5635(c)(4) of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC listing rules (“Rule 5635(c)(4)”). The 2023 Inducement Plan provides for the 
grant of nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and other stock- or 
performance-based awards. In accordance with Rule 5635(c)(4), awards under the 2023 Inducement Plan may only be made to 
a newly hired employee who has not previously been a member of indie’s Board of Directors, or an employee who is being 
rehired following a bona fide period of non-employment by indie as a material inducement to the employee’s entering into 
employment with the Company. A total of 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock were reserved for issuance under the 
2023 Inducement Plan. On June 21, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an additional 4,000,000 shares of Class 
A common stock to be reserved for issuance under the 2023 Inducement Plan, or a total of 6,000,000 shares. To the extent that 
an award lapses, expires, is cancelled, is terminated, unexercised or ceases to be exercisable for any reason, or the rights of its 
recipient terminate, any shares subject to such award shall again be available for the grant of a new award under the 2023 
Inducement Plan. 

As of December 31, 2024, there were 3,486,188 Class A common stock shares available for future grant under the 2023 
Inducement Plan. For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company incurred $5,787 and $3,730 in share-based 
compensation expense associated with this program, respectively.

Since inception of the 2021 Plan and 2023 Inducement Plan, equity awards granted are primarily all in the form of restrictive 
stock units (“RSU”). These RSUs primarily have a four-year vesting schedule and vests annually in equal installments. The 
grant date fair value of RSUs issued per the 2021 Plan and 2023 Inducement Plan was valued based on the value of the Class A 
common stock on the date of grant. The RSUs are equity classified. Occasionally, the Company may grant equity awards in the 
forms of options or equity awards with either market condition (“MSU”) or performance conditions (“PSU”) through either 
plan. Options typically have a four-year vesting schedule in equal annual installments and a ten-year term from the original 
grant date. The grant date fair value of Options issued was valued based on a Black-Scholes model at the time of the grant. 
Vesting for both the MSUs and PSUs require the award recipients’ continuous service with the Company and achievement of 
predetermined milestones. The grant date fair value of PSUs was based on the value of the Class A common stock on the date 
of grant. The grant date fair value of MSUs was determined using the Monte Carlo Simulations analysis.
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Historical Profit Interests

Historically, per the ADK LLC Operating Agreement, ADK LLC issued Class B units (“Profits Interests” or “Class B units”) to 
employees, directors and consultants. Class B units entitle the holders of such units to a share of ADK LLC’s profits and 
distributions of ADK’s assets to the extent their capital accounts are positive. Holders of Class B units do not have voting rights 
except to the extent required by law.

The Board of Directors authorized 14,284,919 shares (or 513,846 units prior to the exchange) for grant under the ADK LLC 
Operating Agreement. The Class B units generally have a four-year vesting schedule, in which 25% of units vest after 12 
months and the remaining 75% vest monthly over the following three-year period. Upon the consummation of the Transaction, 
the Class B units were converted into Class A common stock at the Exchange Ratio of 27.80. Any unvested shares will 
continue to vest over time following their original contractual terms. No additional profit interests were granted post the 
consummation of the Transaction. 

The Profit Interests are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The consummation of the 
Transaction is considered to be a qualifying liquidation event, such that all historically vested units are now considered to have 
value. As a result, the unrecognized compensation costs through the consummation date of the Transaction were recognized in 
full as a change of control satisfying the in-substance performance condition became probable. No compensation cost was 
recognized historically until the closing of the Transaction. 

Phantom Units

On January 29, 2021, indie issued Phantom Units that give employees rights to receive, upon vesting, either 1,751,360 shares of 
Class A common stock (or 62,998 Phantom Units prior to giving effect to the Exchange Ratio) or the equivalent in cash at the 
election of indie (the “Phantom Units”). These Phantom Units had a grant date fair value of $6.83 per share of Class A common 
stock. The Phantom Units generally have a four-year vesting schedule, in which 25% of units vest after 12 months and the 
remaining 75% vest monthly over the following three-year period. Certain awards vest based on specific performance 
conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Phantom Units vested until December 10, 2021.

These Phantom Units are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The grant date fair value of 
the Phantom Units was determined by dividing the expected equity value of the Company upon the Transaction by the 
Company’s expected capitalization structure at the time of the grant. No compensation cost was recognized historically until the 
closing of the Transaction. 

Unvested Earn-out Shares

A portion of the earn-out shares were issued to individuals with unvested equity awards. While the payout of these shares 
requires achievement of the earn-out milestones, the individuals are required to complete the remaining service period 
associated with these unvested equity awards to be eligible to receive the earn-out shares. As a result, these unvested earn-out 
shares are equity-classified awards that operate substantially the same as an RSU. The aggregated grant date fair value of these 
shares totaled $3,919 (or $9.20 per share). The grant date fair value of the earn-out shares was valued based on the fair value of 
the earn-out liability at inception divided by total shares subject to the earn-out liability.

Stock compensation expense is recorded in cost of goods sold, research and development and general and administrative 
expenses based on the classification of the work performed by the grantees. 

The following table sets forth the share-based compensation for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cost of goods sold $ 985 $ 363 $ 149 
Research and development 43,449 25,750 28,325 
Selling, general, and administrative 22,375 17,597 13,411 
Restructuring costs 431 — — 
Total $ 67,240 $ 43,710 $ 41,885 
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Total stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 above included an accrual of $6,600, that represents 
awards issuable upon distribution of the Company’s annual incentive plan. There was no accrual for distribution of the 
Company’s annual incentive plan for both years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan non-option 
awards for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Number of 
Shares

Weighted
average grant 
date fair value

Shares Retained 
to Cover 
Statutory 
Minimum 

Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2022 9,250,357 $ 8.52 
Granted 9,932,545 $ 6.12 
Vested (4,630,999) $ 8.40 — 
Forfeited (898,957) $ 8.26 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2023 13,652,946  13,652,946$ 6.80 
Granted 10,449,306 $ 6.08 
Vested (7,565,367) $ 6.76 — 
Forfeited (1,710,039) $ 7.23 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2024 14,826,846 $ 7.09 

As of December 31, 2024 there was $61,635 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to all nonvested shares, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining vesting period of 1.8 years.

The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding 2023 Inducement Plan non-option awards for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Number of 
Shares

Weighted
average grant 
date fair value

Shares Retained 
to Cover 
Statutory 
Minimum 

Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2022 — $ — 
Granted 1,840,023 $ 9.04 
Vested (97,510) $ 9.53 — 
Forfeited (128,050) $ 9.53 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2023 1,614,463 $ 8.97 
Granted 1,071,639 $ 6.16 
Vested (548,986) $ 8.75 — 
Forfeited (269,800) $ 9.23 
Nonvested shares as of December 31, 2024 1,867,316 $ 7.48 

There were no awards outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2024 there was $10,024 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to all nonvested shares, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining vesting period of 2.3 years.
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The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding options in the 2021 Plan for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Options

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual 
term (years)

Aggregate 
intrinsic value

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 368,875 $ 10.74 9.07 $ — 
Granted — $ — 
Exercised — $ — 
Forfeited or expired (50,667) $ 11.69 

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 318,208 $ 10.58 8.08 $ — 
Granted — $ — 
Exercised — $ — 
Forfeited or expired (17,743) $ 6.60 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 300,465 $ 10.82 7.06 $ — 
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 150,225 $ 10.82 7.06 $ — 
Vested or expected to vest 150,225 $ 10.82 7.06 $ — 

There were no options granted for both years ended December 31, 2024 or 2023.

There were no stock options exercised under the 2021 Plan during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $446 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options. 
This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.

There were no options granted under the 2023 Inducement Plan for both years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

 TeraXion Option Plan

On October 12, 2021, the Company assumed fully vested TeraXion options, which became exercisable to purchase 1,542,332 
shares of indie Class A common stock with a fair value of $17,249 in connection with the acquisition. The options have a 10-
year term from the original grant date. The consummation of the TeraXion acquisition is considered to be a qualifying 
liquidation event per the original option plan, all of the options became fully vested upon the acquisition date. As such, there is 
no further stock-based compensation expense to be recognized.
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The following table sets forth the changes in the Company’s outstanding options for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023:

Options

Weighted-
average exercise 

price

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual 
term (years)

Aggregate 
intrinsic value

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,214,044 $ 0.16 4.88 $ 6,889 
Exercised (289,364) $ 0.11 
Forfeited or expired — $ — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 924,680 $ 0.17 3.82 $ 7,343 

Exercised (297,017) $ 0.18 
Forfeited or expired — $ — 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 627,663 $ 0.16 2.81 $ 2,470 
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 627,663 $ 0.16 2.81 $ 2,470 
Vested or expected to vest 627,663 $ 0.16 2.81 $ 2,470 

17) Net Loss per Common Share

Basic and diluted net loss per common share was calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Numerator:
Net loss $ (144,187) $ (128,832) $ (52,788) 
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (11,584) (11,207) (9,388) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders — basic $ (132,603) $ (117,625) $ (43,400) 

 Net loss attributable to common shares — dilutive $ (132,603) $ (117,625) $ (43,400) 

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic  175,029,650  145,188,867  118,660,785 

 Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted  175,029,650  145,188,867  118,660,785 

Net loss per share attributable to common shares— basic $ (0.76) $ (0.81) $ (0.37) 
Net loss per share attributable to common shares— diluted $ (0.76) $ (0.81) $ (0.37) 

The Company’s potentially dilutive securities, which include unvested Class B units, unvested phantom units, unvested 
restricted stock units, convertible Class V common shares, Public Warrants, Private Warrants, unexercised options, earn-out 
shares, escrow shares, and convertible debt have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect 
would be to reduce the net loss per share. The 2029 Notes Capped Call Transactions were excluded from the calculation of 
dilutive potential common shares as their effect is anti-dilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to 
common shares is the same because the Company reported a net loss for each of these periods and the effect of inclusion would 
be antidilutive. The Company excluded the following potential shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period 

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

100



end, from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to stockholders for the periods indicated as their inclusion 
would have had an antidilutive effect:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Unvested Class B units — 61,683 746,294 
Unvested Phantom units — 290,138 647,028 
Unvested Restricted stock units 16,694,162 14,915,588 7,857,035 
Convertible Class V common shares 17,671,251 18,694,332 21,381,476 
Public warrants for the purchase of Class A common stock — — 17,250,000 
Private warrants for the purchase of Class A common stock — — 10,150,000 
Unexercised options 150,240 223,753 349,006 
Earn-out Shares 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 
Escrow Shares 1,725,000 1,725,000 1,725,000 
2027 convertible notes into Class A common stock 18,497,110 18,497,110 18,497,110 
2029 convertible notes into Class A common stock 42,524,208 — — 

 102,261,971 59,407,604 83,602,949 

18) Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

United States $ (144,808) $ (140,371) $ (49,948) 
Foreign (1,301) 7,005 (3,875) 
Total $ (146,109) $ (133,366) $ (53,823) 

The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Current expense:
Federal $ 41 $ 96 $ — 
State 69 23 224 
Foreign 1,886 766 818 

Total current expense: $ 1,996 $ 885 $ 1,042 
Deferred expense:
Federal $ (4) $ (2,000) $ — 
State (5) (5) — 
Foreign (3,909) (3,414) (2,077) 

Total deferred benefit: $ (3,918) $ (5,419) $ (2,077) 
Total income tax benefit $ (1,922) $ (4,534) $ (1,035) 
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The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

December 31,
2024 2023

Investment in Ay Dee Kay, LLC 58,005 44,922 
Net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards 68,102 57,289 
Tax credits 6,789 5,374 
Other deferred tax assets $ 9,696 $ 6,015 

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 142,592 113,600 
Valuation allowance (137,444) (109,701) 

Deferred tax assets – net of valuation allowance 5,148 3,899 

Other deferred tax liabilities $ (1,149) $ (1,214) 
Intangibles (15,659) (16,381) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (16,808) (17,595) 
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (11,660) $ (13,696) 

Changes in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

2024 2023
Valuation Allowance as on January 1st $ 109,701 $ 70,040 
Increases recorded to tax provision 27,743 15,244 
Increases recorded to goodwill — 26,040 
Decreases recorded as a benefit to income tax provision — (1,623) 
Valuation Allowance as on December 31st $ 137,444 $ 109,701 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has $67,268 of deferred tax assets in domestic NOLs, which was primarily related to 
U.S. Federal NOLs of $299,504. The U.S. Federal NOLs are comprised of NOLs with an indefinite carry-forward pursuant to 
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, and NOLs that will begin to expire if not utilized by 2029. The Company also recorded 
$9,080 of California NOLs, which have a carry-forward period of 20 years, and will begin to expire if not utilized by 2041. The 
Company also has $1,186 of NOLs in China which have a 5-year carry-forward period and $6,234 of NOLs in Germany which 
have an indefinite carryforward period and are subject to annual change-of-control utilization limitations, $1,363 federal NOLs 
in Canada which have a 20-year carry-forward period, and $3,001 NOLs in Canadian provinces which also have a 20-year 
carry-forward period.

In evaluating its ability to realize its net deferred tax assets, the Company considered all available positive and negative 
evidence, such as past operating results, forecasted earnings, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, and the future 
realization of the tax benefits of existing temporary differences in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance under ASC 
740. Based on forecasted earnings, the Company does not reasonably anticipate future taxable income in the U.S. jurisdiction.
Further, when considering its history of generating net operating losses, management concluded that it is more likely than not
that the Company’s domestic deferred assets will not be realized and continues to maintain a full valuation allowance for U.S.
domestic deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024.

The Company evaluated its historical valuation allowance on China operations conducted through Wuxi and its subsidiaries as 
of December 31, 2024. Due to the financial results achieved by China operations in 2023 and the forecasted future taxable 
income, the Company has released the valuation allowance on Wuxi and its subsidiaries. This resulted in a $1,623 deferred tax 
benefit for the year ended December 31, 2023. In other jurisdictions, the Company has a net deferred tax liability position and 
anticipates using the existing deferred tax liability as a source of income to realize existing deferred tax assets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 
and 2022 are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Balance at January 1st $ 696 $ — $ — 
Additions for purchase accounting — 696 — 
Balance at December 31st $ 696 $ 696 $ — 

The Company does not provide for foreign income and withholding, U.S. Federal, or state income taxes expense or tax benefits 
for the difference between the financial reporting basis over the tax basis of its investments in foreign subsidiaries to the extent 
such amounts are indefinitely reinvested to support operations and continued growth plans outside the U.S. The Company 
reviews its indefinite reinvestment assertion on a quarterly basis and evaluates its plans for reinvestment. This includes a review 
of the Company’s ability to control repatriation, its ability to mobilize funds without triggering basis differences, and the 
profitability of U.S. operations, their cash requirements and the need, if any, to repatriate funds. If the Company’s intent and 
ability with respect to reinvestment of earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries changes, deferred U.S. income taxes, foreign income 
taxes, and foreign withholding taxes may have to be accrued. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company intends to 
indefinitely reinvest earnings and profits, and has not recorded a deferred tax liability.

The Company files a federal income tax return and various state income tax returns in the United States. However, ADK LLC 
will continue to file a partnership return as it has historically and ADK LLC tax returns for years 2012-2023 remain open to 
examination by the IRS, and tax years 2019-2023 remain open to California State Tax examination. 

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 
and 2022 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Income tax provision at U.S. statutory federal rate $ (30,683) $ (27,721) $ (11,286) 
State income tax provision, net of federal income tax effect 389 (1,216) (5) 
Foreign rate differential (1,571) (2,445) (250) 
Noncontrolling interest 2,965 4,858 1,844 
Change in valuation allowance 24,358 19,511 6,728 
Section 162(m) addback on executive compensation — 565 542 
GILTI inclusion, net 4,102 2,881 1,301 
Other (1,482) (967) 91

Provision for income taxes $ (1,922) $ (4,534) $ (1,035) 

The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and 
regulations for the jurisdictions in which it operates or does business in. A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be 
recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any 
related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits.

The Company records tax positions as liabilities and adjusts these liabilities when its judgement changes as a result of the 
evaluation of new information not previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate 
resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from the Company’s current estimate of the recognized tax 
benefit liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which new 
information is available. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has not recorded any uncertain tax positions in its financial 
statements.

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in provision of income taxes. As of 
December 31, 2024, no accrued interest or penalties are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, and the Company has not 
recorded any related expenses.

The Company files tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates and is subject to 
examinations by the various jurisdictions where applicable. There are currently no pending material tax examinations. The 
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Company’s tax years are still open under statute from 2020 to 2023 for Federal purposes and from 2019 to 2023 for California. 
Foreign tax statutes are generally three to five years. The company’s significant foreign taxing jurisdiction are Canada, 
Germany, and China. 

The Company is also party to a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”). Following the Transaction, ADK LLC unitholders’ 
exchange of ADK LLC units for indie Class A Common stock are expected to result in increases in the Company’s tax basis in 
its interest in ADK LLC. These increases in tax basis are expected to increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization 
deductions allocable to the Company, and therefore reduce the amount of tax that the Company would otherwise be required to 
pay in the future. As a result, the Company has entered into a TRA with certain members of ADK LLC prior to the Transaction. 
Under the TRA, the Company will be obligated to pay such parties or their permitted assignees 85% of the amount of cash tax 
savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, and local taxes that the Company realizes, or is deemed to realize as a result of future tax 
benefits from increases in tax basis. The TRA liability is accounted for as a contingent liability within accounts payable, 
accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets with amounts accrued when deemed probable and 
estimable.

19) Leases

The Company’s lease arrangements consist primarily of corporate and manufacturing facility agreements. The leases expire at 
various dates through 2033, some of which include options to extend the lease term. The options with the longest potential total 
lease term consist of options for extension of up to five years following expiration of the original lease term. All of the leases 
are operating leases. The Company is headquartered in Aliso Viejo, California and has various research and design centers, 
sales support offices, and manufacturing facilities throughout the world. The key lease terms for the principal locations are 
summarized below:

The Company holds a six-year operating lease for its 18,000 square foot headquarters in Aliso Viejo, California, which is 
payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. The lease requires a security deposit of $30, which is 
recorded in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. In November 2022 This lease was extended through the 
end of October 2028. Rent expense is approximately $42 per month.

In October 2021, the Company entered into a five-year operating lease for its design center in Austin, Texas. Rent for the 
associated office is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term, which expires in June 2027. Rent 
expense is approximately $14 per month.

In May 2021, the Company entered into a seven-year operating lease for a location in Detroit, Michigan, which is payable 
monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. The lease will expire in 2028 with an initial monthly rent of 
approximately $24 per month.

In April 2023, the Company entered into a one-year operating lease for an office in San Jose, California in connection with the 
acquisition of GEO. Rent for the associated office is payable monthly over the lease term, which expires in June 2024. This 
lease was extended through September 1, 2024 and subsequently terminated. Rent expense was approximately $69 per month.

In March 2024, the Company entered into a six-year operating lease for an office in San Jose, California. Rent for the 
associated office is payable monthly over the lease term, which expires in April 2030. The lease requires a security deposit of 
$210. Rent expense is approximately $91 per month.

The Company holds a five-year operating lease for its Scotland Design Center in Edinburgh, Scotland, which is payable 
monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term. In April 2024 this lease was extended through the end of June 2029. 
Rent expense is approximately $17 per month.

The Company holds an operating lease for its location in Haifa, Israel. In February 2024 this lease was renewed for three-years 
through the end of January 2027. Rent expense is approximately $14 per month. 

In August 2023, the Company entered into a ten-year operating lease for an office in Ontario, Canada in connection with the 
acquisition of GEO. Rent for the associated office is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the lease term, which 
expires in February 2033. Rent expense is approximately $11 per month.
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In October 2021, the Company acquired TeraXion and assumed its existing operating lease for an office building and a 
warehouse in Quebec City, Canada. Rent for the associated office is payable at approximately $53 per month. The lease will 
expire on May 31, 2032. 

In September 2023, the Company entered into a five-year operating lease for an office in Schlieren, Switzerland in connection 
with the acquisition of Exalos AG. Rent for the associated office is payable monthly with periodic rent adjustments over the 
lease term, which expires in February 2028. Rent expense is approximately $14 per month.

In November 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease in Shanghai, China. Rent expense is approximately $14 per 
month. This lease will expire on January 15, 2026.

In November 2022, the Company entered into a three-year operating lease in Suzhou, China. Rent expense is approximately $6 
per month.

The total monthly rent for the remaining locations of the Company around the world is not material.

The Company recorded $882 of impairment charges related to certain right-of-use assets for the year ended December 31, 2024 
as part of its restructuring initiative that commenced in August 2024 (see Note 4 - Restructuring costs). 

The table below represents lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Balance Sheet Classification
December 31, 

2024
December 31, 

2023
Assets

Operating lease right-of-use assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 16,107 $ 13,790 

Liabilities
Operating lease liabilities (current) Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 2,984 $ 2,653 
Operating lease liabilities (noncurrent) Operating lease liabilities 14,278 10,850 

Total lease liabilities $ 17,262 $ 13,503 

Lease Costs

The following lease costs were included in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023 and 2022:

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 4,237 $ 3,406 $ 2,496 
Short-term lease cost — 17 124 
Variable lease cost 473 179 174 

 Total lease cost $ 4,710 $ 3,602 $ 2,794 

Supplemental Information

The table below presents supplemental information related to operating leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 :

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)

105



Year ended December 31,
2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 3,888 $ 3,175 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 5,172 $ 3,240 
Weighted average remaining lease term — operating leases 5.37 years 6.06 years
Weighted average discount rate — operating leases  6.47 %  5.99 %

Undiscounted Cash Flows

The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the 
operating lease liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as December 31, 2024:

2025 $ 3,994 
2026 3,889 
2027 3,806 
2028 3,464 
2027 2,459 
Thereafter 2,821 
Total minimum lease payments 20,433 
Less imputed interest (3,171) 
Present value of future minimum lease payments 17,262 
Less current obligations under leases (2,984) 
Long-term lease obligations $ 14,278 

20) Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be a party to routine claims or litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of its 
business. These may include disputes and lawsuits related to intellectual property, mergers and acquisitions, licensing, contract 
law, tax, regulatory, distribution arrangements, employee relations and other matters. Periodically, the Company reviews the 
status of these matters and assesses its potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is 
considered probable and a range of possible losses can be estimated, the Company accrues a liability for the estimated loss. 
Legal proceedings are subject to uncertainties, and the outcomes are difficult to predict. Because of such uncertainties, accruals 
are based only on the best information available at the time. As additional information becomes available, the Company 
continues to reassess the potential liability related to pending claims and litigation and may revise estimates.

Royalty Agreement

The Company has entered into license agreements to use certain technology in its design and manufacture of its products. The 
agreements require royalty fees for each semiconductor sold using the licensed technology. Total royalty expense incurred in 
connection with these contracts during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $2,325, $3,808, and $1,305, 
respectively. These expenses are included in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations. Accrued royalties 
of $658 and $789 are included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Tax Distributions

To the extent the Company has funds legally available, the Board of Directors will approve distributions to each member of 
ADK LLC, prior to March 15 of each year, in an amount per unit that, when added to all other distributions made to such 
member with respect to the previous calendar year, equals the estimated federal and state income tax liabilities applicable to 
such member as the result of its, his or her ownership of the units and the associated net taxable income allocated with respect 
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to such units for the previous calendar year. There were no distributions approved by the Board of Directors or paid by the 
Company during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

21) Supplemental Financial Information

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2024 2023

Holdbacks and deferred payments for business combination 7,050 4,339 
Accrued taxes 3,113 1,672 
Operating lease liabilities, current 2,984 2,653 
Deferred revenue 2,735 2,473 
Issuance costs 2029 Convertible Debt 1,789 — 
Accrued interest 1,679 1,120 
Accrued royalties 658 789 
Other (1) 9,289 8,365 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 29,297 $ 21,411 

(1) Amount represents accruals for various operating expenses such as professional fees, open purchase orders and other
estimates that are expected to be paid within the next 12 months.

22. Geographical Information

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, net, which were based on the physical location of the assets as of the end of 
period presented:

December 31,
2024 2023

United States $ 13,640 $ 9,765 
Canada 3,657 4,752 
Germany 6,585 4,790 
China 6,882 4,437 
Israel 1,095 1,457 
Switzerland 1,826 1,041 
Rest of world 597 724 
Total $ 34,282 $ 26,966 

23. Segment Reporting

The Company designs, develops, manufactures and markets a broad range of integrated circuits (“ICs”). It operates and tracks 
its results in one reportable segment. indie’s Chief Executive Officer is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). The 
CODM utilizes financial information presented on a consolidated basis to assess performance and to make key operating 
decisions such as the determination of resource allocations. The CODM also utilizes the Company’s consolidated long-range 
plan, which includes product development roadmaps and long-range consolidated financial models, as a key input to resource 
allocation. The CODM also makes decisions on resource allocation, assesses performance of the business, and monitors budget 

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)
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versus actual results using consolidated operating income (loss) from operations. The CODM does not review any measures of 
financial results beyond what is presented in the accompanying statement of operations. 

Significant expenses within income (loss) from operations include cost of revenue, research and development, and selling, 
general and administrative expenses, which are each separately presented on the Company’s consolidated statement of 
operations. The Company’s long-lived assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, net and right-of-use assets.

24. Subsequent Events

For its consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and the year then ended, management reviewed and 
evaluated material subsequent events from the consolidated balance sheet date of December 31, 2024 through February 28, 
2025, the date the consolidated financial statements were issued.

INDIE SEMICONDUCTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(amounts in thousands,  except unit and share amounts and per unit and per share amounts)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2024 and based 
on this evaluation, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024.

Per Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), the term disclosure controls and procedures means controls and other procedures of an 
issuer that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits 
under the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78a et seq.) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. 

Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weaknesses

As previously disclosed under “Item 9a – Controls and Procedures” in our annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2023, material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting were identified. A material weakness is 
a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, 
continued to design and implement measures pursuant to management’s overall internal controls over financial reporting 
remediation plan and also completed testing of the design and operating effectiveness of all remediated controls. The 
remediation efforts to date included the following:

a. Control Environment: We trained and continue to retain  individuals who have appropriate skills and experience
related to designing operating, and documenting internal controls over financial reporting, coupled with the addition of
finance staff to improve the current segregation of roles and responsibilities;

b. Risk Assessment: We refined and enhanced our risk assessment process to define clear financial reporting objectives
and evaluate the related risks at a sufficient level of detail to identify all relevant risks of material misstatement across
the Company.

c. Information and Communication: We continued to migrate our financial reporting locations to the new ERP system.
The company-wide initiative continue to improve the relevance and reliability of our data to support the functioning of
internal controls, harmonize our information technology control environment, and mitigate internal control gaps and
limitations that cannot be addressed by the current systems;

d. Control Activities: We developed control activities that contribute to the mitigation of risks to support the
achievement of objectives to select and develop control activities to address each risk to acceptable levels; and

e. Monitoring Activities: We engaged third-party professionals to conduct a comprehensive review and perform
ongoing evaluations to ensure the components of internal control over financial reporting are present and functioning
in accordance with the 2013 COSO Framework.

Based on our evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls as of December 31, 2024, including newly 
remediated controls, we concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting framework was effectively 
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designed and operated effectively for a sufficient period of time to enable us to conclude that all previously identified material 
weaknesses have been remediated as of December 31, 2024.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term 
is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of the end of the most recent fiscal year, December 31, 2024, utilizing the criteria set forth by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") in the Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework (2013). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The Company’s independent public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, which audited the 2024 consolidated financial statements 
included in this Form 10-K, issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. KPMG 
LLP’s report appears on page 53 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the remediation of the identified material weakness, there were no changes in our internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure 
controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud due to inherent 
limitations of internal controls. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features 
of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, 
this risk.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On November 14, 2024, Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Chief Accounting 
Officer of the Company, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 
10b5-1(c) for the sale of up to 246,315 shares of Class A common stock until October 31, 2026. The number of shares that may 
be sold under this trading arrangement will be reduced by the number of shares (not yet determinable) sold to satisfy tax 
obligations upon the vesting and settlement of certain outstanding equity awards.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our principal financial officers, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, controller and other persons performing similar functions. The full text of our Code of Ethics is available on 
our website at investors.indiesemi.com under “Governance.” Our Code of Ethics is a “code of ethics” as defined in Item 406(b) 
of Regulation S-K. We will make any legally required disclosures regarding amendments to, or waivers of, provisions of our 
Code of Ethics on our website.

The information required by this Item will be included in our 2025 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be included in our 2025 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be included in our 2025 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will be included in our 2025 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will be included in our 2025 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC within 
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and is incorporated herein by this reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

1. All financial statements:

The following consolidated financial statements of indie Semiconductor, Inc. and subsidiaries are filed as part of this
report under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Form 10-K
Page No.

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 52
Consolidated Balance Sheets 55
Consolidated Statements of Operations 56
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 57
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Noncontrolling Interest 58
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 62

2. Financial Statements Schedules:

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts information is included in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements which are filed as part of this report under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

All other financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have 
been omitted.

3. Exhibits:

Exhibits required to be filed as part of this Report are:

2.1† Master Transactions Agreement, dated 
effective December 14, 2020, by and 
among Surviving Pubco, Thunder Bridge 
II, the Merger Subs named therein, indie, 
the ADK Blocker Group, ADK Service 
Provider Holdco, and the indie 
Securityholder Representative named 
therein, and also included as Annex 
B-1 to the proxy statement/prospectus.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 2.1 12/15/2020

2.2 Amendment to Master Transactions 
Agreement, dated effective May 3, 2021, 
by and among Surviving Pubco, Thunder 
Bridge II, the Merger Subs named therein, 
indie, the ADK Blocker Group, ADK 
Service Provider Holdco, and the indie 
Securityholder Representative named 
therein (included as Annex B-2 to the 
proxy statement/prospectus). Form S-4/A 333-25374 2.2 5/4/2021

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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2.3† Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of 
August 27, 2021, by and among indie, 
TeraXion, Purchaser and certain 
stockholders of TeraXion and their 
ultimate beneficial owners. 8-K 001-40481 2.1 9/2/2021

2.4† Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as 
of February 9, 2023, by and among indie, 
GEO, Merger Sub and Shareholder 
Representative Services LLC , as 
Securityholders’ Agent 8-K 001-40481 2.1 2/10/2023

2.5† Share Sale and Purchase Agreement, 
dated as of September 18, 2023, by and 
among indie, indie UK. and the 
Securityholders. 8-K 001-40481 2.1 9/18/2023

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of indie Semiconductor, 
Inc., filed with the Secretary of State of 
Delaware on June 22, 2023. 8-K 001-40481 3.1 6/23/2023

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of indie 
Semiconductor, Inc. 8-K 001-40481 3.2 6/16/2021

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. 8-K 001-40481 4.1 6/16/2021
4.5 Description of indie Semiconductor, Inc. 

Capital Stock 10-K 001-40481 4.5 3/28/2023
4.6 Indenture, dated as of November 21, 

2022, between indie Semiconductor, Inc. 
and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee. 8-K 001-40481 4.1 11/21/2022

4.7 Form of 4.500% Convertible Senior 
Notes due 2027 (included as Exhibit A in 
Exhibit 4.6). 8-K 001-40481 4.2 11/21/2022

4.8 Indenture, dated as of December 6, 2024, 
between indie Semiconductor, Inc. and 
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee. 8-K 001-40481 4.1 12/6/2024

4.9 Form of 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes 
due 2029 (included as Exhibit A in 
Exhibit 4.8). 8-K 001-40481 4.2 12/6/2024

10.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Limited 
Liability Company Agreement of indie 
LLC. 8-K 001-40481 10.1 6/16/2021

10.2 Subscription Agreement for the PIPE 
Investment.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 10.1 12/15/2020

10.3+ indie Semiconductor, Inc. Amended and 
Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-40481 10.2 11/14/2022

10.4+ indie Semiconductor, Inc. 2023 
Inducement Incentive Plan 10-K 001-40481 10.4 3/28/2023

10.5+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Unit Award (2023 
Inducement Incentive Plan) 10-K 001-40481 10.5 3/28/2023

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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10.6+ Form of Notice of Performance Stock 
Unit Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Performance Stock Unit Award 10-K 001-40481 10.6 3/28/2023

10.7+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Unit Award S-8 333-258907 4.4 8/18/2021

10.8+ Form of Notice of Restricted Stock 
Award and Terms and Conditions of 
Restricted Stock Award S-8 333-258907 4.5 8/18/2021

10.9+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant 
and Terms and Conditions of Stock 
Option S-8 333-258907 4.6 8/18/2021

10.10+ Form of Indemnification Agreement 
between registrant and certain officers 
and directors of registrant. 8-K 001-40481 10.4 6/16/2021

10.11 Exchange Agreement, dated June 10, 
2021, between registrant and certain indie 
Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.5 6/16/2021

10.12 Tax Receivable Agreement, dated June 
10, 2021, between registrant and certain 
indie Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.6 6/16/2021

10.13 Registration Rights Agreement, dated 
June 10, 2021, between registrant and 
certain indie Equity Holders. 8-K 001-40481 10.7 6/16/2021

10.14 Registration Rights Agreement, dated 
August 8, 2019, between Thunder Bridge 
II, Sponsor and the holders party thereto.

S-1/A filed
by Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 333-232688 10.4 7/29/2019

10.15 Sponsor Letter Agreement by and among 
Thunder Bridge II, Sponsor and indie, 
dated December 14, 2020.

8-K filed by
Thunder
Bridge
Acquisition
II, Ltd 001-39022 10.6 12/15/2020

10.16 Form of Option Settlement Agreement by 
and among indie, TeraXion, Purchaser 
and certain holders of options to purchase 
TeraXion capital stock 8-K 001-40481 2.2 9/2/2021

10.17 Sales Agreement, by and among the 
Registrant and B. Riley Securities, Inc., 
Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and 
Roth Capital Partners, LLC dated August 
6, 2022 S-3 333-267120 1.2 8/26/2022

10.18+ Form of Employment Agreement 8-K 001-40481 10.1 12/23/2022
10.19 Registration Rights and Lock-Up 

Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2023, by 
and among indie, GEO, and the 
Securityholders’ Agent. 8-K 001-40481 10.1 3/3/2023

10.20 Form of Confirmation of Capped Call 
Transaction. 8-K 001-40481 10.1 12/6/2024

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date
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19.1 indie Semiconductor, Inc. Statement of 
Company Policy Regarding Insider 
Trading and Unauthorized Disclosures X

21 List of Subsidiaries of the Company X
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP X
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature 

page hereto)
X

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

X

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 X

32 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 X

97 Incentive Compensation Recoupment 
Policy 10-K 001-40481 97 3/20/2024

101 Inline XBRL Interactive Data Files 
formatted in Inline XBRL Pursuant to 
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023; (ii) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023 and 2022; (iii) Consolidated 
Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss 
for the years ended December 31, 2024, 
2023 and 2022; (iv) Consolidated 
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 
and 2022; (v) Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows for the years ended December 
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022; and (vi) Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements. X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File 
(formatted as Inline XBRL and contained 
in Exhibit 101) X

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
No. Description

Filed 
Herewith Form SEC File No.

Exhibit 
No. Filing Date

____________

+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan.
†  Schedules to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Registration S-K. The Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a 

copy of any omitted schedules to the Commission upon request.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized on February 28, 2025.

indie Semiconductor, Inc.

By: /s/ Donald McClymont
Name: Donald McClymont
Title: Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 
appoints Donald McClymont and Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal, jointly and severally, his/her attorneys-in-fact, each with the 
power of substitution, for him/her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and 
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or 
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Donald McClymont Chief Executive Officer and Director February 28, 2025
Donald McClymont (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal
Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President & Chief 
Accounting Officer February 28, 2025

Kanwardev Raja Singh Bal (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ichiro Aoki President and Director February 28, 2025
Ichiro Aoki

/s/ David Aldrich Chairman of the Board of Directors February 28, 2025
David Aldrich

/s/ Diane Biagianti Director February 28, 2025
Diane Biagianti

/s/ Diane Brink Director February 28, 2025
Diane Brink

/s/ Karl-Thomas Neumann Director February 28, 2025
Karl-Thomas Neumann

/s/ Jeffrey Owens Director February 28, 2025
Jeffrey Owens

/s/ Sonalee Parekh Director February 28, 2025
Sonalee Parekh
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Board of Directors

David Aldrich
Chairman of the Board

Donald McClymont
Chief Executive Officer, indie Semiconductor, Inc.

Dr. Ichiro Aoki
President, indie Semiconductor, Inc.

Diane Biagianti
Senior Vice President, Governance, Glaukos Corporation

Diane Brink
Independent Director, Belden

Dr. Karl-Thomas Neumann
CEO and Founder, KTN Investment and Consulting

Jeffrey Owens
Retired Executive Vice President and CTO, Delphi Automotive PLC

Sonalee Parekh
Chief Financial Officer, Asana, Inc.

Senior Management

Donald McClymont
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Ichiro Aoki
President

Robert Bloomquist
Executive Vice President, Global Sales

Mathieu Drolet
Executive Vice President, Photonics BU

Dr. Peter Gulden
Executive Vice President, Radar Systems and Software

Fred Jarrar
Vice President and General Manager, Power and ASIC BU

Dr. Scott Kee
Chief Technology Officer

Mark Tyndall
Executive Vice President, Corporate Development and  
Investor Relations

Michael Wittmann
Chief Operating Officer

Audrey Wong
Chief Legal Officer

 

Transfer Agent and Register
Continental Stock Transfer and Trust Company 

1 State Street, 30th Floor 
New York, NY 10004-1561 
(212) 509-4000 
www.continentalstock.com 

Our transfer agent can help you with a variety of stockholder-re-
lated services including change of address, lost stock certificates, 
stock transfers, account status and other administrative matters.  

Investor Relations

You can contact indie’s Investor Relations team directly to order an 
Investor’s Kit or to ask investment-oriented questions about indie 
Semiconductor at: 

indie
32 Journey
Aliso Viejo, CA, 92656 
(949) 418-8637
ir@indiesemi.com

You can also view this annual report along with other financial-re-
lated information and other public filings with the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission at: www.indie.inc. 

Independent Registered Public Accountants

KPMG LLP

Executive Offices

indie
32 Journey
Aliso Viejo, CA, 92656 
(949) 608-0854

Common Stock

indie common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select  
Market® under the symbol INDI.

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held virtually on  
June 4, 2025, at 8:00 a.m. Pacific time.

www.indie.inc
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